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Unless the context otherwise requires, refererméset“Company,” “Netlist,” “we,” “us” or “our” reér
to Netlist, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

The registered trademarks of Netlist, Inc. andifssidiaries include: HyperCloud® and
NVvault™. Other trademarks used in this Reportthesproperty of their respective owners.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes “forwatlboking statements” within the meaning of the Ptéva

Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Thesavéod -looking statements relate to expectations concgrnin

matters that are not historical facts, and are gafig identified by words such as “believe”, “expéc
“anticipate”, “estimate”, “intend”, “strategy”, “ma y”, “will likely” and similar words or phrases. A

forward -looking statement is neither a prediction nor a gudee of future events or circumstances, and our
actual results could differ materially and advegstbm those expressed in any forwatdoking

statement. These forwardboking statements are all based on currently aldé market, operating, financial

and competitive information and assumptions andsaigect to various risks and uncertainties that difficult to
predict. Important information regarding factofsat could cause actual results to differ materidttym such
expectations is disclosed in this Report, includimghout limitation, information under the captiérRisk
Factors”. These risks and uncertainties include, but ao limited to risks associated with the launch and
commercial success of our products, programs addn@logies; the success of product partnershipatinaing
development, qualification and volume productiofgperVault™, EXPRESSvault™, NVvault™, HyperCldud
and VLP Planar-X RDIMM; the timing and magnitudela# continued decrease in sales to our key custaue
ability to leverage our NVvault™ and EXPRESSvaule®hnology in a more diverse customer base; oud nee
raise additional capital and our ability to obtafimancing; the rapidly-changing nature of technojpgsks
associated with intellectual property, includingt@at infringement litigation against us as wellthe costs and
unpredictability of litigation over infringement ofir intellectual property and the possibility afratents being
reexamined or reviewed by the United States PatedifTrademark Office (“USPTO”) or the Patent Treahd
Appeal Board (“PTAB"); volatility in the pricing obDRAM ICs and NAND; changes in and uncertainty of
customer acceptance of, and demand for, our egigtinducts and products under development, incudin
uncertainty of and/or delays in product orders gmdduct qualifications; delays in our and our cusiers’
product releases and development; introductionsesd products by competitors; changes in end-useraae for
technology solutions; our ability to attract andain skilled personnel; our reliance on suppliefsatical
components and vendors in the supply chain; fldina in the market price of critical componentgpkring
industry standards; and the political and regulat@nvironment in the People’s Republic of China

(“PRC"). Given these risks, uncertainties and atimaportant factors, you should not place unduéarete on
these forward-looking statements. These forwardit@pstatements represent our estimates and asgamapinly
as of the date made. Except as required by lanwdaveot undertake any obligation to revise or updatg

forward -looking statements for any reason.

PART |
Item 1. Business

Overview

We design, manufacture and sell a wide varietyigti performance, logiebased memory subsystems

for the global datacenter, storage and highrformance computing markets. Our memory subsystemsist of
combinations of dynamic random access memory iatedrcircuits (‘DRAM ICs” or “DRAM”), NAND flash
memory (“NAND”), application-specific integrated circuits (“ASICs”) and othemggonents assembled on
printed circuit boards (“PCBs"). We primarily matkand sell our products to leading original equiptme
manufacturer (“OEM”) customers, hyperscale datssremperators and storage vendors. Our solutiontegeted
at applications where memory plays a key role ieting system performance requirements. We levesage
portfolio of proprietary technologies and desigcht@ques, including combining discrete semiconducto
technologies from third parties such as DRAM and\\DAflash to function as one, efficient planar designd
alternative packaging techniques to deliver mensolysystems with persistence, high density, smat factor,
high signal integrity, attractive thermal charaistiies, reduced power consumption and low cosbfie©ur
NVvault™ product is the first to offer both DRAM @™NAND in a standard form factor memory subsystem a
persistent duatin line memory module (“DIMM”) in mission criticapplications. Our HyperCloud technology

incorporates our patented rank multiplication avatblireduction technologies. We also have pendidg an
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issued patents covering fundamental aspects ofchgigmory DIMM designs that incorporate combinasiafi
DRAM and/or NAND flash, such as our NVvault™ protugVe are focused on monetizing our patent paafol
through our products business and, where appreptlabugh licensing arrangements with third partieat wish
to incorporate our patented technologies in theidpcts.

We were incorporated in Delaware in June 2000 anthtenced operations in September 2000. Our
principal executive offices are located at 175 hetbgy Drive, Suite 150, Irvine, California 926 18dsour
telephone number at that address is (949) 435-@abwebsite address is http://www.netlist.com. The
information contained on our website is not incogbed by reference into, and does not form anygfathis
Annual Report on Form 10-K. We have included oubsite address as a factual reference and do rmwtdirit to
be an active link to our website.

Intellectual Property and Licensing

Our high performance memory subsystems are dewtiogeart using our proprietary intellectual
property, and we believe that the strength of ptellectual property rights will be important teetbuccess of our
business. We utilize patent and trade secret gioteconfidentiality agreements with customers padners,
disclosure and invention assignment agreementseniiloyees and consultants and other contractaaigions
to protect our intellectual property and other piegary information. We plan to license specifiastom designs
to our customers, charging royalties at a fixed @mh@er product or a percentage of sales. Morergyewe
intend to vigorously defend and monetize our ietlhial property through licensing arrangements wheye
necessary, enforcement actions against thoseesntising our patented solutions in their produRtsalties
resulting from these patent monetization efforts lsa structured in a variety of ways, including bat limited to
one-time paid up licenses or on-going royalty ageaments. We expect to generate a portion of owmaas with
these types of licensing arrangements.

As of December 27, 2014 , we had 54 U.S. anddgoneatents issued and 3 3 U.S. and foreign patent
applications pending. Assuming that they are pigpeaintained, our patents will expire at varioages between
2022 and 2029 . Our issued patents and patentafiphis relate to the use of custom logic in higlfgrmance
memory subsystems, PCB design, layout and packagimgpiques. We intend to actively pursue thedilirf
additional patent applications related to our tedbgy advancements. While we believe that our gated other
intellectual property rights are important to oucsess, our technical expertise and ability tauhiice new
products in a timely manner also will continue ®ilmportant factors in developing and maintaining o
competitive position. Accordingly, we believe tloatr business is not materially dependent upon aeyctaim in
any of our existing patents or pending patent apfibns.

Litigation & Patent Reexamination

We own numerous patents and continue to enlargstamagthen our patent portfolios which cover
different aspects of our technology innovationwigrious claim scopes. We plan to generate revenselling
or licensing our technology, and intend to vigotg@nforce our patent rights against infringers. Wéeicate
substantial resources in protecting our intelldgbwaperty, including efforts to defend our pateagminst
challenges made by way of reexamination and repi@eeedings at the USPTO and PTAB. These acti\dties
likely to continue for the foreseeable future, wihany guarantee that any ongoing or future patenéection and
litigation activities will be successful. We als@ &ubject to litigation claims that we have indiéa on the
intellectual property of others, against which weend to defend vigorously.

Our Products
NVvault™ Family

We were the first to develop and market memory pstesns that incorporate both DRAM and NAND in
a single NVvault™ persistent DIMM solution. NVvaltwas originally used for mission critical backupsging
power interruption in Redundant Array of IndepertdRisks (“RAID”) and main memory. NVvault™ has male
beyond its original application to a variety of @ttapplications, including hyperscale computingdioud, big
data, on-line banking and other real time applicetiwvhere NVvault™ is also used as a data acceiek&fe are
working to further
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enhance the capabilities of our NVvault™ technologthese new applications, and we are also sed&irgpand
our customer base through the integration of NW#Lihto leading storage motherboards. NVvault™ is
incorporated in our EXPRESSvault™ PCle solutiontfoth acceleration and backup in storage applicatid@ur
NVvault™ product line consists primarily of battefrge and battery-powered flash backed cache memory
subsystems targeting RAID storage, applicationlacaton and mission critical data integrity. NVta¥ battery-
free provides server and storage OEMs a solutiperibanced datacenter fault recovery. Our NVvayitBtucts
have historically been sold primarily to Dell, facorporation in its PERC 7 server products. Foilapintel’s
launch of its Romley platform in the first quartér2012, we experienced a steady decline in NVV¥dales to
Dell. There were no sales of NVvault™ products &l h the year ended December 27, 2014 and sades $5.5
million in year ended December 28, 2013. We expeduture demand from Dell for our DDR2 NVvault™/e
continue to pursue qualifications with other potargignificant customers within the industry and are
currently working to remedy our ongoing supply chdisruptions, however, our efforts to expand our
gualifications and manage our supply chain mayestlt in significant revenues from the sale of Idul¢™
family products.

For the years ended December 27, 2014 and Decet@p2013, our NVvault™ non-volatile RDIMM
used in cache-protection and data logging apptinatiincluding our NVvault™ battery-free, the flasdsed
cache system, accounted for approximately 44% 8f6l & total net sales, respectively.

HyperCloude

Our HyperClouds technology incorporates our patented rank muligion technology, which increases
memory capacity and our patented load reductidmigogy, which increases memory bandwidth. We eixibet
these patented technologies will make possibledngat levels of performance for memory intensiveadanter
applications and workloads, including enterpriséualization, cloud computing infrastructure, besia
intelligence real- time data analytics, and higtfgrenance computing

Specialty Memory Modules and Flash-Based Products

The remainder of our revenues are primarily fronM>#ales of specialty memory modules and flash-
based products, the majority of which are utilimedata center and industrial applications. Wherettging
custom modules for an equipment product launchemgage with our OEM customers from the earliegfestanf
new product definition, providing us unique insigito their full range of system architecture aedfprmance
requirements. This close collaboration has alsweltl us to develop a significant level of systempedise. We
leverage a portfolio of proprietary technologied @esign techniques, including efficient planarigies
alternative packaging techniques and custom semigiar logic, to deliver memory subsystems witthhsgeed,
capacity and signal integrity, small form factdtractive thermal characteristics and low costlperRevenues
from our specialty modules and flash-based prodargsubject to fluctuation as a result of thedifeles of the
products into which our modules are incorporataat. &ility to continue to generate revenues froecggty
memory modules and flash-based products is dependesur ability to qualify our products on newtfdams as
current platforms reach the end of their lifecyckesd on the state of the global economy.

Technology

We have a portfolio of proprietary technologies dedign techniques and have assembled an engigeerin
team with expertise in semiconductors, printeduiirfcoards, memory subsystem and system design. Our
technology competencies include:

IC Design ExpertiseWe have designed special algorithms that can péeimented in stand-alone
integrated circuits or integrated into other fuandl blocks in ASICs. We utilize these algorithmshie
HyperCloude chipset to incorporate rank multiplication and lsaduction functionality. We also incorporate
these algorithms in our NVvault™ product line of RIMS.

NVvault™. We were the first to develop and market memonggsiems that incorporate both DRAM
and NAND flash in a single NVvault™ persistent DIMdIution. NVvault™ combines the best attributes of
DRAM,
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including speed, durability and reliability withghi densities, lower power and lowest costs provigeNAND.
This combination enables us to provide applicatioceleration and mission critical backup during gow
interruption for cloud infrastructure, virtualizati, analytics and database applications. NVvault iMdorporated
in our EXPRESSvault™ PCle solution for both acaien and backup in storage applications.

Proprietary PCB Designs. We utilize advanced techniques to optimizetedmic signal strength and
integrity within a PCB. These techniques include tise of 8-layer or 10-layer boards, matching cotie trace
lengths, a minimized number of conductive connector vias, and precise load balancing to, amohgrot
benefits, help reduce noise and crosstalk betwdgcent traces. In addition, our proprietary desifym the
precise placement of intra-substrate componerdwalk to assemble memory subsystems with signtfican
smaller physical size, enabling OEMs to develompobs with smaller footprints for their customers.

Very Low Profile DesignsWe were the first company to create memory subsystn a form factor of
less than one inch in height. We believe our petpry board design technology is particularly ukiefthe blade
server market, where efficient use of motherbogets is critical. Our technology has allowed uddorease the
system board space required for memory, and impioerenal performance and operating speeds, by iegadr
customers to use alternative methods of compoagoti.

Thermal Management Designs.We design our memory subsystems to ensuretigffdreat dissipation.
We use thermal cameras to obtain thermal profiléseomemory subsystem during the design phaseyialty us
to rearrange components to enhance thermal chasticteand, if necessary, replace componentsihaiot meet
specifications. We also develop and use proprigiaat spreaders to enhance the thermal management
characteristics of our memory subsystems.

Customers

During our 2014 fiscal year we primarily marketed aold our products to leading OEMs in the server,
storage and communications markets. Consistentthdtitoncentrated nature of the OEM customer baeari
target markets, a small number of large customave historically accounted for a significant pantiof our net
sales. Net sales to our three largest customett,IBM and Nimble Storage, Inc., represented appnately
20%, 14% and 19% of our net sales in 2014, respyti Dell and IBM represented approximately 458d 45%
of our net sales in 2013, respectively. Net salesome of our OEM customers include memory modihiasare
qualified by us directly with the OEM customer awdd to electronic manufacturing services providded1Ss”),
for incorporation into products manufactured exielely for the OEM customer or, in some instancedatilitate
credit and logistics. These net sales to EMSs haterically fluctuated period to period as a jortof the total
net sales to the OEM customers. Net sales to HorPkecision Industry Co. Ltd., an EMS operatingemthe
trade name of Foxconn that purchases memory moftolasus for incorporation into products manufaetir
exclusively for Dell, represented approximately 7a86l 74% of net sales to Dell for 2014 and 2013,
respectively. Net sales to Kingston TechnologyE&85 manufacturer for IBM, represented approxinyaté€l%
and 29% of net sales to IBM for 2014 and 2013,eetypely. For further information regarding ouresato our
OEM customer base, please refer to Note 10 of Not€onsolidated Financial Statements includedairt R/,
Item 15 of this Report.

We expect that our key customers or other large ®BM no longer continue to account for a
substantial portion of our net sales in 201 4 anithé foreseeable future. The composition of mejstomers and
their respective contributions to our net salesshaaried and will likely continue to vary from pedito period as
our OEMs progress through the life cycle of thedoiais they produce and sell. For example, we have
experienced a significant decline in sales offMrault™ sales to Dell following its launch of sers
incorporating Intel’'s Romley platform. We expduat after product in the supply chain is consursatgs of
NVvault™ products for incorporation into PERC 7\&&s will be minimal. This reduction in sales igpected to
continue to have a significant impact on our rexeand gross profit.

Our sales are made primarily pursuant to standarchpse orders that may be rescheduled on relativel
short notice. Customers are generally allowed &thiights of return for up to 30 days, except fdes of excess
inventories, which contain no right-of-return plages. Estimated returns are provided for at the bf sale based
on historical
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experience or specific identification of an eveatessitating a reserve. While these returns hatertwally been
within our expectations and the provisions esthblis we cannot guarantee that we will continuecpeegence
similar return rates in the future. Any significamtrease in product failure rates and the resyjioduct returns
could have a material adverse effect on our opegatisults for the period or periods in which stetlarns
materialize.

We offer warranties on our memory subsystems génesmging from one to three years, depending on
the product and negotiated terms of purchase agmtsrwith our customers. Such warranties requirte uspair
or replace defective product returned to us dusimgh warranty period at no cost to the customer.edtimates
for warranty related costs are recorded at the tifreale based on historical and estimated futtodyct return
rates and expected repair or replacement costde\dlich costs have historically been within ourestations and
the provisions established, unexpected changeslimd rates could have a material adverse impaciso
requiring additional warranty reserves, and adgsiecting our gross profit and gross margins.

Sales and Marketing

We market and sell our products through a dirdessarce and a network of independent sales
representatives. Our sales activities focus prigari developing strong relationships at the tecalhimarketing
and executive management levels within market-fepa@EMs.

We utilize well-trained, highly technical progranamagement teams to successfully drive new product
development and quickly respond to our customeeis and expectations. Our program management teams
provide quick response times and act as a singte-pécontact for routine issues during the sglescess.
Additionally, they address the long-term business @chnology goals of our customers. We empl@aaat
approach to business development whereby our &&esand independent representatives identifyjfyuaid
prioritize customer prospects through offices muanber of locations worldwide.

For additional information regarding our net sdfesn external customers by geographic area, refer t
Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statémencluded in Part IV, Item 15 of this Report.

Manufacturing

We manufacture substantially all of our productsuatfacility in Suzhou in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") . Our advanced engineering arsigiecapabilities, combined with our in-house mantifring
processes, allow us to assemble our memory subsysediably and in high volume. Our advanced, aqusted

manufacturing facilities are capable of surface m@ssembly, subsystem testing, systéevel burn-in testing,

programming, marking, labeling and packaging. Athestage of the production cycle, including product
prototyping, qualification sample production angtvolume manufacturing and delivery, we focus mvaling
our customers with rapid response and short matwrfag turn-around times. Manufacturing cycle tinfi@sour
products are typically one week or less, and inesoases as few as two days, from receipt of order.

We acquire components and materials such as ABIRAM ICs and NAND directly from integrated
circuit manufacturers and assemble them into fedstubsystems. We believe that one of our keygttnens the
efficient procurement and management of comporfentsur subsystems, which benefits our custometisén
form of lower costs and increased product avaitgbMe have a limited number of suppliers, inchgliArrow
Electronics which comprised more than 10% of otaltpurchases in 2014 and SK Hynix Semiconductoefca
(“SK Hynix”) and Samsung Semiconductor, Inc. (“Samg’) each of which comprised more than 10% of our
total purchases in 2013. For further informatiogareling our supplier concentrations, refer to Nidieof Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Rartem 15 of this Report. We have developedrsyr
supplier relationships with these and other key DRIE and NAND manufacturers, which we believe giuas
direct and ready access to the critical comportbiatsve need for our production activities. We tglly qualify
our products with our customers using multiple nfacturers of DRAM ICs and NAND. The flexibility tthoose
from several DRAM IC and NAND providers allows wsnhinimize product cost and maximize product
availability. We schedule production based on pasehorder commitments and anticipated orders. Wase raw
materials to the manufacturing floor by means oba#ine shop floor control system, which allows ficternal
quality analysis, direct access to inventory infation and
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production floor material tracking. We have a fldgi manufacturing workforce which allows us to ngma
unforecasted demand. In addition, in order to ratégnventory risks, we have the capability to egtiess
guantities of certain component inventories of DRAB4 and NAND to distributors and other users ofiragy
integrated circuits.

Our quality assurance engineers work with our seppto ensure that the raw materials we receivet me
our high quality standards. These engineers aldorpe onsite supplier factory audits and use oterimal test and
inspection systems to verify that purchased compisrend materials meet our specifications. Our lgpguality
program and incoming material quality control paograre important aspects of our overall manufaoguri
process.

We perform ongoing reliability testing on our memesubsystems and share the results of that testing
with our customers. We believe that this improvesdystem design process and allows for the eltiomaf
potential problems at the earliest possible stagaddition, we have implemented procedures whécjuire that
all of our memory subsystems undergo functionalgretem burn - in testing prior to delivery to thestomer.
We complement our test capabilities with advanceabing technology to inspect the quality of oureasslies.

We are certified in ISO 9001:200 8 Quality Managetfgystems and ISO 14001:2004 Environmental
Management Standards .

Competition

Our products are primarily targeted for the serkiggh performance computing and communications
markets. These markets are intensely competitssapanerous companies vie for business opporturitias
limited number of large OEMs. We face competitimm DRAM suppliers, including SK Hynix, Samsungdan
Micron for many of our products, including NVvaaind HyperCloud . Our primary competitors for thst &
our product lines are mainly memory module prowédarch as STEC, SMART Modular Technologies, Inc.,
AgigA Tech, SanDisk, and Viking Interworks, a division of Sanmina-SClr@aration. We also face potential
direct or indirect competition from logic suppliessch as Inphi, IDT, Montage, Diablo Technologied @exas
Instruments. As we enter new markets and pursuié@da applications for our products, we may face
competition from a larger number of competitord r@duce solutions utilizing similar or competing
technologies.

Certain of our competitors have substantially grefihancial, technical, marketing, distributiordasther
resources, broader product lines, lower cost sirast greater brand recognition and longer standilagionships
with customers and suppliers. Some of our compstittay also have a greater ability to influenceustd/
standards than we do, as well as more extensieatpaodrtfolios.

Some of our customers and suppliers may have gtapyi products or technologies that are competitive
with our products, or could develop internal s@o$ or enter into strategic relationships withacquire, existing
high-density memory module providers. Any of thastons could reduce our customers’ demand for our
products. Some of our significant suppliers of mgmotegrated circuits may be able to manufactampetitive
products at lower costs by leveraging internakéficies, or could choose to reduce our supplyerhory
integrated circuits, adversely affecting our apitit manufacture our memory subsystems on a tilmadys, if at
all.

Our ability to compete in our current target maskeatd in future markets will depend in large parbar
ability to successfully develop, introduce and sellv and enhanced products on a timely and costtefé basis,
and to respond to changing market requirementsb&lieve that the principal competitive factorshe selection
of high performance memory subsystems by poteatisiomers are:

« understanding of OEM system and business requiresy

« timeliness of new vali-add product introduction:

« design characteristics and performar

« quality and reliability;
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« track record of volume deliver
« credibility with the customel
« fulfilment capability and flexibility; anc
e price.

We believe that we compete favorably with respet¢hése factors. However, our current and future
competitors could develop competing products tbatcccause a decline in sales or loss of marketaoce of
our products.

Research and Development

The market for high performance memory subsystemsiistantly changing and therefore continuous
development of new technology, processes and ptadlumvation is mandatory to be successful as ditga
supplier. We believe that the continued and tingelyelopment of new products and improvement oftiexjs
products are critical to maintaining our compeétposition. Our team of engineers focuses on dpirggacustom
semiconductor logic devices, hybrid memory, DRAMI &MAND flash products with innovative packaging
solutions, improved electrical signal integrity ghdrmal characteristics that enhances relialilitgr the life of
the system and achieves higher speeds and lowaer ponsumption. Also, our engineers incorporatéioua
new techniques and methodologies for testing asasetew processes for manufacturing our products.

Our engineering staff closely engages with ouraustrs and their engineering teams at early stages i
their system development. This collaboration all@ws engineers to understand the customer’s system
architecture, power budget, operating environmeah ss air flow and operating temperature and aeghamnical
constraints. Our engineers use this informatiopréwide guidance and solutions to implement optirmemory
subsystems to our customers. An important aspemtiofesearch and development effort is to undedstiae
challenges faced by our customers and providesffegttive solutions that satisfy their requiremeoyautilizing
our industry knowledge, proprietary technologied tecthnical expertise.

We use advanced design tools in development gprgucts that allow us to model behavior of a digna
trace on our memory modules as well as airflowtaedmal profiles of all components in the systeimeSe
design tools enable real-time simulation for signtdgrity and behavioral modeling of our desigesg the
Input/Output Buffer Information Specification (“IBI') and Simulation Program with Integrated Cirdaihphasis
(“SPICE”") models of our suppliers’ components. Thesnulation tools help us reduce or eliminate tededc
signal reflections, clock skews, signal jitter arxaise which can reduce system performance andiéjaThese
efforts allow our engineers to develop optimum ithersolutions for our customer base.

We believe that to remain competitive we must cargito focus on developing advanced memory
technologies. We have invested significant resauitéhe design of custom semiconductor logic de=vid@ hese
logic devices are integrated into our next-genenathemory subsystems in order to improve theirgoerénce.
Logic devices in our NVvault™ hybrid memory prodectable DRAM and flash memory to be efficiently
combined for the purposes of accelerating systafioqmeance and providing mission critical back upeT
development of these semiconductor devices armpartant part of our overall effort to maintaintenag
competitive position in our industry based on adeshmemory technologies.

Our customers typically do not separately compensatfor design and engineering work involved in
developing applicatiorspecific products for them. Our total expenditf@gesearch and development were
approximately $ 4.8 million and $ 4.5 million fo@24 and 2013, respectively.
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Employees

At December 27, 2014, we had approximately 114 eysas (including 79 regular employees and 35
temporary employees). Approximately 35 of the ragemployees were located in the U.S., and appitein44
were located in the PRC. We had 47 employees iratipas, 16 employees in research and developréent,
employees in sales and marketing, and 7 employeged in other administrative functions. We artepaoty to
any collective bargaining agreements with any afemaployees. We have never experienced a work aggp@and
we believe our employee relations are good.

General Information

We maintain a website atww.netlist.conthis uniform resource locator, or URL, is an imaetextual
reference only and is not intended to incorporatewebsite into this Form 10 - K). We file repontgh the
Securities and Exchange Commission ( “ SEC "), maéte available, free of charge, on or throughveelssite,
our annual reports on Form 10 - K, quarterly report Form 10 - Q, current reports on Form 8 - Kxprand
information statements and amendments to thosetssfiled or furnished pursuant to Section 13(alsfd) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended' (iixchange Act ), as soon as reasonably praioiécafter
we electronically file such material with, or fushiit to, the SEC. Our website also contains copfiesir
corporate governance policy, code of business arrahd ethics, insider trading policy and whistietér policy,
as well as copies of the charters for our auditrodtee, compensation committee and nominating angozate
governance committee.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

You should consider each of the following factasvall as the other information in this Report in
evaluating our business and our prospects. ThHesriescribed below are not the only ones we fadditidnal
risks we are not presently aware of or that we ently believe are immaterial may also impair ousingess
operations. If any of the events described beloreweoccur, our financial condition, our abilitp taccess
capital resources, our results of operations anayor future growth prospects could be materiallyl auversely
affected and the market price of our common stocikdcdecline. In assessing these risks, you shalaturefer to
the other information contained or incorporatedrieference in this Report, including our consolidafmancial
statements and related notes.

Risks related to our business

Our operating results have varied significantlytia past and will continue to fluctuate from
guarter-to —quarter or yearto —year in the future due to a variety of factors, gnahwhich are beyond our

control. Factors relating to our business that satribute to these quarterly and annual fluctuetimclude the
following factors, as well as other factors desedielsewhere in this prospectus supplement:

» adverse developments in litigation we are purstingnfringement of our intellectual property a
potential forfeiture of bonds relating to such depenents;

« disputes regarding intellectual property rights #relpossibility of ouU.S. patents bein
reexamined or reviewed by the USPTO and PTAB offangign patents being subjected to
invalidation proceedings with their respective auities;

« the costs and management attention diversion agedawith litigation and any appeals we n
pursue;

» general economic conditions, including the posisjbilf a prolonged period of limited econon
growth in the U.S. and Europe; disruptions to tteglit and financial markets in the U.S., Europe
elsewhere

- our inability to develop new or enhanced produlcét tichieve customer or market acceptance
timely manner, including our HyperClod memory miedwur NVvault™ and Hypervault family

of products and our flashbased memory products;
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our failure to maintain the qualification of ouoplucts with our current customers or to que
current and future products with our current orspextive customers in a timely manner or at

the timing of actual or anticipated introductiorissompeting products or technologies by us or
competitors, customers or supplie

our ability to procure an adequate supply of keygonents, particularly DRAM ICs and NANf
lash;

the loss of, or a significant reduction in salesat&iey custome
the cyclical nature of the industry in which we de;

a reduction in the demand for our high performameenory subsystems or the systems into w
they are incorporate:

our customer failure to pay us on a timely bas

costs, inefficiencies and supply risks associatitd @utsourcing portions of the design and
manufacture of integrated circui

our ability to absorb manufacturing overhead if mwenues decline or vary from our projectic
delays in fulfilling orders for our products orailfire to fulfill orders;

dependence on large suppliers who are also comyzesind whose manufacturing priorities may
support our production scheduli

changes in the prices of our products or in theé abhe materials that we use to build our prosy
including fluctuations in the market price of DRAKIs and NAND;

our ability to effectively operate our manufactagrifacility in the PRC

manufacturing inefficiencies associated with tlatstup of new manufacturing operations, new
products and initiation of volume production orrdjstion due to power outages, natural disasters or
other factors

our failure to produce products that meet the ¢yadiquirements of our custome

the loss of any of our key personr

changes in regulatory policies or accounting pples;

our ability to adequately manage or finance integnawth or growth through acquisitior

the effect of our investments and financing arramgts on our liquidity; an

the other factors described in t“Risk Factor” section and elsewhere in this prospe:
supplement

Due to the various factors mentioned above, anerstithe results of any prior quarterly or annual
periods should not be relied upon as an indicaifayur future operating performance. In one or nfatere
periods, our results of operations may fall belbes éxpectations of securities analysts and investiothat event,
the market price of our common stock would likecline. In addition, the market price of our comnstock
may fluctuate or decline regardless of our opegapierformance.

10
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We have historically incurred losses and may comnto incur losses.

Since the inception of our business in 2000, weslanly experienced one fiscal year (2006) with
profitable results. In order to regain profitalyilibr to achieve and sustain positive cash flowmfoperations in
the future, we must further reduce operating exgeasd/or increase our revenues and gross mafdihsugh
we have in the past engaged in a series of costtied actions, and believe that we could redugecatrent level
of expenses through elimination or reduction ddtsigic initiatives, such expense reductions aloag not make
us profitable or allow us to sustain profitabilityt is achieved. Our ability to achieve profitéityi will depend on
increased revenue growth from, among other thiogsability to monetize our intellectual properitycreased
demand for our memory subsystems and related prodfigcings, as well as our ability to expand inew and
emerging markets. We may not be successful in aicijghe necessary revenue growth or the expectieeinse
reductions. Moreover, we may be unable to sustash @r expected future expense reductions in subséq
periods. We may not achieve profitability or sustsuich profitability, if achieved, on a quarterlyamnual basis in
the future.

Any failure to achieve profitability could resuit increased capital requirements and pressureon ou
liquidity position. We believe our future capitalguirements will depend on many factors, including levels of
net sales, the timing and extent of expendituressiport sales, marketing, research and developaotinities,
the expansion of manufacturing capacity both doicedt and internationally and the continued market
acceptance of our products. Our capital requiresnemtild result in our having to, or otherwise cliwogs$o, seek
additional funding through public or private equitiferings or debt financings. Such funding may Imetavailable
on terms acceptable to us, or at all, either othvigiould result in our inability to meet certaincafr financial
obligations and other related commitments.

Our future capital needs are uncertain, and we maged to raise additional funds, which may not beadable
on acceptable terms or at all.

We believe our existing cash balances, borrowirailahility under our bank credit facility with Sion
Valley Bank (“SVB"), borrowing availability underun loan agreement with Fortress Credit OpportusitieP
(“Fortress”), an affiliate of Fortress InvestmenbGp LLC and successor to DBD Credit Funding LLE}, of
cash expected to be used in operations , will fecmnt to meet our anticipated cash needs foeast the next
12 months. However, we may need significant aduti@apital, which we may seek to raise throughgragn
other things, public and private equity offeringsl @ebt financings. Our future capital requiremevitsdepend
on many factors, including our levels of net satke,timing and extent of expenditures to suppesearch and
development activities and patent infringemengdition, the expansion of manufacturing capacity bot
domestically and internationally and the continoeatket acceptance of our products. Additional fumasy not
be available on terms acceptable to us, or aFatthermore, if we issue equity or convertible dedsturities to
raise additional funds, our existing stockholdees/rexperience dilution, and the new equity or delourities
may have rights, preferences, and privileges seaititose of our existing stockholders. If we inadditional
debt, it may increase our leverage relative toeaunings or to our equity capitalization. If adaguworking
capital is not available when needed, we may beired to significantly modify our business modetian
operations to reduce spending to a sustainablé keweuld cause us to be unable to execute osiness plan,
take advantage of future opportunities, or resgorzbmpetitive pressures or customer requireménisay also
cause us to delay, scale back or eliminate soraé of our research and development programs, cedace or
cease operations.

We do not currently intend to pay dividends on aemmon stock, and any return to investors is exjgecto
come, if at all, only from potential increases ihe price of our common stock.

At the present time, we intend to use availablel$uo finance our operations. Accordingly, while
payment of dividends rests within the discretiomof board of directors, no cash dividends on oumrmon
shares have been declared or paid by us and wenbauéention of paying any such dividends in theegeeable
future. Any return to investors is expected to cpiinat all, only from potential increases in thécp of our
common stock.

11
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We have incurred a material amount of indebtednésgund our operati ons, the terms of which requiteat we
pledge substantially all of our assets as secusihd that we agree to share certain patent monetmarevenues
that may accrue in the future. Our level of indedainess and the terms of such indebtedness, coulebesely
affect our operations and liquidity.

We have incurred debt secured by all of our ass&der our credit facilities and term loans with tFess
and SVB. Our credit facility with Fortress is semthiby a first-priority security interest in ourefiectual property
assets (other than certain patents and relatetsastating to the NVvault™ product line) and acat priority
security interest in substantially all of our otlssets. Our credit facility with SVB is securedabijrst priority
security interest in all of our assets other thaniotellectual property assets, to which SVB hageond priority
security interest. The credit facility with Fortsesontains customary representations, warrantiés an
indemnification provisions, as well as affirmatimed negative covenants that, among other thing$atesur
ability to:

« incur additional indebtedness or guarant
« incur liens;
« make investments, loans and acquisitic
« consolidate or merg
« sell or exclusively license assets, including etock of subsidiarie:
o alter our busines:
« engage in transactions with affiliates; ¢
« pay dividends or make distributior
The credit facilities also include events of defainicluding, among other things, payment defaults,
breaches of representations, warranties or covenegitain bankruptcy events, and certain matadegrse
changes. If we were to default under either criaditity and were unable to obtain a waiver forlsacdefault,
interest on the obligations would accrue at aneiased rate. In the case of a default, the lendetd accelerate
our obligations under the credit agreements anctceseetheir rights to foreclose on their secunitierests, which
would cause substantial harm to our business arsppcts.
Incurrence and maintenance of this debt could heaterial consequences, such as:
« requiring us to dedicate a portion of our cash ffoam operations and other capital resources to
service, thereby reducing our ability to fund waoikicapital, capital expenditures, and other cash
requirements

« increasing our vulnerability to adverse economid emdlustry conditions

« limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reaatig to, changes and opportunities in, our busined:
industry, which may place us at a competitive disatiage; an

« limiting our ability to incur additional debt on@ptable terms, if at a

Concurrently with the execution of the credit fagilvith Fortress, we entered into a Monetizatiaiter
Agreement (as amended, the “Letter Agreement”)clviprovides, among other things, that Drawbridgecip
Opportunities Fund LP (“Drawbridge”) may be entitk® share in certain monetization revenues thanag
derive in the future related to our patent portfoliWe amended the Letter Agreement on FebruargQ15.
Monetization revenues subject to this arrangenrettide revenues recognized during the seven yeardkthe
Letter Agreement

12
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from net amounts actually paid to us or our subsi€ls in connection with any assertion of, agregmento
assert, or license of, our patent portfolio, inahgdrevenues arising from litigation. Monetizati@venues subject
to the arrangement also include the value attrifdaten our patent portfolio in any sale of the Camypduring the
seven year term, subject to a maximum amount. Eieet Agreement also requires that we use comntigrcia
reasonable efforts to pursue opportunities to moaeiur patent portfolio during the term of theteetAgreement,
provided that we are under no obligation to pursuesuch opportunities that we do not deem to lmiirbest
interest in our reasonable business judgment. Nagtgnding the foregoing, there can be no assuthateve

will be successful in these efforts, and we mayeexpresources in pursuit of monetization revenasrhay not
result in any benefit to us. Moreover, the revestugring obligation will reduce the benefit we reegirom any
monetization transactions, which could adversdigcafour operating results and would reduce theustso
payable to our stockholders in the event of atsalesaction.

Our revenues and results of operations have beebssantially dependent on NVvault™ and we may be blea
to replace revenue lost from the rapid decline inqy generation NVvault™ sales to Dell.

For the fiscal years ended December 27, 2014 acdrDiger 28, 2013, our NVvault™ newolatile
RDIMM used in cacheprotection and data logging applications, including NVvault™ battery-free, the

flash-based cache system, accounted for approximatelyattd39% of total net sales, respectively. Follgwin

Intel's launch of its Romley platform in the firgtiarter of 2012, we have experienced a rapid dealin
NVvault™ sales to Dell, and we recognized no NVv&ukales to Dell in the fiscal year ended Decender
2014, as compared to $5.5 million in the year eridlecember 28, 2013. We expect no future demand Belh
for our DDR2 NVvault™. In order to leverage our NAlt™ technology and diversify our customer basd, ta
secure one or more new key customers other thdnvdetontinue to pursue additional qualificatiais
NVvault™ with other OEMs and to target customerlaggions such as online transaction processind. T®),

virtualization, big data analytics, high speed $&tion processing, high performance databasanasrdemory

database applications. We also introduced EXPRE8SYan March 2011, and we continue to pursue
qualification of next generation DDR3 NVvault™ withistomers. Our future operating results will depen our
ability to commercialize these NVvault™ productendions, as well as other products such as HypedCland

HyperVault and other highdensity and high-performance solutions. HyperVaudtill under development and

may require substantial additional investment. W mot be successful in expanding our qualificationin
marketing any new or enhanced products.

We are subject to risks relating to our focus onvedoping our HyperCloud and NVvault™ products anadk
of market diversification.

We have historically derived a substantial portibour net sales from sales of our high performance
memory subsystems for use in the server marketeXgect these memory subsystems to continue to attmua
portion of our net sales in the near term, althowghmay be unable to meet customer demand for gpet€loud
®or NVvault™ products in future periods if we exgerte disruptions in the supply of raw materials. Wkeve
that continued market acceptance of these produdsrivative products that incorporate our corenoey
subsystem technology for use in servers is critwalur success.

We have invested a significant portion of our resie@and development budget into the design of ASIC
and hybrid devices, including the HyperCldud menmsrigsystem, introduced in November 2009, as wallias
NVvault family of products. These designs and tradpcts they are incorporated into are subjeatd¢ceased
risks as compared to our legacy products. For el@amp

« Wwe are dependent on a limited number of suppl@rbéth the DRAM ICs and the ASIC devices
are essential to the functionality of the Hyper@®&memory subsystem, and we have experienced
supply chain disruptions and shortages of DRAM ftexh required to create our HyperCldud
NVvault and Planar X VLP products as a result ofibess issues that are specific to our supplie
the industry as a whol

- we may be unable to achieve new qualificationsustamer or market acceptance of the HyperC
®memory subsystem or other new products, or acliegh acceptance in a timely manr
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» the HyperClouc®memory subsystem or other new products may contaiently undiscovere
flaws, the correction of which would result in irased costs and time to market;

« we are required to demonstrate the quality andliity of the HyperClou® memory subsystem
other new products to our customers, and are redjtdr qualify these new products with our
customers, which requires a significant investnoditme and resources prior to the receipt of any
revenue from such custome

We experienced a longer qualification cycle thaticgrated with our HyperClou8i memory subsystems,
and as a result, we have not generated signifldgpérCloud® product revenues to date relative toimgstment
in the product. We entered into collaborative agrests with both IBM and HP pursuant to which these
OEMs qualified the 16GB and 32GB versions of Hypeo@® for use with their products. While we and eath
the OEMs committed financial and other resourcestd the collaboration, the efforts undertaken giich of
these collaborative agreements have not resultsigmificant product margins for us to date relatio our
investment in developing and marketing these prizdWge must secure an adequate supply of DRAMderaio
continue to sell our HyperClodd product in futuegipds and, even assuming we are successful inangimgy an
adequate supply, we cannot provide any assurahaewé will achieve sufficient revenues or mardiosn our
HyperCloud® products.

Additionally, if the demand for servers deteriosate if the demand for our products to be incorfemtdn
servers declines, our operating results would beraély affected, and we would be forced to diversur
product portfolio and our target markets. We maltylmoable to achieve this diversification, and ioability to do
so may adversely affect our business.

We use a small number of custom ASIC, DRAM ICs addND suppliers and are subject to risks of disrugmti
in the supply of custom ASIC, DRAM ICs and NAND.

Our ability to fulfill customer orders or produceaiification samples is dependent on a sufficiempidy
of DRAM ICs and NAND, which are essential composesftour memory subsystems. We are also dependent o
a sufficient supply of custom ASIC devices to preglour HyperCloud memory modules. There are aivelgt
small number of suppliers of DRAM ICs and NAND, amd purchase from only a subset of these suppli¢es.

have no long-term DRAM or NAND supply contracts.

From time to time, shortages in DRAM ICs and NAN&v& required some suppliers to limit the supply
of their DRAM ICs and NAND. We have experienced@yghain disruptions and shortages of DRAM andHla
required to create our HyperClotid , NVvault anchBiaX VLP products, and we are continually working
secure adequate supplies of DRAM and flash negesséitl customers’ orders for our products in@mely
manner. If we are unable to obtain a sufficientgbypf DRAM ICs or NAND flash to meet our customers
requirements, these customers may reduce futusgofdr our products or not purchase our producai, avhich
would cause our net sales to decline and harmenating results. In addition, our reputation cduddharmed
and, even assuming we are successful in resolvipgly chain disruptions, we may not be able toaeplany lost
business with new customers, and we may lose mahieee to our competitors.

Additionally, we could face obstacles in moving gwotion of our ASIC components away from our
current design and production partners. Our depargden a small number of suppliers and the lacngf
guaranteed sources of ASIC components, DRAM and DANpply expose us to several risks, including the
inability to obtain an adequate supply of thesedrtamt components, price increases, delivery dedagspoor
quality.

Historical declines in customer demand and ourmage caused us to reduce our purchases of DRAM
ICs and NAND. Such fluctuations could occur in thiare. Should we not maintain sufficient purchkesesls
with some suppliers, our ability to obtain supplésaw materials may be impaired due to the pcaaf some
suppliers to allocate their products to custometis the highest regular demand.

Our customers qualify the ASIC components, DRAM #0s NAND of our suppliers for use in their

systems. If one of our suppliers should experienagity control problems, it may be disqualified diye or more
of our

14



Table of Content

customers. This would disrupt our supplies of ABttnponents, DRAM ICs and NAND and reduce the number
of suppliers available to us, and may require Wegualify a new supplier. If our suppliers arehieao produce
gualification samples on a timely basis or atvaél,could experience delays in the qualificationcess, which
could have a significant impact on our ability &l shat product.

We may lose our competitive position if we are uleato timely and cost-effectively develop new ohanced
products that meet our customers’ requirements awhieve market acceptance.

Our industry is characterized by intense competitiapid technological change, evolving industry
standards and rapid product obsolescence. Evointhgstry standards and technological change or new,
competitive technologies could render our exispingducts obsolete. Accordingly, our ability to catgin the
future will depend in large part on our abilityittentify and develop new or enhanced products imely and
cost-effective basis, and to respond to changistpooer requirements. In order to develop and inttechew or
enhanced products, we need to:

« identify and adjust to the changing requirementswfcurrent and potential custome
- identify and adapt to emerging technological tresad evolving industry standards in our mark

- design and introduce c-effective, innovative and performal- enhancing features that different
our products from those of our competitc

« develop relationships with potential suppliers @finponents required for these new or enha
products;

» qualify these products for use in our custor products; ant
« develop and maintain effective marketing strateg

Our product development efforts are costly andriahity risky. It is difficult to foresee changes or
developments in technology or anticipate the adopdf new standards. Moreover, once these thirgs ar
identified, if at all, we will need to hire the appriate technical personnel or retain third paegigners, develop
the product, identify and eliminate design flawsd ananufacture the product in production quantitiéiser in-
house or through third-party manufacturers. Assaltewe may not be able to successfully develop oe
enhanced products or we may experience delayideatelopment and introduction of new or enhancedyzts.
Delays in product development and introduction dagbkult in the loss of, or delays in generatireg,gales and
the loss of market share, as well as damage toeputation. Even if we develop new or enhanced ysrtyd they
may not meet our customers’ requirements or gairkebacceptance.

Our customers require that our products undergoenbthy and expensive qualification process withauty
assurance of net sales.

Our prospective customers generally make a sigmficommitment of resources to test and evaluate ou
memory subsystems prior to purchasing our prodaratisintegrating them into their systems. This esiten
qualification process involves rigorous reliabiligsting and evaluation of our products, which magtinue for
nine months or longer and is often subject to delayaddition to qualification of specific prodacsome of our
customers may also require us to undergo a tecyajoalification if our product designs incorporataovative
technologies that the customer has not previoustpntered. Such technology qualifications oftde ta
substantially longer than product qualificationsl @an take over a year to complete. Qualificatipia b
prospective customer does not ensure any salbattpriospective customer. Even after successfuifigation
and sales of our products to a customer, changasriproducts, our manufacturing facilities, ounguction
processes or our component suppliers may requiesvegualification process, which may result in &ddal
delays.

In addition, because the qualification processtb Iproduct specific and platform specific, ourstixig
customers sometimes require us to re-qualify oodyets, or to qualify our new products, for useém
platforms or applications. For example, as our O&tigtomers transition from prior generation architezs to
current generation
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architectures, we must design and qualify new prtedior use by those customers. In the past, theegs of
design and qualification has taken up to nine m®tircomplete, during which time our net salehtsé
customers declined significantly. After our produate qualified, it can take several months betfoeecustomer
begins production and we begin to generate ne$ §am such customer.

Likewise, when our memory and NAND flash componesridors discontinue production of components,
it may be necessary for us to design and qualify peducts for our customers. Such customers nagyine of us
or we may decide to purchase an estimated quanitiiscontinued memory components necessary taemsu
steady supply of existing products until producthwew components can be qualified. Purchasdsiohature
may affect our liquidity. Additionally, our estimah of quantities required during the transitionyrh& incorrect,
which could adversely impact our results of operatithrough lost revenue opportunities or chargkged to
excess and obsolete inventory.

We must devote substantial resources, includinggdesngineering, sales, marketing and management
efforts, to qualify our products with prospectivestomers in anticipation of sales. Significant gelm the
qualification process, such as those experienctdaur HyperCloud product, could result in an inability to keep
up with rapid technology change or new, competitaghnologies. If we delay or do not succeed ififyirzg a
product with an existing or prospective customex will not be able to sell that product to thattoaser, which
may result in our holding excess and obsolete itorgrand harm our operating results and business.

Sales to a limited number of customers represesignificant portion of our net sales and the los§ or a
significant reduction in sales to, any one of thesastomers could materially harm our business.

Sales to certain of our OEM customers have histllyicepresented a substantial majority of our net
sales. Approximately 20 %, 14 % and 19 % of oursadgs in the fiscal year ended December 27, 2@té to
three of our customers. Approximately 45 % and 16f%ur nets sales in the fiscal year ended Decen2iBe
2013 were to two of our customers. The compositiomajor customers and their respective contrilmgtito our
net sales have varied and will likely continue &wwfrom period to period as our OEMs progressuhothe life
cycle of the products they produce and sell. Weatchave long-term agreements with our OEM custsiraar
with any other customer. Any one of these custoroeutd decide at any time to discontinue, decreaskelay
their purchase of our products. In addition, theqw that these customers pay for our productsachdnge at
any time. The loss of any of our OEM customers significant reduction in sales to any of themyldo
significantly reduce our net sales and adversdscabur operating results.

Our ability to maintain or increase our net satesur key customers depends on a variety of factors
many of which are beyond our control. These fadtwhkide our customers’ continued sales of seraadsother
computing systems that incorporate our memory sibgys and our customers’ continued incorporatiosuof
products into their systems. Because of these tat tactors, net sales to these customers magomdinue and
the amount of such net sales may not reach or eéxdstorical levels in any future period. Becausese
customers account for a substantial portion ofrairsales, the failure of any one of these custemogpay on a
timely basis would negatively impact our cash fldavaddition, while we may not be contractuallyighted to
accept returned products, we may determine thgiritour best interest to accept returns in otdenaintain good
relations with our customers. As we describe inerdetail elsewhere in this Report, we have expeeiéa
significant decline in sales of NVvault™ to our kaystomer, Dell, and we did not have any sales\6fault™ to
Dell during the fiscal year ended December 2142 This loss of sales to Dell has had a signific@pact on
our revenues and gross profit.

A limited number of relatively large potential cushers dominate the markets for our products.

Our target markets are characterized by a limitedlver of large companies. Consolidation in one or
more of our target markets may further increasittdustry concentration. As a result, we antigghat sales of
our products will continue to be concentrated amatighited number of large customers in the forabeefuture.
We believe that our financial results will dependignificant part on our success in establishimdj maintaining
relationships with, and effecting substantial sédeshese potential customers. Even if we estalaligl
successfully maintain these relationships, oumfoie results will be largely dependent on thess@uers’ sales
and business results.
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If a standardized memory solution which addresskes temands of our customers is developed, our afdss
and market share may decline.

Many of our memory subsystems are specificallyglesil for our OEM customers’ high performance
systems. In a drive to reduce costs and assurdysoipiheir memory module demand, our OEM custonmeay
endeavor to design JEDEC standard DRAM modulestirgin new products. Although we also manufacture
JEDEC modules, this trend could reduce the demamalur higher priced customized memory solutiongtvim
turn would have a negative impact on our finanaallts. In addition, customers deploying custormony
solutions today may in the future choose to adqlE@REC standard, and the adoption of a JEDEC stdnda
module instead of a previously custom module mégdfloiv new competitors to participate in a sharewf
customers’ memory module business that previouslgriged to us.

If our OEM customers were to adopt JEDEC standavduies, our future business may be limited to
identifying the next generation of high performaneemory demands of OEM customers and developing
solutions that addresses such demands. Until ifmi)femented, this next generation of products ntstitute a
much smaller market, which may reduce our net saidsmarket share.

We may not be able to maintain our competitive piosi because of the intense competition in our tatgd
markets.

We participate in a highly competitive market, avelexpect competition to intensify. Many of our
competitors have longer operating histories, sigaiftly greater resources and name recognitioarget base of

customers and longestanding relationships with customers and supplies we have. As a result, some of

these competitors are able to devote greater resstw the development, promotion and sale of mtsdand are
better positioned than we are to influence custameeptance of their products over our productes&h
competitors also may be able to respond betteewar emerging technologies or standards and maplecto
deliver products with comparable or superior penfance at a lower price. For these reasons, we wiayenable
to compete successfully against these competiéesalso expect to face competition from new andrging
companies that may enter our existing or futureketar These potential competitors may have siroilar
alternative products which may be less costly oviole additional features.

In addition to the competition we face from DRAMddogic suppliers such as SK Hynix, Samsung,
Micron, Inphi and IDT, some of our OEM customerségheir own internal design groups that may dgvelo
solutions that compete with ours. These designggdave some advantages over us, including diceesa to
their respective companies’ technical informatiod gechnology roadmaps. Our OEM customers also have
substantially greater resources, financial andratise, than we do, and may have lower cost strasttlran ours.
As a result, they may be able to design and maturlacompetitive products more efficiently or inexgively. If
any of these OEM customers are successful in cangpagiainst us, our sales could decline, our margiuld be
negatively impacted and we could lose market stzamepr all of which could harm our business aruiits of
operations. Further, some of our significant sugsplare also competitors, many of whom have thayatu
manufacture competitive products at lower costs eesult of their higher levels of integration.

We also face competition from manufacturers of DIM&perating on the memory channel that employ
NAND flash either alone or in combination with DRAMor example, manufacturers such as Micron, AgigA
Tech, Smart Modular, Viking, and SK Hynix offer NMBM products that compete with our NVvault™
NVDIMM. The ULLtraDIMM product manufactured by SardR also uses NAND flash on the memory channel
and competes with NVDIMMs from Netlist and othermatacturers. NVDIMMs and the ULLtraDIMM will also
compete with our future products that combine DRaM NAND flash on the memory channel, such as our
HyperVault™ product.

We expect our competitors to continue to improweghrformance of their current products, reduce the
prices and introduce new or enhanced technolobasray offer greater performance and improvedrmidf we
are unable to match or exceed the improvements imadar competitors, our market position would detate
and our net sales would decline. In addition, mmpetitors may develop future generations and erdraants of
competitive products that may render our technel®gbsolete or uncompetitive.
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If we fail to protect our proprietary rights, ourustomers or our competitors might gain access t@ ou
proprietary designs, processes and technologiedciviould adversely affect our operating results.

We rely on a combination of patent protection, éradcret laws and restrictions on disclosure ttepto
our intellectual property rights. We have submiteaumber of patent applications regarding our petgry
processes and technology. It is not certain whehaory of the claims in the remaining applicatianifl be
allowed. As of De cember 27, 2014, we had 54 Unfl.fareign patents issued and over 34 pending egijgins
worldwide. We intend to continue filing patent apptions with respect to most of the new proceases
technologies that we develop. However, patent ptiate may not be available for some of these peessr
technologies.

It is possible that our efforts to protect our ilgetual property rights may not:

« prevent challenges to, or the invalidation or angention of, our existing intellectual prope
rights;

« prevent our competitors from independently develg@imilar products, duplicating our products
designing around any patents that may be issues!;

« prevent disputes with third parties regarding owhgr of our intellectual property right
* prevent disclosure of our trade secrets and keloaw to third parties or into the public domain;

- resultin valid patents, including internationatgyds, from any of our pending or future applicasi
or

« otherwise adequately protect our intellectual prgpeghts.

Others may attempt to reverse engineer, copy @retile obtain and use our proprietary technologies
without our consent. Monitoring the unauthorized a§our technologies is difficult. We cannot betaim that the
steps we have taken will prevent the unauthorizedaf our technologies. This is particularly traddreign
countries, such as the PRC, where we have estatilssimanufacturing facility and where the laws maty
protect our proprietary rights to the same extsrdplicable U.S. laws.

If some or all of the claims in our patent appiicas are not allowed, or if any of our intellectpabperty
protections are limited in scope by the USPTO arforeign patents being subjected to invalidatioocpedings
with their respective authorities, or by a courtiscumvented by others, we could face increasedpetition with
regard to our products and be unable to executaipstrategy of monetizing our intellectual progehhcreased
competition or an inability to monetize our intelieal property could significantly harm our busisesur
operating results and prospects. Currently fivewfpatents are the subject of inter partes reenation
proceedings with the USPTO, or appeals therefrow vée cannot assure you that any of these proagediitl
result in an outcome favorable to us.

We are involved in and expect to continue to bediwed in costly legal and administrative proceedinig
defend against claims that we infringe the intelteal property rights of others or to enforce or pext our
intellectual property rights.

As is common to the semiconductor industry, we Fexgerienced substantial litigation regarding paten
and other intellectual property rights. Lawsuiirling that we are infringing others’ intellectyabperty rights
have been and may in the future be brought agamsind we are currently defending against claihisvalidity
in the USPTO.

The process of obtaining and protecting patentthisrently uncertain. In addition to the patentizszce
process established by law and the procedureedd8PTO, we must comply with JEDEC administrative
procedures in protecting our intellectual propevithin its industry standard setting process. Ti@seedures
evolve over time, are subject to variability inithepplication, and may be inconsistent with eattten Failure to
comply with JEDEC’s administrative procedures cdelmpardize our ability to claim that our patergsé been
infringed.
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By making use of new technologies and entering mankets there is an increased likelihood that sther
might allege that our products infringe on thetellectual property rights. Litigation is inhergntincertain, and
an adverse outcome in existing or any future fittgacould subject us to significant liability fdamages or
invalidate our proprietary rights. An adverse outecalso could force us to take specific actiondpufing
causing us to:

- cease manufacturing and/or selling products, ergusértain processes, that are claimed t
infringing a third part’s intellectual property

« pay damages (which in some instances may be times ictual damages), including royalties
past or future sale

« seek alicense from the third party intellectuaparty owner to use their technology in our pros)
which license may not be available on reasonabhesteor at all; o

« redesign those products that are claimed to bagifig a third part’s intellectual property

If any adverse ruling in any such matter occurg,rasulting limitations in our ability to market ou
products, or delays and costs associated with igrdag our products or payments of license feghital parties,
or any failure by us to develop or license a sttstitechnology on commercially reasonable ternuddcbave a
material adverse effect on our business, finarcatlition and results of operations.

There is a limited pool of experienced technicakpenel that we can draw upon to meet our hiring
needs. As a result, a number of our existing engdeyhave worked for our existing or potential cotibgrs at
some point during their careers, and we anticii@ea number of our future employees will haveilginwork
histories. In the past, some of these competitave ltlaimed that our employees misappropriated tiagle

secrets or violated norcompetition or non-solicitation agreements. Some of our competitorg theeaten or

bring legal action involving similar claims against or our existing employees or make such claintke future
to prevent us from hiring qualified candidates. kaits of this type may be brought, even if thenedsnerit to
the claim, simply as a strategy to drain our finahesources and divert management’s attentiory d&oan our
business.

Our business strategy also includes litigatingnetaagainst others, including our competitors, qusts
and former employees, to enforce our intellectuapprty, contractual and commercial rights inclgylim
particular, our trade secrets, as well as to chgehe validity and scope of the proprietary sgbftothers. We
could become subject to counterclaims or countersigiainst us as a result of this litigation. Moo any legal
disputes with customers could cause them to caagedor using our products or delay their purchafseur
products and could substantially damage our relakigp with them.

Any litigation, regardless of its outcome, wouldtbee consuming and costly to resolve, divert our
management’s time and attention and negatively @inpar results of operations. We cannot assurelyatu
current or future infringement claims by or agatidétd parties or claims for indemnification by tusiers or end
users of our products resulting from infringemdatros will not be asserted in the future or thattsassertions or
claims will not materially adversely affect our mess, financial condition or results of operations

As a result of the unfavorable outcome in connectiith the litigation against Diablo Technologiéss.,
for controller chips used by SanDisk Corporatioitsrhigh—-speed ULLtraDIMM SSD product line, we may

expend significant resources to pursue an appeheinase, which may not be resolved in a timelgmeanor
yield a more favorable outcome. Moreover, the ezperassociated with the matter, including the tibatimay
now be subject to forfeiture, may materially adedraffect our financial condition and operatinguks.

We may become involved in non-patent related litiga and administrative proceedings that may matgly
adversely affect us.

From time to time, we may become involved in vasitegal proceedings relating to matters incidetotal

the ordinary course of our business, including cemaial, product liability, employment, class action
whistleblower and
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other litigation and claims, and governmental atiéioregulatory investigations and proceedingshSuatters
can be time-consuming, divert management’s atteratial resources and cause us to incur significqrerees.
Furthermore, because litigation is inherently udpable, the results of these actions could havaterial
adverse effect on our business, results of opexsaad financial condition.

Our operating results may be adversely impacteduayldwide economic and political uncertainties arspecific
conditions in the markets we address, including ttyelical nature of and volatility in the memory miget and
semiconductor industry.

Adverse changes in domestic and global economigalitical conditions have made it extremely
difficult for our customers, our vendors and ugadourately forecast and plan future business &etyiand they
have caused and could continue to cause U.S. agidiicbusinesses to slow spending on our products a
services, which would further delay and lengthdassaycles. In addition, sales of our productsdeeendent
upon demand in the computing, networking, commuitiog, printer, storage and industrial markets.sehe
markets have been cyclical and are characterizeddyy fluctuations in product supply and demandeseh
markets have experienced significant downturngnofonnected with, or in anticipation of, maturprgduct
cycles, reductions in technology spending and deslin general economic conditions. These downtuawe
been characterized by diminished product demarmdiyation overcapacity, high inventory levels anel ¢nosion
of average selling prices and may result in redwadithgness of potential licensees to enter intcehse
agreement with us.

We may experience substantial period-to-perioddiations in future operating results due to factors
affecting the computing, networking, communicatigmsnters, storage and industrial markets. A aectr
significant shortfall in demand in any one of thesgrkets could have a material adverse effect emémand for
our products. As a result, our sales will likelycliee during these periods. In addition, becauseynod our costs
and operating expenses are relatively fixed, ifaneeunable to control our expenses adequatelysporee to
reduced sales, our gross margins, operating ineordesash flow would be negatively impacted.

During challenging economic times our customers faag issues gaining timely access to sufficient
credit, which could impair their ability to makently payments to us. If that were to occur, we ipayequired to
increase our allowance for doubtful accounts anddays sales outstanding would be negatively ingehct
Furthermore, our vendors may face similar issu@singgaaccess to credit, which may limit their alilio supply
components or provide trade credit to us. We caprattict the timing, strength or duration of angramic
slowdown or subsequent economic recovery, worldwidén the memory market and related semiconductor
industry. If the economy or markets in which we m@pe do not continue to improve or if conditionsrgem, our
business, financial condition and results of openatwill likely be materially and adversely affedt
Additionally, the combination of our lengthy sasgle coupled with challenging macroeconomic caad#
could compound the negative impact on the res@itgiooperations.

Our lack of a significant backlog of unfilled ordex; and the difficulty inherent in forecasting custeer demand,
makes it difficult to forecast our short-term prodtion requirements to meet that demand, and anyues to
optimally calibrate our production capacity and iemtory levels to meet customer demand could adverse
affect our revenues, gross margins and earnings.

We make significant decisions regarding the levélsusiness that we will seek and accept, prodoctio
schedules, component procurement commitments, peesoeeds and other resource requirements, basewr o
estimates of customer requirements. We do not lwageterm purchase agreements with our customesedd,
our customers often place purchase orders no rharetivo weeks in advance of their desired delidertg, and
these purchase orders generally have no cancellaticescheduling penalty provisions. The shorataature of
commitments by many of our customers, the factdbatustomers may cancel or defer purchase ofdesasy
reason, and the possibility of unexpected changdsinand for our customers’ products each reducallity to
accurately estimate future customer requirememtsudo products. This fact, combined with the quigin-around
times that apply to each order, makes it diffitalforecast our production needs and allocate mtiatucapacity
efficiently. We attempt to forecast the demandtfier DRAM ICs, NAND, and other components needed to
manufacture our products. Lead times for componeatg significantly and depend on various factetgh as the
specific supplier and the demand and supply faraponent at a given time.
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Our production expense and component purchaseslavelbased in part on our forecasts of our
customers’ future product requirements and togelaixtent are fixed in the short term. As a resudt]ikely will
be unable to adjust spending on a timely basistapensate for any unexpected shortfall in thosersrdf we
overestimate customer demand, we may have exogsaaterial inventory of DRAM ICs and NAND. If theig
a subsequent decline in the prices of DRAM ICs AN, the value of our inventory will fall. As a nal§, we
may need to write-down the value of our DRAM ICNAND inventory, which may result in a significant
decrease in our gross margin and financial conditdso, to the extent that we manufacture prodircts
anticipation of future demand that does not mdiezeaor in the event a customer cancels or redaaésanding
orders, we could experience an unanticipated isereaour finished goods inventory. In the pasthaee had to
write-down inventory due to obsolescence, exceastifies and declines in market value below outscasny
significant shortfall of customer orders in relatitm our expectations could hurt our operatingltesaash flows
and financial condition.

Also, any rapid increases in production requireebiycustomers could strain our resources and esduc
our margins. If we underestimate customer demaednay not have sufficient inventory of DRAM ICs and
NAND on hand to manufacture enough product to rtiegtdemand. We also may not have sufficient
manufacturing capacity at any given time to meetomstomers’ demands for rapid increases in préatucthese
shortages of inventory and capacity will lead ttage in the delivery of our products, and we cdolggo sales
opportunities, lose market share and damage otwrogs relationships.

Declines in our average sales prices, driven byatité prices for DRAM ICs and NAND, among other faurs,
may result in declines in our revenues and grossfir

Our industry is competitive and historically hagbe&haracterized by declines in average sales, price
based in part on the market price of DRAM ICs atN®, which have historically constituted a subsiant
portion of the total cost of our memory subsyste@s. average sales prices may decline due to ddaetars,
including overcapacity in the worldwide supply dRBM and NAND memory components as a result of
worldwide economic conditions, increased manufaoguefficiencies, implementation of new manufaatgri
processes and expansion of manufacturing capacitpmmponent suppliers.

Once our prices with a customer are negotiatechregenerally unable to revise pricing with that
customer until our next regularly scheduled pridistment. Consequently, we are exposed to the &éskociated
with the volatility of the price of DRAM ICs and N¥D during that period. If the market prices for DRACs
and NAND increase, we generally cannot pass tloe [imcreases on to our customers for products paech
under an existing purchase order. As a resultcost of sales could increase and our gross macginsl
decrease. Alternatively, if there are declinehmprice of DRAM ICs and NAND, we may need to resloar
selling prices for subsequent purchase orders,hwhigy result in a decline in our expected net sales

In addition, since a large percentage of our saleso a small number of customers that are priynari
distributors and large OEMs, these customers haseexl, and we expect they will continue to examéssure on
us to make price concessions. If not offset bydases in volume of sales or the sales of newlyldped
products with higher margins, decreases in avesalgs prices would likely have a material adveffeeeon our
business and operating results.

Our production expense and component purchaseslavelbased in part on our forecasts of our
customers’ future product requirements and togelaixtent are fixed in the short term. As a resudt]ikely will
be unable to adjust spending on a timely basistapensate for any unexpected shortfall in thosersrdf we
overestimate customer demand, we may have exogsaaterial inventory of DRAM ICs and NAND. If theig
a subsequent decline in the prices of DRAM ICs AN, the value of our inventory will fall. As a nal§, we
may need to write-down the value of our DRAM ICNAND inventory, which may result in a significant
decrease in our gross margin and financial conditidso, to the extent that we manufacture prodircts
anticipation of future demand that does not mdieeaor in the event a customer cancels or redaaesanding
orders, we could experience an unanticipated isereaour finished goods inventory. In the pasthaee had to
write-down inventory due to obsolescence, excess
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quantities and declines in market value below asts Any significant shortfall of customer orderselation to
our expectations could hurt our operating resalish flows and financial condition.

Also, any rapid increases in production requireabiycustomers could strain our resources and eeduc
our margins. If we underestimate customer demaednay not have sufficient inventory of DRAM ICs and
NAND on hand to manufacture enough product to rtretdemand. We also may not have sufficient
manufacturing capacity at any given time to meetomstomers’ demands for rapid increases in préatucthese
shortages of inventory and capacity will lead ttage in the delivery of our products, and we cdolggo sales
opportunities, lose market share and damage otwroes relationships.

If the supply of other component materials usedn@nufacture our products is interrupted, or if ounventory
becomes obsolete, our results of operations andficial condition could be adversely affected.

We use consumables and other components, incliiis, to manufacture our memory subsystems.
We sometimes procure PCBs and other componentsdimgte or limited sources to take advantage ofima
pricing discounts. Material shortages or transpianigoroblems could interrupt the manufacture af moducts
from time to time in the future. These delays imuofacturing could adversely affect our results pémtions.

Frequent technology changes and the introductiorerf-generation products also may result in the
obsolescence of other items of inventory, suchuagwstom-built PCBs, which could reduce our gmossgin and
adversely affect our operating performance andhfire condition. We may not be able to sell sonwpcts
developed for one customer to another customerseaaur products are often designed to addresgispec
customer requirements, and even if we are ablelkth&se products to another customer, our mangisuch
products may be reduced.

A prolonged disruption of our manufacturing facilit could have a material adverse effect on our buess,
financial condition and results of operations.

We maintain a manufacturing facility in the PRC fwoducing most of our products, which allows us to
utilize our materials and processes, protect detléctual property and develop the technologynf@nufacturing.
A prolonged disruption or material malfunction iofterruption in or the loss of operations at ounofacturing
facility, or the failure to maintain a sufficiergtor force at such facility, could require us tly @ third parties
for our manufacturing needs, which generally insessour manufacturing costs and decreases out pranfgins,
and could limit our capacity to meet customer desreamd delay new product development until a rephesce
facility and equipment, if necessary, were founie Teplacement of the manufacturing facility caoialkke an
extended amount of time before manufacturing operaicould restart. The potential delays and aestslting
from these steps could have a material adverseteffeour business, financial condition and resofits
operations. In July 2014, our PRC facility suffitieater damage as a result of heavy rain and flasdieh
forced us to temporarily halt manufacturing at BRC facility while necessary repairs or replacesardre made
to our PRC facility and to certain of our manufaittg equipment. This incident caused us to inclditional
expenses as we shifted our manufacturing actividiesthird-party manufacturing facility in the PR&enable us
to mitigate the disruption in shipments to our oogtrs. While we believe we have contained the gisyas we
expect that our relationships with our key custaeuld be materially harmed if we incur additional
manufacturing disruptions in the future. We areenily processing this incident as a claim with imsurer but
there can be no assurance that we will recovelosses from our insurer. We are unable to providei@nces
that similar events will not occur in the futuretbat we will be able to secure alternative manuf@cy
capabilities if manufacturing at our PRC facilitydisrupted.

If we are unable to manufacture our products effesitly, our operating results could suffer.

We must continuously review and improve our mantui@gg processes in an effort to maintain
satisfactory manufacturing yields and product penfince, to lower our costs and to otherwise remain
competitive. As we manufacture more complex proglutie risk of encountering delays or difficultiesreases.
The start-up costs associated with implementing marufacturing technologies, methods and processes,
including the purchase of new equipment, and asyltiag manufacturing delays and inefficienciesjldo
negatively impact our results of operations.
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If we need to add manufacturing capacity, an exipans our existing manufacturing facility or
establishment of a new facility could be subjediitiory audits by our customers. Any delays oxpeeted costs
resulting from this audit process could adverséfigca our net sales and results of operationsdtfiteon, we
cannot be certain that we will be able to increagemanufacturing capacity on a timely basis or tritee
standards of any applicable factory audits.

We depend on third-parties to design and manufagtwustom components for some of our products.

Significant customized components, such as ASIzd,dre used in some of our products such as
HyperCloude are designed and manufactured by third parties.abilgy and willingness of such third parties to
perform in accordance with their agreements witksuargely outside of our control. If one or marfeour design
or manufacturing partners fails to perform its gations in a timely manner or at satisfactory duadivels, our
ability to bring products to market or deliver poats to our customers, as well as our reputationldcsuffer. In
the event of any such failures, we may have nailseadailable alternative source of supply for syebducts,
since, in our experience, the lead time neededttbish a relationship with a new design and/onufecturing
partner is at least 12 months, and the estimatee fior our OEM customers to re-qualify our produith
components from a new vendor ranges from fourne nionths. We cannot assure you that we can redesig
cause to have redesigned, our customized compoteebésmanufactured by a new manufacturer in alyime
manner, nor can we assure you that we will notrigls on the intellectual property of our currensida or
manufacture partner when we redesign the custonpopents, or cause such components to be rededigreed
new manufacturer. A manufacturing disruption ex@eced by our manufacturing partners, the failureusf
manufacturing partners to dedicate adequate resetwahe production of our products, the finanicistability of
our manufacturing or design partners, or any diigrre of our design or manufacturing partnerpéoform
according to their agreements with us, would haweaterial adverse effect on our business, finardabition
and results of operations.

We have many other risks due to our dependencki@hgarty manufacturers, including: reduced cdntro
over delivery schedules, quality, manufacturindddeand cost; the potential lack of adequate capdaring
periods of excess demand; limited warranties odyets supplied to us; and potential misappropmatibour
intellectual property. We are dependent on our rfarturing partners to manufacture products witreptable
quality and manufacturing yields, to deliver thpseducts to us on a timely basis and to allocadertion of their
manufacturing capacity sufficient to meet our neédhough our products are designed using thege®design
rules of the particular manufacturers, we cannstir@syou that our manufacturing partners will ble &b achieve
or maintain acceptable yields or deliver sufficignantities of components on a timely basis ona@eptable
cost. Additionally, we cannot assure you that oanafacturing partners will continue to devote agegu
resources to produce our products or continue taramk the process design technologies on which the
qualification and manufacturing of our products laased.

If our products do not meet the quality standardsaur customers, we may be forced to stop shipmerfits
products until the quality issues are resolved.

Our customers require our products to meet sttiatity standards. Should our products not meet such
standards, our customers may discontinue purcHigsaus until we are able to resolve the qualigues that are
causing us to not meet the standards. Such “quaitys” could have a significant adverse impacbonrevenues
and operating results.

If our products are defective or are used in defeetsystems, we may be subject to warranty, prodecalls or
product liability claims.

If our products are defectively manufactured, contiefective components or are used in defective or
malfunctioning systems, we could be subject to aragr and product liability claims and product réxadafety
alerts or advisory notices. While we have prodiaddility insurance coverage, it may not be adeqt@satisfy
claims made against us. We also may be unabletéondbsurance in the future at satisfactory rateis adequate
amounts.
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Although we generally attempt to contractually limir exposure to incidental and consequential
damages, if these contract provisions are not eafbor are unenforceable or if liabilities arisattare not
effectively limited, we could incur substantial tos defending or settling product liability clesm

Warranty and product liability claims or productadls, regardless of their ultimate outcome, chdde
an adverse effect on our business, financial camd#&nd reputation, and on our ability to attraud aetain
customers. In addition, we may determine thatiit isur best interest to accept product returngrcumstances
where we are not contractually obligated to dansorder to maintain good relations with our custmne
Accepting product returns may negatively impacta@perating results.

If we are required to obtain licenses to use thpdrty intellectual property and we fail to do sajobusiness
could be harmed.

Although some of the components used in our finatipcts contain the intellectual property of third
parties, we believe that our suppliers bear the medponsibility to obtain any rights and licentgesuch third
party intellectual property. While we have no kneggde that any third party licensor disputes ouiebele
cannot assure you that disputes will not ariséénfiture. The operation of our business and oilityatn
compete successfully depends significantly on oatinued operation without claims of infringementdemands
resulting from such claims, including demands fayments of money in the form of, for example, ongoi
licensing fees.

We are also developing products to enter new mgrkémilar to our current products, we may use
components in these new products that contaimtieiéctual property of third parties. While we pl® exercise
precautions to avoid infringing on the intellectpabperty rights of third parties, we cannot assune that
disputes will not arise.

If it is determined that we are required to obialmound licenses and we fail to obtain licensesf such
licenses are not available on economically feadén@s, our business, operating results and fimaoondition
could be significantly harmed.

The flash memory market is constantly evolving acaimpetitive, and we may not have rights to manutaet
and sell certain types of products utilizing emangiflash formats, or we may be required to pay gatty to sell
products utilizing these formats.

The flash-based storage market is constantly ueieggapid technological change and evolving
industry standards. Many consumer devices, sudigéal cameras, PDAs and smartphones, are transitj to
emerging flash memory formats, such as the Memtick,sand xD Picture Card formats, which we do not
currently manufacture and do not have rights toufeture. Although we do not currently serve thestoner
flash market, it is possible that certain OEMs rolagose to adopt these higher-volume, lower-costéts. This
could result in a decline in demand, on a reldbasis, for other products that we manufacture sisch
CompactFlash, SD and embedded USB drives. If welde¢o manufacture flash memory products utilizing
emerging formats such as those mentioned, we witeuired to secure licenses to give us the taght
manufacture such products that may not be avaikghieasonable rates or at all. If we are not ab&pply flash
card formats at competitive prices or if we werddwe product shortages, our net sales could bersely
impacted and our customers would likely cancel kwde seek other suppliers to replace us.

Our indemnification obligations for the infringemenby our products of the intellectual property riggof
others could require us to pay substantial damages.

As is common in the industry, we currently haveffect a number of agreements in which we have
agreed to defend, indemnify and hold harmless ostomers and suppliers from damages and costs wiagh
arise from the infringement by our products ofdhirarty patents, trademarks or other proprietafyts. The
scope of such indemnity varies, but may, in sors&irces, include indemnification for damages ampeeses,
including attorneys’ fees. Our insurance does pwecintellectual property infringement. The terfriiteese
indemnification agreements is generally perpetogltame after execution of the agreement. The marim
potential amount of future payments we could beiireg to make under these indemnification agreesnient
unlimited. We may periodically have to respondleiras and litigate these types of indemnificatidmigations.
Although our suppliers may bear responsibility theg intellectual
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property inherent in the components they sell {adhesy may lack the financial ability to stand behsuch
indemnities. Additionally, it may be costly to erde any indemnifications that they have granteaisto
Accordingly, any indemnification claims by customeould require us to incur significant legal faes could
potentially result in the payment of substantiahdges, both of which could result in a materialezde effect on
our business and results of operations.

We depend on a few key employees, and if we loseéhvices of any of those employees or are unablare
additional personnel, our business could be harmed.

To date, we have been highly dependent on the iexper; relationships and technical knowledge of
certain key employees. We believe that our futuesss will be dependent on our ability to rethmgervices of
these key employees, develop their successors;eamu reliance on them, and properly manage #msition of
their roles should departures occur. The lossegdtkey employees could delay the developmentraratiuiction
of, and negatively impact our ability to sell, quoducts and otherwise harm our business. We dbawat
employment agreements with any of these key empkgéher than Chun K. Hong, our President, Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board. Wentan “Key Man” life insurance on Chun K. Hong; hewver,
we do not carry “Key Man” life insurance on anyoafr other key employees.

Our future success also depends on our abilityttact, retain and motivate highly skilled engiriegr
manufacturing, and other technical and sales paso@ompetition for experienced personnel is is¢teWe may
not be successful in attracting new engineerslwrdechnical personnel, or in retaining or mothgbur existing
personnel. If we are unable to hire and retainrezgyis with the skills necessary to keep pace Wwétet/olving
technologies in our markets, our ability to conéria provide our current products and to develop oe
enhanced products will be negatively impacted, twiwould harm our business. In addition, the shertafg
experienced engineers, and other factors, maytéestreased recruiting, relocation and compensatasts for
such engineers, which may exceed our expectatimhsesources. These increased costs may make heimg
engineers difficult, or may increase our operagrgenses.

Historically, a significant portion of our workfaethas consisted of contract personnel. We invest
considerable time and expense in training thesgadremployees. We may experience high turnovtesiia our
contract employee workforce, which may requirecusxpend additional resources in the future. [fcesvert any
of these contract employees into permanent emptoyee may have to pay finder’s fees to the contigency.

We rely on third-party manufacturers’ representagis and the failure of these manufacturers’ represatives
to perform as expected could reduce our future sale

We sell some of our products to customers throughufacturers’ representatives. We are unable to
predict the extent to which our manufacturers’ espntatives will be successful in marketing anlingedur
products. Moreover, many of our manufacturers’espntatives also market and sell other, potentialigpeting
products. Our representatives may terminate te&tionships with us at any time. Our future perfance will
also depend, in part, on our ability to attractitioidal manufacturers’ representatives that willdixe to market
and support our products effectively, especiallynarkets in which we have not previously distrilouor
products. If we cannot retain our current manufietl representatives or recruit additional or aepiment
manufacturers’ representatives, our sales and tipgrasults will be harmed.

The operation of our manufacturing facility in th€RC could expose us to significant risks.

Since 2009, most of our world-wide manufacturingdarction has been performed at our manufacturing
facility in the PRC. Language and cultural diffezes, as well as the geographic distance from caslduearters in
Irvine, California, further compound the difficid8 of running a manufacturing operation in the PRQr
management has limited experience in creating erseeing foreign operations, and the ongoing manageof
our PRC facility may require our management teawfiert substantial amounts of their time, partelyl if we
encounter operational difficulties or manufacturdigruptions at our PRC facility. We may not béeab
maintain control over product
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quality, delivery schedules, manufacturing yieldd aosts. Furthermore, the costs related to hassiegss
capacity have in the past and may in the futureicoe to have an adverse impact on our gross nsggid
operating results.

We manage a local workforce that may subject usdalatory uncertainties. Changes in the labor laws
of the PRC could increase the cost of employinddbal workforce. The increased industrializatidrihee PRC,
as well as general economic and political cond#tionthe PRC, could also increase the price ofl lad@r. Any
or all combination of these factors could negayivaipact the cost savings we currently enjoy fraamihg our
manufacturing facility in the PRC.

Economic, political and other risks associated wititernational sales and operations could adversaffect our
net sales.

Part of our growth strategy involves making satefoteign corporations and delivering our produots
facilities located in foreign countries. To fagilié this process and to meet the long-term prajedgenand for our
products, we have set up a manufacturing facititthe PRC. Selling and manufacturing in foreignraedas
subjects us to additional risks not present withdnmestic operations. We are operating in busiands
regulatory environments in which we have limitedyious experience. We will need to continue to coere
language and cultural barriers to effectively cartchur operations in these environments. In addlitibe
economies of the PRC and other countries have lngbty volatile in the past, resulting in signifitefluctuations
in local currencies and other instabilities. Thiestabilities affect a number of our customers amgpliers in
addition to our foreign operations and continuexist or may occur again in the future.

In the future, some of our net sales may be derati@ihin Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”). The Chinese
government controls the procedures by which RM&isverted into other currencies, and conversidRMB
generally requires government consent. As a reRMB may not be freely convertible into other cagies at all
times. If the Chinese government institutes chamngesrrency conversion procedures, or imposesicdsns on
currency conversion, those actions may negativapaict our operations and could reduce our operagisigts. In
addition, fluctuations in the exchange rate betwRbB and U.S. dollars may adversely affect our eges and
results of operations as well as the value of sgets and liabilities. These fluctuations may aldeersely affect
the comparability of our period-to-period resulfsve decide to declare dividends and repatriatelfufrom our
Chinese operations, we will be required to comgitythe procedures and regulations of applicabla&e law.
Any changes to these procedures and regulatiorsrdailure to comply with those procedures argltations,
could prevent us from making dividends and repitigefunds from our Chinese operations, which could
adversely affect our financial condition. If we atde to make dividends and repatriate funds framGhinese
operations, these dividends would be subject to thfporate income tax.

International turmoil and the threat of future ¢eist attacks, both domestically and internationdiive
contributed to an uncertain political and econodtimate, both in the U.S. and globally, and havgatieely
impacted the worldwide economy. The occurrencenefar more of these instabilities could adversélycaour
foreign operations and some of our customers gol®rp, each of which could adversely affect oursades. In
addition, our failure to meet applicable regulatagguirements or overcome cultural barriers coagilt in
production delays and increased turn-around timvbgsh would adversely affect our business.

Our international sales are subject to other riskduding regulatory risks, tariffs and other tedohrriers,
timing and availability of export licenses, polédland economic instability, difficulties in accdasmeceivable
collections, difficulties in managing distributotack of a significant local sales presence, difties in obtaining
governmental approvals, compliance with a wideetsirof complex foreign laws and treaties and pdadint
adverse tax consequences. In addition, the U.ereign countries may implement quotas, dutiesg$aor other
charges or restrictions upon the importation ometgtion of our products, leading to a reductiosates and
profitability in that country.
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Our operations could be disrupted by power outagestural disasters or other factors.

Due to the geographic concentration of our manufaay operations in our PRC facility, and the
operations of certain of our suppliers, a disruptiesulting from equipment failure, power failurgeality control
issues, human error, government intervention arrabtlisasters, including earthquakes and floddsthose that
have struck Japan and Thailand, respectively, dotgdrupt or interfere with our manufacturing ogtgons and
consequently harm our business, financial condiot results of operations. Such disruptions woalgse
significant delays in shipments of our products addersely affect our operating results. In J@g4£ our PRC
facility suffered water damage as a result of heaity and floods, which forced us to temporarilit ha
manufacturing at our PRC facility while necessayyairs or replacements were made to our PRC faaititl to
certain of our manufacturing equipment. This iecddcaused us to incur additional expenses as iftecsbur
manufacturing activities to a third-party manufairtg facility in the PRC to enable us to mitigate disruption in
shipments to our customers. While we believe westtntained the disruptions we expect that outioglships
with our key customers could be materially harnfedd incur additional manufacturing disruptiongtie future.
We are currently processing this incident as arclaith our insurer. We are unable to provide asstea that
similar events will not occur in the future or the will be able to secure alternative manufactydapabilities if
manufacturing at our PRC facility is disrupted.

Difficulties with our global information technologysystems, and/or unauthorized access to such systewuld
harm our business.

Any failure or malfunctioning of our global inforri@n technology system, errors or misuse by system
users, difficulties in migrating standalone systemsour centralized systems, or inadequacy of teem in
addressing the needs of our operations, could mtisyur ability to timely and accurately manufactared ship
products, which could have a material adverse eftet our business, financial condition and resufs
operations. Any such failure, errors, misusenadequacy could also disrupt our ability to timahd accurately
process, report and evaluate key operations medridskey components of our results of operatiomsntial
position and cash flows. Any such disruptions widikely divert our management and key employe#gntion
away from other business matters. Any disruptionslifficulties that may occur in connection witliroglobal
information technology system could also adverséfigct our ability to complete important businessgess, such
as the evaluation of our internal control over ficial reporting and attestation activities pursuanBection 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

In connection with our daily business transactioms, store data about our business, including certai
customer data, on our global information technoleggtems. While our systems are designed withrigcu
measures to prevent unauthorized access, thirdepamay gain unauthorized access to our systeris T
unauthorized access could take the form of inteatimisconduct by computer hackers, employee ezroployee
malfeasance or otherwise. Additionally, third Eeggtmay attempt to fraudulently induce employeesustomers
into disclosing sensitive information such as ussEmes, passwords or other information, in ordeyaia access to
our information technology system for the purpo$esabotage, or to access our data, including odr aur
customers’ intellectual property and other confid@nbusiness information. Because the techniqussd to
obtain unauthorized access to information technokygtems evolve frequently and generally are ecognized
until successful, we may be unable to anticipates¢htechniques or to implement adequate preveatativ
measures. Any security breach could result inugison to our business, misappropriation or losdaif, loss of
confidence in us by our customers, damage to qutagion, legal liability and a negative impactaur sales.

Our failure to comply with environmental laws anegulations could subject us to significant fines @n
liabilities or cause us to incur significant costs.

We are subject to various and frequently changirsy téderal, state and local and foreign governaient
laws and regulations relating to the protectiothefenvironment, including those governing thelthsge of
pollutants into the air and water, the managemedtiisposal of hazardous substances and wastedetraip of
contaminated sites and the maintenance of a saf@lace. In particular, some of our manufacturingagesses
may require us to handle and dispose of hazardatesrials from time to time. For example, in thetpas
manufacturing operations have used lead-basedrdolttee assembly of our products. Today, we uad-fece
soldering technologies in our manufacturing proessas this is required for products entering tin@pgean
Union. We could incur substantial costs, including
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clean-up costs, civil or criminal fines or sanci@nd third-party claims for property damage osgpeal injury, as
a result of violations of, or noncompliance withygonmental laws and regulations. These laws agdlations
also could require us to incur significant costsaimain in compliance.

Regulations related to “conflict minerals” may caesus to incur additional expenses and could lirtietsupply
and increase the cost of certain metals used in matturing our products.

In August 2012, the SEC adopted a rule requiriregldsures of specified minerals, known as conflict
materials, that are necessary to the functionaityproduction of products manufactured or contihdee be
manufactured by public companies. The rule regusempanies to verify and disclose whether or nohs
minerals originate from the Democratic RepublicCaingo or an adjoining country. To comply with thige, we
are required to conduct a reasonable country girogach year and, depending on the results ofitlqairy, we
may be required to exercise due diligence on tlecgoand chain of custody of conflict minerals edmed in our
products. Such due diligence must conform to aonally or internationally recognized due diligence
framework. We are required to file a disclosungoré with the SEC in May of each year relatinghe preceding
calendar year. In addition, commencing with thecldisure report relating to the 2015 calendar yteathe extent
that we are required to exercise due diligencehensburce and chain of custody of conflict minenais will be
required to obtain an independent private sectalitaaf our disclosure report and underlying duedgéihce
measures.

The due diligence activities required to deternthme source and chain of custody of minerals coathin
in our products are time consuming and may resultignificant costs. Due to the size and comp}esit our
supply chain, we face significant challenges irifyerg the origins of the minerals used in our pwots. Further,
this rule could affect the availability in sufficiequantities and at competitive prices of certainerals used in
the manufacture of our products, including tantaltim gold and tungsten. There may be only lichitmber of
sources of “conflict-free” minerals, which couldstdt in increased material and component costsyels as
additional costs associated with potential chatgesir products, processes or sources of supply.

If we are unable to sufficiently verify the origof the minerals used in our products through the du
diligence measures that we implement, or if weuarable to obtain an audit report each year thatlades that
our due diligence measures are in conformity witle triteria set forth in the relevant due diligence
framework. Our reputation could be harmed. Initamid we may not be able to satisfy customers wndguire
that our products be certified as “conflict-freefiieh could place us at a competitive disadvantage.

Our internal controls over financial reporting mawot be effective, which could have a significantdadverse
effect on our business.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 &ed¢lated rules and regulations of the SEC, which
we collectively refer to as Section 404, requirgausvaluate our internal controls over financégarting to allow
management to report on those internal controts #ee end of each year. Effective internal corstianie
necessary for us to produce reliable financial respand are important in our effort to prevent ficial fraud. In
the course of our Section 404 evaluations, we magtify conditions that may result in significamfidiencies or
material weaknesses and we may conclude that eafmamts, modifications or changes to our internatrots
are necessary or desirable. Implementing any sattera would divert the attention of our managememild
involve significant costs, and may negatively impaa results of operations.

We note that there are inherent limitations onetfiectiveness of internal controls, as they capnetent
collusion, management override or failure of hurjumlgment. If we fail to maintain an effective systef
internal controls or if management or our indepemndegistered public accounting firm were to dismomaterial
weaknesses in our internal controls, we may belartalproduce reliable financial reports or previeatid, and it
could harm our financial condition and results pétions, result in a loss of investor confideaicd negatively
impact our stock price.
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If we do not effectively manage future growth, otgsources, systems and controls may be strained@und
results of operations may suffer.

Any future growth may strain our resources, managernmformation and telecommunication systems,
and operational and financial controls. To manageré growth effectively, including any expansidrvolume in
our manufacturing facility in the PRC, we must béeao improve and expand our systems and conwétsmay
not be able to do this in a timely or cost-effegtimanner, and our current systems and controlsnoialye
adequate to support our future operations. In Bxidiour officers have relatively limited experieno managing
a rapidly growing business. As a result, they matybe able to provide the guidance necessary tagefuture
growth or maintain future market position. Any tmé to manage our growth or improve or expand gistiag
systems and controls, or unexpected difficultieddimg so, could harm our business.

We may be unsuccessful in establishing and opergtam intellectual property based business.

We do not at this time have an intellectual propéie)-based licensing business and may never sdcce
in developing such a business. As we are currémtlyproducts-based business model, we may be cessfal in
developing an IP-based licensing business. Tlabksttment of this new business may be more diffmucostly
than expected and require additional personnedsimients and may be a significant distraction fanagement.

In connection with our IP-based licensing business licenses and royalties revenue may be unodiriain
period to period, and we may be unable to attreat licensing customers which would materially addeasely
affect our results of operations. Our ability toriease our license revenue will depend on a vaoiefigctors,
including the performance, quality, breadth andde our current and future IP, as well as ouesand
marketing capabilities. Once secured, license nevenay be negatively affected by factors within aatside our
control, including reductions in our customersesaprices, sales volumes and the terms of suafskse

If we acquire other businesses or technologiestie future, these acquisitions could disrupt our bosss and
harm our operating results and financial condition.

We will evaluate opportunities to acquire businessetechnologies that might complement our current
product offerings or enhance our technical cap@sliWe have no experience in acquiring othernasses or
technologies. Acquisitions entail a number of rigia could adversely affect our business and ¢ipgreesults,
including, but not limited to:

» difficulties in integrating the operations, techmgikes or products of the acquired compar

« the diversion of managems time and attention from the normal daily operaiof the busines

« insufficient increases in net sales to offset inse#l expenses associated with acquisitiol
acquired companie

- difficulties in retaining business relationshipgwsuppliers and customers of the acqu
companies

. the overestimation of potential synergies or ayl@laealizing those synergie

« entering markets in which we have no or limitedexignce and in which competitors have stror
market positions; an

« the potential loss of key employees of the acquiatpanies

Future acquisitions also could cause us to incht debe subject to contingent liabilities. In s,
acquisitions could cause us to issue equity séesitihat could dilute the ownership percentagesioexisting
stockholders. Furthermore, acquisitions may rasuttaterial charges or adverse tax consequendestasiial
depreciation, deferred compensation charges, ingsoresearch and development charges, the artiortiné&
amounts
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related to deferred stock-based compensation egmensidentifiable purchased intangible assetspairment
of goodwill, any or all of which could negativelffect our results of operations.

Our principal stockholders have significant votingower and may take actions that may not be in tlest
interest of our other stockholders.

As of February 28, 20 15, approximately 12 . 8R6ur outstanding common stock was held by
affiliates, including 11.3 % held by Chun K. Homgyr chief executive officer and chairman of our rooaf
directors. As a result, Mr. Hong has the abilityet@rt substantial influence over all matters reqgiapproval by
our stockholders, including the election and renhofairectors and any proposed merger, consobdatr sale of
all or substantially all of our assets and othepomate transactions. This concentration of cortoelld be
disadvantageous to other stockholders with interdiffierent from those of Mr. Hong .

Anti-takeover provisions under our charter documsrand Delaware law could delay or prevent a chamge
control and could also limit the market price of ogtock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws containvisions that could delay or prevent a change of
control of our company or changes in our boardirfatiors that our stockholders might consider fabée. In
addition, these provisions could limit the pricattmvestors would be willing to pay in the futdoe shares of our
common stock. The following are examples of prarisiwhich are included in our certificate of incangtion
and bylaws, each as amended:

« our board of directors is authorized, without pstwckholder approval, to designate and i
preferred stock, commonly referred to as "blankckh@referred stock, with rights senior to those of
our common stock

« stockholder action by written consent is prohibi

« nominations for election to our board of directansl the submission of matters to be acted upc
stockholders at a meeting are subject to advanteen@quirements; ar

« our board of directors is expressly authorized &iken alter or repeal our bylav

In addition, we are governed by the provisionsetti®n 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law,
which may prohibit certain business combinatiorhwtockholders owning 15% or more of our outstagdi
voting stock. These and other provisions in outifigate of incorporation and bylaws, and of Delagvéaw, could
make it more difficult for stockholders or potehéaquirers to obtain control of our board of diogs or initiate
actions that are opposed by the then-current bafaddtectors, including delaying or impeding a margender
offer, or proxy contest or other change of contrahsaction involving our company. Any delay oryaetion of a
change of control transaction or changes in ourdofdirectors could prevent the consummation wasaction
in which our stockholders could receive a subsahptiemium over the then-current market price liairt shares.

The price of and volume in trading of our commorosk has and may continue to fluctuate significantly

Our common stock has been publicly traded sinceshter 2006. The price of our common stock and
the trading volume of our shares are volatile agekhin the past fluctuated significantly. There bamo
assurance as to the prices at which our commoRk stifidrade in the future or that an active traglimarket in our
common stock will be sustained in the future. Theekat price at which our common stock trades may be
influenced by many factors, including but not liedtto, the following:

« our operating and financial performance and praspéwluding our ability to achieve and sust
profitability in the future

« investor perception of us and the industry in whighoperate
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- the availability and level of research coveragarad market making in our common sto
« results of litigation
« changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recomatiemd by analyst:

« sales of our newly issued common stock or otheurtezs associated witour shelf registratio
statement declared effective by the SEC on Octd®8e2011 and our new registration statement on
Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-199446) which weehfiled but which has not yet been declared
effective by the SECor the perception that such sales may oc

« general financial and other market conditions;

- changing and recently volatile domestic and intéonal economic condition:

In addition, shares of our common stock and thdipsiock markets in general have experienced, and
may continue to experience, extreme price andrtgaddlume volatility. These fluctuations may achedy affect
the market price of our common stock and a stoddrtd ability to sell their shares into the maikethe desired
time or at the desired price.

In 2007, following a drop in the market price of @@mmon stock, securities litigation was initiated
against us. Given the historic volatility of oudirstry, we may become engaged in this type oflitim in the
future. Securities litigation is expensive and tico&asuming.

Iltem 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located in approeindt 203 square feet of space in Irvine, Calif@mn
under a lease that expires in October 2016 . Weaisrently lease approximately 42,2 00 squaredespace for
our manufacturing facility in the PRC. This leagpiees in March 201 7 .

We believe that our current facilities are adeqé@ateur current and expected operations for the ne
twelve months and that additional space can berwataf needed.

Iltem 3. Legal Proceedings
The information set forth in the section entitldtidation and Patent Reexaminations under Notd 7 o

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, indudé® art IV, Item 15 of this Report is incorpaaterein by
reference.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securitie s

Our common stock began trading on The NASDAQ Glabatket under the trading symbol “NLST” on
November 30, 2006, and was not publicly tradedrpgddhat date. The following table sets forth ktgh and low
sale prices for our common stock on the NASDAQ @lddarket for the periods indicated:

High Low

Year Ended December 27, 2C

Fourth Quarte $1.23 $0.57

Third Quartel 1.59 0.95

Second Quarte 2.15 0.93

First Quarte 2.41 0.70
Year Ended December 28, 20

Fourth Quarte $1.05 $0.53

Third Quartel 1.20 0.75

Second Quarte 1.29 0.51

First Quarte 0.87 0.61

As of February 28, 2015 there were approximateidi@ders of record of our shares of common stock.

We entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (filLAgreement”), on July 18, 2013, with Fortress
Credit Opportunities | LP (the “Lender”), an affite of Fortress Investment Group LLC as successoBD
Credit Funding LLC. In connection with the Loan A&gment, the Company issued to an affiliate of Lerskven-
year warrants (the “Warrants”) to purchase an agggeeof 1,648,351 shares of the Company’s comnuak sit a
per share price of $1.00, of which 989,011 sham®wxercisable immediately on a cash or cashkesis in
whole or in part. Pursuant to the Warrants, (i),820 shares subject to the Warrants would becorisrble
upon the achievement of certain performance mitestoelating to intellectual property matters (tife
Monetization Milestones”) and (ii) the remainingd3@70 shares subject to the Warrants would become
exercisable upon the Company'’s receipt of proc&eds the second tranche of the Loan Agreement upon
achievement of the IP Monetization Milestones (iReMilestone Term Loan”).

On February 17, 2015, we entered into that ceBaitond Amendment to the Loan Agreement (the
“Loan Agreement Amendment”) with Lender. In confm@ttwith the Loan Agreement Amendment, we cancelled
the Warrants and issued new warrants (the “New &vitst) in substantially the same form as the Wasrémhich
were cancelled in connection with the issuancé@MNew Warrants) other than to remove the resiristupon
exercise contained in the Warrants with respeantaggregate of 659,340 shares of the Company’si@om
Stock thereunder relating to the achievement byCibiapany of the IP Monetization Milestones and the
borrowing by the Company of amounts under the IR8fbne Term Loans.

The Warrants and New Warrants were issued in grigktcement transactions that were exempt from
registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities & 1933.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends poapital stock. Our current credit facility prohgb
the payment of cash dividends. Accordingly, we dbamticipate declaring or paying cash dividendeon
capital stock in the foreseeable future. Any paytsieficash dividends will be at the discretion of board of
directors, and will depend upon our results of afiens, earnings, capital requirements, legal amdractual
restrictions, and other factors deemed relevarmtunboard of directors.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity @ensation Plans

Our board of directors and stockholders previoaglgroved our Amended and Restated 2000 Equity
Incentive Plan and our Amended and Restated 20Q@yHgcentive Plan. Except as listed in the tdiéow, as
of December 27, 2014 , we do not have any equigd@lans, including individual compensation aresngnts
that have not been approved by our stockholders fdllowing table provides information as of DecemnB?7,
2014 with respect to our equity compensation plans:

Number of securitie
remaining available fc

Number of securitie Weighted-average  fyture issuance und
to be issued upon exerc exercise price ¢ equity compensation pla
of outstanding option:  outstanding option (excluding securitie
Plan Categor warrants and right warrants and right  reflected in column (a

(@) (b) (©

Equity compensation plans approved

security holder: 7,234,56€ $ 2.40 244,698(1)
Equity compensation plans not approvec

security holder: — — —
Total 7,234,566 $ 2.40 244,698

(1) Subject to certain adjustments, December 27, 201, we currently are able to issue a maximur
7,805,566 shares of common stock pursuant to avgeesided under our Amended and Restated 2006 Equity
Incentive Plan. That maximum number will automdlycencrease on the first day of each calendar Yogar
the lesser of (i) 5.0% of the number of sharesoofimon stock that are issued and outstanding dedirst
day of the calendar year, and (ii) 1,200,000 shafesmmon stock, subject to adjustment for certain
corporate action:

See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants, included in Part 1V, Item 15 of this Report
for additional information on equity compensatidars.

Depar ture of Director

On March 23, 2015, Thomas Lagatta notified the Camgghat he would not stand for re-election to the
Board of Directors at the 2015 Annual Meeting afckholders. Mr. Lagatta will remain on the Boardiluthe
date of the Annual Meeting. Mr. Lagatta’s decisiefiects his desire to focus more of his time BO®f
Numecent, Inc. and was not the result of any desamgent regarding the Company’s operations, polaries
practices.
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Iltem 7. Management’ s Discussion and Analysis &inancial Condition and Results of Operation s

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should bad
in conjunction with our audited consolidated fina@istatements and the related notes included éisesvin this
Form 10 - K.

This report contains forward-looking statementsameling future events and our future
performance. These forward-looking statementsheviasks and uncertainties that could cause actaallts to
differ materially from those expected or projectdthese risks and uncertainties include, but argingted to
risks associated with the launch and commerciatess of our products, programs and technologiesstitcess
of product partnerships; continuing developmenglijigation and volume production of HyperVault,
EXPRESSvault™, NVvault™, HyperCloud® and VLP Plax&DIMM; the timing and magnitude of the
continued decrease in sales to one of our key mestgy our ability to leverage our NVvault™ and
EXPRESSvault™ technology into a more diverse custbase; our need to raise additional capital and o
ability to obtain financing when necessary; theidiyp-changing nature of technology; risks assodiangth
intellectual property, including patent infringentditigation against us as well as the costs angredictability of
litigation over infringement of our intellectual gperty and the possibility of our patents beingkeerined or
reviewed by the USPTO and PTAB; volatility in thieipg of DRAM ICs and NAND; changes in and unciatia
of customer acceptance of, and demand for, outiegiproducts and products under development, atioly
uncertainty of and/or delays in product orders gmdduct qualifications; delays in our and our cusiers’
product releases and development; introductionsesf products by competitors; changes in end-userasel for
technology solutions; our ability to attract andain skilled personnel; our reliance on suppliefsatical
components and vendors in the supply chain; fluzna in the market price of critical componentgpkring
industry standards; and the political and regulat@nvironment in the PRC. Other risks and uncetias are
described under the heading “Risk Factors” in Phritem A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Eptas
required by law, we undertake no obligation to sevor update publicly any forward-looking staterseot any
reason.

Overview

We design, manufacture and sell a wide varietyigti performance, logic-based memory subsystems for
the global datacenter, storage and high-performeosguting markets. Our memory subsystems consist o
combinations of dynamic random access memory iatedrcircuits (‘DRAM ICs” or “DRAM”), NAND flash
memory (“NAND"), application-specific integratedrciits (“ASICs”) and other components assemblegramted
circuit boards (“PCBs”). We primarily market andl sir products to leading original equipment mautdirer
(“OEM”) customers, hyperscale datacenter operandsstorage vendors. Our solutions are targeted at
applications where memory plays a key role in nmgeslystem performance requirements. We leveragetiio
of proprietary technologies and design technigimetiding combining discrete semiconductor techgias from
third parties such as DRAM and NAND flash to funotias one, efficient planar design, and alterngtaekaging
techniques to deliver memory subsystems with persig, high density, small form factor, high signétgrity,
attractive thermal characteristics, reduced powasemption and low cost per bit. Our NVvault™ protds the
first to offer both DRAM and NAND in a standard fioffactor memory subsystem as a persistent du@ién |
memory module (“DIMM”) in mission critical applicans. Our HyperCloud technology incorporates our
patented rank multiplication and load reductiorhtesfogies. We also have pending and issued patem&sing
fundamental aspects of hybrid memory DIMM desidra tncorporate combinations of DRAM and/or NAND
flash, such as our NVvault™ product. We are fodusme monetizing our patent portfolio through ousgrcts
business and, where appropriate, through licersiramgements with third parties that wish to incogpe our
patented technologies in their products.

Our high performance memory subsystems are dewtiogeart using our proprietary technologies, and
we believe that the strength of our intellectualgarty rights will be important to the success af business. We
utilize patent and trade secret protection, comtfiiddity agreements with customers and partnessjaure and
invention assignment agreements with employeesansultants and other contractual provisions toeatcour
intellectual property and other proprietary infotina. We intend to vigorously defend and monetiae o
intellectual property through licensing arrangerseartd, where necessary, enforcement actions adjaosst
entities using our patented solutions in their patg. We may seek injunctive relief in the cowenforcing our
intellectual property rights in certain instancasd in other instances we may enter into settlemelitense
agreements, which can be structured in a
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variety of ways, including one-time paid up licemse on-going royalty arrangements. However, ¢iarts may
not result in significant revenues from these miaaéon efforts.

Consistent with the concentrated nature of the @EbMomer base in our target markets, a small number
of large customers have historically accountedfsignificant portion of our net sales. Three comos
represented approximately 20%, 14 % and 19% ioheusales in 201 4 and two cu stomers represented
approximate ly 45 % and 15 % of our net sales h20

Key Business Metrics

The following describes certain line items in oansolidated statements of operations that are itapbor
to management’s assessment of our financial pedocet

Net Sales.Net sales consist primarily of sales of our highfprmance memory subsystems, net of a
provision for estimated returns under our rightegfirn policies, which generally range up to 30sdaye
generally do not have long-term sales agreemenisour customers. Although OEM customers typicphgvide
us with non-binding forecasts of future product deshover specific periods of time, they generalhce orders
with us approximately two weeks in advance of solestidelivery. Selling prices are typically negteh
monthly, based on competitive market conditions tiedcurrent price of DRAM ICs and NAND. Purchaseens
generally have no cancellation or rescheduling e paovisions. We often ship our products to oustomers’
international manufacturing sites. All of our saleslate, however, are denominated in U.S. dol\&es also sell
excess component inventory of DRAM ICs and NANRIigtributors and other users of memory ICs. Compbne
inventory sales are a relatively small percentdgesbsales as a result of our efforts to diverbifyh our customer

and product line bases. This diversification effas also allowed us to use components iildarwange of
memory subsystems. We expect that component inesédes will continue to represent a minimal portof our
net sales in future periods.

Cost of Sales. Our cost of sales includes the cost of matgriabor and other manufacturing costs,
depreciation and amortization of equipment, invent@luation provisions, stock-based compensatiod,
occupancy costs and other allocated fixed costs.ORAM ICs and NAND incorporated into our products
constitute a significant portion of our cost ofesgland thus our cost of sales will fluctuate basethe current
price of DRAM ICs and NAND. We attempt to pass tigh such DRAM IC and NAND flash memory cost
fluctuations to our customers by frequently renigioly pricing prior to the placement of their plase orders.
However, the sales prices of our memory subsystamslso fluctuate due to competitive situation®lated to
the pricing of DRAM ICs and NAND, which affects gomargins. In addition, we have experienced spestaf
DRAM and flash required for our HyperCloud® and Nt products from time to time, which can cause
disruptions in our revenues and gross profits diditéon, the gross margin on our sales of any excemponent
DRAM IC and NAND inventory is much lower than theogs margin on our sales of our memory subsystams.
a result, fluctuations in DRAM IC and NAND invenyosales as a percentage of our overall sales doylact our
overall gross margin. We assess the valuation ofrmentories on a quarterly basis and record &igian to cost
of sales as necessary to reduce inventories tiowes of cost or net realizable value.

Research and Developmeresearch and development expense consists pgroagmployee and
independent contractor compensation and related,sisck-based compensation, non-recurring engineering

fees, computeraided design software licenses, reference desigelajament costs, depreciation or rental of
evaluation equipment, and occupancy and otherathdcoverhead costs. Also included in research and
development expense are the costs of material eerth@ad related to the production of engineerimgpdas of
new products under development or products usedysal the research and development process. Gatiomiers
typically do not separately compensate us for deaigl engineering work involved in developing
application-specific products for them. All research and depelent costs are expensed as incurred . W e
anticipate that research and development expeedituill increase in future periods as we seek pmeg new
product opportunities, increase our activitiestegldao new and emerging markets and continue teldpv
additional proprietary technologies.
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Intellectual Property Legal Feedntellectual Property Legal Fees consists of liéggs incurred for
patent filings and protection. We anticipate tim¢liectual property legal fees will increase itufe periods as we
seek to protect our patent portfolio.

Selling, General and Administrativ&elling, general and administrative expenses sbpsimarily of
employee salaries and related costs, stock-basedersation, independent sales representative caioms
professional services, promotional and other sgkind marketing expenses, and occupancy and dibeatad
overhead costs. A significant portion of our sgleffort is directed at building relationships wilfieMs and other
customers and working through the product appramdlqualification process with them. Therefore,dbst of
material and overhead related to products manutedtior qualification is included in selling expessin order
to conserve capital resources in light of the year year revenue decline, we have reduced oungetleneral
and administrative expenditures by eliminating loeaht and other related expenses.

Provision for Income TaxesThe federal statutory rate was 3 5 % for fiscakyg€14 and 2013. Our
effective tax rate differs from the statutory rdtee to the company providing a full valuation aliowe against net
deferred tax assets, and accordingly did not reézegan income tax benefit related to losses incurre

Recent Developments
Public Offering of Common Stock

On February 24, 2015, we completed a registeraddommitment underwritten public offering (“2015
Offering”) of shares of our common stock. In thd 2@ffering, we issued and sold to Craig-Hallum i&dp
Group LLC (the “Underwriter”) 8,846,154 shares ofranon stock pursuant to an underwriting agreenueaed
as of February 19, 2015, by and between us andrderwriter, at a price of $1.209 per share, inicigd
1,153,846 shares resulting from the Underwritexisreise in full of its option to purchase additibshares of
common stock to cover over-allotments. The prigespare to the public in the 2015 Offering was $1p8r
share. The net proceeds from the 2015 Offering wppeoximately $10.4 million, after deducting ungligting
discounts and commissions and estimated offeripgrses.

Amendments to Loan Agreement and Monetization Le#greement

On February 17, 2015, we entered into that ceBatond Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement
with Fortress Credit Opportunities | LP (the “Lenfiean affiliate of Fortress Investment Group Lia@d
successor to DBD Credit Funding LLC (the “Loan Agrent Amendment”). The Loan Agreement Amendment
amended certain terms of that certain Loan andridg@greement, dated as of July 18, 2013, by agtsvben us
and the Lender (as amended, the “Loan Agreemesltiigh provides for certain tranched term loans l@awvilving
loans from the Lender to us. Among other things,ltban Agreement Amendment (1) removes conditioribe
availability of the second tranche of term loandemthe Loan Agreement (the “IP Milestone Term Ls3amvhich
previously required us to achieve certain perforteamilestones relating to intellectual property terat (the “IP
Monetization Milestones”) and (2) required the Lentb lend us all amounts under the IP Milestonerileoans
on February 17, 2015. In connection with the Logme®ment Amendment, we paid a facility fee of $60,®
the Lender and an amendment and restructuringgfieg &0 $20,000. We are obligated to annually pathé
Lender a fully earned, non-refundable managemeaht@onitoring fee of $20,000.

Concurrent with the execution of the Loan Agreemfamendment, (1) we and Drawbridge Special
Opportunities Fund LP, a Delaware limited partngrsimd an affiliate of the Lender (“Drawbridgeitered into
that certain First Amendment to Monetization Leigreement (the “Letter Agreement Amendment”) a2)dwe
issued to Drawbridge a new warrant certificate (tew Warrant Certificate”) in replacement of theginal
warrant certificate (the “Original Warrant Certdie”) we previously issued to Drawbridge on July 2&1L3 in
connection with the execution of the Loan Agreem&he Letter Agreement Amendment amends certamnsterf
that certain Monetization Letter Agreement, datedfaJuly 18, 2013, with Drawbridge (the “Letterrdgment”),
which provides, subject to certain limitations amasirictions, that Drawbridge may be entitled tarshin certain
of our monetization revenues related to our patertfolio (“Patent Monetization Revenues”). The teet
Agreement Amendment (1) adds certain
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patents relating to our NVvadlt  product line to gaent portfolio from which Patent Monetizatiom@rues
can be derived, (2) subject to certain limitatians restrictions, allows Drawbridge to share ireRtat
Monetization Revenues arising in connection wittiaia litigation and (3) modifies the percentaged a
maximum amounts that Drawbridge may be entitleanier the Letter Agreement with respect to Patent
Monetization Revenues. The New Warrant Certifigaia substantially the same form as the Originalrk&nt
Certificate (which was cancelled in connection itk issuance of the New Warrant Certificate) othan to
remove the restrictions upon exercise containedearOriginal Warrant Certificate with respect toaggregate of
659,340 shares of our Common Stock under the Giighitarrant Certificate relating to our achieving 1P
Monetization Milestones and our borrowing of amsumder the IP Milestone Term Loans.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegts in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the U.S. requires us to makmates and assumptions that affect the repartedints of
assets and liabilities and disclosures of contihgsesets and liabilities at the date of the codat#id financial
statements and the reported amounts of net satesxaenses during the reporting period. By theiureg these
estimates and assumptions are subject to an irttedegree of uncertainty. We base our estimatesiohistorical
experience, knowledge of current conditions andbaliefs of what could occur in the future considgravailable
information. We review our estimates on an on ngdiasis. Actual results may differ from theseneates, which
may result in material adverse effects on our dpegaesults and financial position. We believe thiéowing
critical accounting policies involve our more sijgant assumptions and estimates used in the @tparof our
consolidated financial statements:

Revenue RecognitioWe recognize revenues in accordance with the EiabAccounting Standards
Board (“ FASB ") Accounting Standards Codificati¢“ ASC ") Topic 605. Accordingly, we recognize
revenues when there is persuasive evidence tratramgement exists , product delivery and accepthage
occurred, the sales price is fixed or determinadohe, collectability of the resulting receivableéasonably
assured.

We generally use customer purchase orders anditracts as evidence of an arrangement. Delivery
occurs when goods are shipped for customers witd EQipping Point terms and upon receipt for custsmeth
FOB Destination terms, at which time title and rigkoss transfer to the customer. Shipping documare used
to verify delivery and customer acceptance. Wesssadether the sales price is fixed or determinbased on
the payment terms associated with the transactidmdoether the sales price is subject to refundi@uners are
generally allowed limited rights of return for up30 days, except for sales of excess componeaniories,
which contain no right-of-return privileges. Estiteé returns are provided for at the time of sakelan
historical experience or specific identificationasf event necessitating a reserve. We offer a atdmtoduct
warranty to our customers and have no other pastvent obligations. We assess collectability basethe
creditworthiness of the customer as determinedrégiitchecks and evaluations, as well as the cuestem
payment history.

All amounts billed to customers related to shippamgl handling are classified as net sales, wHileoats
incurred by us for shipping and handling are cfassias cost of sales.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. Our financial instruments consist principalfycash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payatdeyed expenses and debt instruments. Thedie wf our
cash equivalents is determined based on quoteespiricactive markets for identical assets or Lévieputs. We
recognize transfers between Levels 1 through Beofdir value hierarchy at the beginning of theoréipg
period. We believe that the carrying values obttler financial instruments approximate their eatrfair values
due to their nature and respective durations.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We perform credit evaluations of our customérsincial condition
and limit the amount of credit extended to our cs#rs as deemed necessary, but generally requaellateral.
We evaluate the collectability of accounts recel@ddased on a combination of factors. In casesawwerare
aware of circumstances that may impair a spedifstamer’s ability to meet its financial obligatiosighsequent to
the original sale, we will record an allowance agaamounts due, and thereby reduce the net rezaani
receivable to the amount that we reasonably beilée collected. For all other customers, weorec
allowances for doubtful accounts based
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primarily on the length of time the receivables past due based on the terms of the originatingséetion, the
current business environment and our historicaéggpce. Uncollectible accounts are charged ag#iast
allowance for doubtful accounts when all cost @ffeccommercial means of collection have been
exhausted. Generally, our credit losses have Wwébin our expectations and the provisions esthblis
However, we cannot guarantee that we will contitauexperience credit loss rates similar to thosdane
experienced in the past.

Our accounts receivable are highly concentratechgracsmall number of customers, and a significant
change in the liquidity or financial position of®nf these customers could have a material adeffieset on the
collectability of our accounts receivable, our ldjty and our future operating results.

Inventories. We value our inventories at the lower of the aatoat to purchase or manufacture the
inventory or the net realizable value of the ineent Cost is determined on an average cost baschwh
approximates actual cost on a first - in, firstt basis and includes raw materials, labor and fiaaiwring
overhead. At each balance sheet date, we evalodiegeinventory quantities on hand and record aipion for
excess quantities and obsolescence. Among othersaove consider historical demand and forecad¢edand in
relation to the inventory on hand, competitivenafsgroduct offerings, market conditions and prodifetcycles
when determining obsolescence and net realizalile vin addition, we consider changes in the markate of
DRAM ICs and NAND in determining the net realizakibdue of our raw material inventory. Once estétaiy
any write downs are considered permanent adjusgnterthe cost basis of our excess or obsolete fories.

A significant decrease in demand for our produotddresult in an increase in the amount of excess
inventory quantities on hand. In addition, ourresties of future product demand may prove to becimage, in
which case we may have understated or overstadgortivision required for excess and obsolete irorgntn the
future, if our inventories are determined to bergskied, we would be required to recognize addii@xpense in
our cost of sales at the time of such determinatideewise, if our inventories are determined toumelervalued,
we may have over - reported our costs of salesanius periods and would be required to recogadditional
gross profit at the time such inventories are doldddition, should the market value of DRAM IGSNAND
decrease significantly, we may be required to loseerselling prices to reflect the lower currenstoof our raw
materials. If such price decreases reduce thesabrable value of our inventories to less thancmst, we would
be required to recognize additional expense ircost of sales in the same period. Although we nesfezy
reasonable effort to ensure the accuracy of oechsts of future product demand, any significaantinipated
changes in demand, technological developmentseamtirket value of DRAM ICs or NAND could have a
material effect on the value of our inventories andreported operating results.

Deferred Financing Costs, Debt Discount and Detddddebt-Related Warrants Costs incurred to
issue debt are deferred and included in debt isgsuemsts in the accompanying consolidated baldmest sWe
amortize debt issuance costs over the expecteddktime related debt using the effective interesthrad. Debt
discounts related to the relative fair value of amyrants issued in conjunction with the debt amrded as a
reduction to the debt balance and accreted ovesxpected term of the debt to interest expenseubmeffective
interest method.

Impairment of Long - Lived Asseté/e evaluate the recoverability of the carryingueadf long - lived
assets held and used in our operations for impairioe at least an annual basis or whenever evemtsamges in
circumstances indicate that their carrying valug mat be recoverable. When such factors and cirtamoss
exist, we compare the projected undiscounted futateash flows associated with the related assgoop of
assets over their estimated useful lives agaiedt thspective carrying amount. These projectearéutash flows
may vary significantly over time as a result ofreased competition, changes in technology, fluzoatin
demand, consolidation of our customers and redogtio average selling prices. If the carrying vatue
determined not to be recoverable from future ofyegatash flows, the asset is deemed impaired and an
impairment loss is recognized to the extent theyoag value exceeds the estimated fair value obset. The fair
value of the asset or asset group is based on make when available, or when unavailable, ocdisited
expected cash flows.

Warranty ReserveWe offer product warranties generally ranging frone to three years, depending on
the product and negotiated terms of purchase agmtsnwith our customers. Such warranties requite vspair
or replace defective product returned to us duttegwarranty period at no cost to the customer.rvidies are
not offered on

38



Table of Content
sales of excess inventory. Our estimates for wiyrarelated costs are recorded at the time of saledtase

historical and estimated future product returngated expected repair or replacement costs. Winille sosts
have historically been consistent between periadsdthin our expectations and the provisions distadd,
unexpected changes in failure rates could haveteriabadverse impact on us, requiring additionatranty
reserves, and adversely affecting our gross paiafitgross margins.

Stock-Based Compensatiowe account for equity issuances to non-employeesg¢ordance with ASC
Topic 505. All transactions in which goods or $eeg are the consideration received for the issuahequity
instruments are accounted for based on the faireval the consideration received or the fair vaifithe equity
instrument issued, whichever is more reliably mestsie. The measurement date used to determinaitheafue
of the equity instrument issued is the earliethef date on which the third-party performance isglete or the
date on which it is probable that performance ogitur.

In accordance with ASC Topic 718, employee andcttirestock-based compensation expense recognized
during the period is based on the value of theigrodf stock-based payment awards that is ultigagpected to
vest during the period. Given that stock-basedpmsmation expense recognized in the consolidad¢ehséents of
operations is based on awards ultimately expecte@dt, it has been reduced for estimated foriestuASC Topic
718 requires forfeitures to be estimated at the tifngrant and revised, if necessary, in subseqerads if
actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. @stimated average forfeiture rates are basedsborical
forfeiture experience and estimated future forfeitu

The fair value of common stock option awards to leyges and directors is calculated using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. The Black-Scholeslehoequires subjective assumptions regarding éustock
price volatility and expected time to exercisenglovith assumptions about the risk-free interest aad expected
dividends, all of which affect the estimated fa@tues of our common stock option awards. The exgetetrm of
options granted is calculated as the average of/eighted vesting period and the contractual etipinadate of
the option. This calculation is based on the bafbor method permitted by the SEC in instancegevtine
vesting and exercise terms of options granted werédin conditions and where limited historical reige data is
available. The expected volatility is based onhtis¢orical volatility of our common stock. Thekifree rate
selected to value any particular grant is basetheJ.S. Treasury rate that corresponds to thectsgeerm of
the grant effective as of the date of the grane &kpected dividends assumption is based on arjiand our
expectations regarding dividend payouts. We evaltie assumptions used to value our common staanop
awards on a quarterly basis. If factors changevemdmploy different assumptions, stock- based cosgteon
expense may differ significantly from what we hageorded in prior periods. Compensation expense fo
common stock option awards with graded vestingdwles is recognized on a straight-line basis dveréquisite
service period for the last separately vestingiponf the award , provided that the accumulatest mcognized
as of any date at least equals the value of thiedg®rtion of the award .

We recognize the fair value of restricted stock rasassued to employees and outside directorsak-st
based compensation expense on a straight-line tmaesighe vesting period for the last separatesting portion
of the awards. Fair value is determined as tHferdifice between the closing price of our commocksbtm the
grant date and the purchase price of the restrattezk award, if any, reduced by expected forfegur

If there are any modifications or cancellationshaf underlying vested or unvested stock-based award
we may be required to accelerate, increase or tangeemaining unearned stock-based compensatjmnse,
or record additional expense for vested stock-basedds. Future stock-based compensation expedse a
unearned stock- based compensation may incredise &xtent that we grant additional common stodioop or
other stock-based awards.

Income TaxesDeferred tax assets and liabilities are recognieeéflect the estimated future tax effects
of future deductible or taxable amounts attribigablevents that have been recognized on a cunrilagisis in
the condensed consolidated financial statemeritsjlated at enacted tax rates for expected penbdsalization.
We regularly review our deferred tax assets foovecability and establish a valuation allowancegewh
determined necessary, based on historical taxabterie, projected future taxable income, and theeteg
timing of the reversals of existing temporary diffeces. Because we have operated at a loss fotemed
period of time, we did not recognize deferred tssets related to losses incurred in 201 4 or 20In3he future,
if we realize a deferred tax asset
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that currently carries a valuation allowance, wey meord an income tax benefit or a reduction tmime tax
expense in the period of such realization.

ASC Topic 740 prescribes a recognition thresholiimeasurement requirement for the financial
statement recognition of a tax position that haliaken or is expected to be taken on a tax ratulmalso
provides guidance on de-recognition, classificatioterest and penalties, accounting in interimaquks,

disclosure, and transition. Under ASC Topic 740ma&y only recognize or continue to recognize tavitjpos that
meet a “more likely than not” threshold.

The application of tax laws and regulations is sabjo legal and factual interpretation, judgmerd a
uncertainty. Tax laws and regulations themselvesabject to change as a result of changes il fistiay,
changes in legislation, the evolution of regulagi@nd court rulings. Therefore, the actual liapildr U.S. or
foreign taxes may be materially different from estimates, which could result in the need to reediditional
tax liabilities or potentially reverse previousicorded tax liabilities.

Interest expenselnterest expense consists primarily of interesbaiated with our loan agreement with
Fortress, an affiliate of Fortress Investment Grbu@ and successor DBD Credit Funding, LLC, inchglfees
related to the term loans, accretion of debt diestand amortization of debt issuance costs. Wegeize
accretion of debt discount and amortization ofriese costs using the effective interest method.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consolidatedestaents of operations as a percentage of netfeales
the years indicated:

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢
2014 2013
Net sales 100% 100%
Cost of sale: 79 87
Gross profi 21 13
Operating expense
Research and developm 25 20
Intellectual property legal fes 32 9
Selling, general and administrati 35 27
Total operating expens 93 56
Operating los: (72) (43)
Other expense, ne
Interest expense, n (8) (4)
Other income, ne - -
Total other expense, n (8) (4)
Loss before provision for income t (80) 47
Provision for income taxe > =
Net loss (80)os (A7)%
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Year Ended December 27, 2014 Compared t o the Yamaled December 28, 2013 Net Sales, Cost of Salds an
Gross Profit.

The following table presents net sales, cost afssahd gross profit for the years ended December 27
2014 and December 28, 2013 (in thousands, excemages):

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢ %
2014 2013 Change Change
Net sales $ 19,195 $ 23,048 $(3,853 (A7)%
Cost of sale: 15,231 19,943 (4,712 (24)%
Gross profit $ 3,964 $ 3,105 $ 859 28%
Gross margi[ 20.7% 13.5% 7.2 o

Net Sales. The decrease in net sales for 2014 as compared®@At8 resulted primarily from decreases
of approximately (i) $3.2 million in sales of NVM&' non-volatile cache systems to Dell, (ii) $2.2lion of
PERC sales to Dell, (iii) $2.0 million of VLP sal@g) $0.8 million in sales of Planar X and (v) $0million of
flash sales. These decreases were partially difsah increase of $4.9 million in sales of NVvaul&itd
EXPRESSvault™ sales to customers other than Dell.

Approximately 61% of our NVvault™ sales were maal®ell in 2013. Since Intel’s launch of its
Romley platform in the first quarter of 2012, weperenced a rapid decline in DDR2 NVvault™ saleBé&dl. We
expect that future sales of NVvault™ products faorporation into PERC 7 servers will be minima@his
reduction in sales has had a significant impaaturrevenue and gross profit. We expect an inorgas
percentage of our revenue to come from sales of PRRvault, EXPRESSvault™ and flash to a more digers
customer base.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin. The increase in gross profits for 2014 as coegpto 2013 is primarily the
result of a change in our product mix, as we exeed increased sales of NVvault™ (a relativelyh@ignargin
product) to customers other than Dell in the fiser ended December 27, 2014.

Research and Development.

The following table presents research and developeeenses for the years ended December 27, 2014
and December 28, 2013 (in thousands, except pages):

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢ %
2014 2013 Change Change
Research and developm $ 4835 $ 4,568 $ 267 6 %

The increase in research and development expeng810t as compared to 201 3 resulted primarilgnfro
increases of $ 0 .4 million in professional ands@lie services partially offset by a decrease pf@pmately $0.1
million in headcount costs and related overheadtawl expenses .
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Intellectual Property Legal Fees.

The following table presents intellectual propdetyal fees for the years ended December 27, 20d4 an
December 28, 2013 (in thousands, except percentages

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢€ %
2014 2013 Change Change
Intellectual property legal fet $ 6,138 $ 2,115 $4,023 190%

The increase in intellectual property legal feesX@14 as compared to 2013 resulted from increase i
legal fees incurred to protect our intellectualgandy.

Selling, General and Administrative.

The following table presents selling, general adichiaistrative expenses for the years ended December
27, 2014 and December 28, 2013 (in thousands, epeepentages):

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢ %
2014 2013 Change Change
Selling, general and administrati $ 6,796 $ 6,267 $ 529 8%

Selling, general and administrative expenses iseeay approximately $0.5 million in 2014 as
compared to 2013. These increases were primaréyta an increase of $0.7 million in headcounts;ost
commissions and related overhead and travel expaifset by decreases of (i) $0.1 million in adiséng and
product evaluation expenses and (ii) $0.1 milliomarily related to outside consultants and sadpsasentatives.

Other Expense , Net .

The following table presents other expense, nethferyears ended December 27, 2014 and December 28,
2013 (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢ %
2014 2013 Change Change
Interest expense, n $ 1,574 $ (932, $ (642 69 %
Other income, ne - 20 (20) (100%
Total other expense, n $ 1,574 $ (912, $ (662 73%

The increases in interest expense for 2014 as aaahpa 2013 is primarily due to twelve months of
interest expense on the outstanding principal lsaksim 2014 versus six months in 2013 along wigh th
amortization of debt discount and debt issuances@ssociated with our term debt pursuant to cam Egreement
with Fortress Credit Opportunities | LP (“Fortresa’s successor to DBD Credit Funding, LLC , whigh w
received on July 18, 2013.
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Income Tax Provision.

The followi ng table presents the provision fordme taxes for the years ended December 27, 2014 and
December 28, 2013 (in thousands, except percentages

Year Ended
December 27 December 2€ %
2014 2013 Change Change
$ 2 3% 9 % (1 (78)%

The federal statutory rate was 35% for 201 4 arid20 In both 201 4 and 201 3, we continued to
provide a full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets, which consist primarily ofaptrating loss
carry-forwards. In 201 4 and 201 3, our effectawerate differed from the 35% statutory rate @ity due to the
valuation allowance on newly generated loss casryéirds. For further discussion see Note 6 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Raritem 15 of this Report.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically financed our operations prilgahrough issuances of equity and debt securéies$
cash generated from operations. We have also fungiedperations with a revolving line of credit aedm loans
under our bank credit facility and capitalized kablig ations.

Working Capital and Cash and Cash Equivalents.

The following table presents working capital andlcand cash equivalents (in thousands):

December 27 December 2¢

2014 2013
Working capital $ 7,907 $ 10,647
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,040 $ 6,701

(1) Included in working capite

Our working capital decreased in 2014 primariaassult of reductions of (i) accounts receivalfle o
approximately $3.8 million and (ii) inventory legaby approximately $0.7 million offset by (i) thecrease in the
current portion of long term debt of $2.2 millionda(ii) an increase of cash and cash equivalertsestricted
cash of $4.0 million.

As a result of the completion of the 2015 Offerdegcribed above, and the receipt of net proceeds of

approximately $10. 4 million, our working capital af the date of this Annual Report is materiaiiyhler than it
was as of December 27, 2014 .
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Cash Provided and Used in the Years Ended Decen2ife2014 and December 28, 2013 .

The following table summarizes our cash flows fa periods indicated (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢&
2014 2013

Net cash provided by (used in)
Operating activitie: $ (6,401 $ (4,021
Investing activities (138 330
Financing activitie: 10,878 2,637
Net change in cash and cash equival $ 4339 $ (1,054

Operating Activities.Net cash used in operating activities for the ygated December 27, 2014 was
primarily the result of a net loss of approximat$lg5.4 million offset by (i) approximately $ 5iillion in net
cash provided by changes in operating assets alpitlitles, primarily accounts receivable, restrictash,
accounts payable, accrued payroll and relateditiabiand inventory and (ii) approximately $ 4.@lion in net
non-cash operating expenses, mainly comprisedmed@&ation and amortization, amortization of dektdunt
and debt issuance costs and stock- based commansati

Net cash used in operating activities for the yrated December 28, 2013 was primarily the resut of
net loss of approximately $10.8 million offset ljygpproximately $3.1 million in net cash provideglchanges in
operating assets and liabilities, primarily accseueteivable, restricted cash, accounts payabteyed payroll
and related liabilities and inventory and (i) apgmately $3.7 million in net non-cash operatingenses, mainly
comprised of depreciation and amortization, amatitin of debt discount and debt issuance cost#atiapd
payment in kind interest and stock-based compensati

Accounts receivable decreased by approximately8$ @iillion at December 27, 2014 , compared with
December 28, 2013, primarily as a result of acrefgse in our net sales of $ 5.2 million in therfloguarter of
201 4 as compared with the fourth quarter of 201 3

Inventories decreased by approximately $0.7 millmmarily because we utilized inventory on haod t
support our sales.

Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities for tkaryended December 27, 2014 was
primarily the result of the purchase of $0.1 milliof property and equipment. Net cash providedbgsting
activities for the year ended December 28, 2048s primarily the result of our sale of an auctiate security
resulting in proceeds of $0.4 million.

Financing Activities.

Net cash provided by financing activities for theayended December 27 , 2014 was primarily thdtresu
of our February 2014 Public Offering, which raised proceeds of approximately $10. 3 million andregeipt
of an aggregate of approximately $0.8 million iogeeds from the partial exercise of an outstandiagant for
the purchase of our common stock and the exer€ismployee stock options in February 2014.

Net cash provided by financing activities for theayended December 28, 2013 was primarily thetresul
of (i) net proceeds from a term loan with Fortre6$2.5 million, described below under the captapital
Resources and (ii) $1.2 million in net proceedsiftbe sale of 1,098,902 shares of our common stockigh a
registered public offering, described below under¢aption Capital Resources, offset by repaymienaink debt,
capital leases and other notes payable of $1.0omill
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Capital Resources .

On October 31, 2009, we entered into a credit ageee with Silicon Valley Bank, which was most
recently amended on July 18, 2013 (as amendedSWig Credit Agreement”). Currently, the SVB Credit
Agreement provides that we can borrow up to thedesf (i) 80% of eligible accounts receivable, or
(i) $5.0 million.

In May 2012, Silicon Valley Bank consolidated outsianding term loans and extended additional
credit, resulting in a combined balance of $3.3iamil(the “Consolidated Term Loan”). The Consolethi{Term
Loan was payable in 36 installments of $97,222jregg December 2012, with interest at a rate ohprplus
2.50%. Interest was payable monthly from the daferaling through final payoff of the loan. Onyul8, 2013,
as part of our amendment of the SVB Credit Agredraad following our receipt of additional loan fimang
obtained through Fortress Credit Opportunities lasBsuccessor to DBD Credit Funding, LLC, as furthe
described below, the term loan and outstandingdstevas paid in full.

Prior to the May 2012 amendment, the SVB Creditegnent contained an overall sublimit of
$10.0 million to collateralize our contingent olaltgpns under letters of credit and other finans@lices.
Amounts outstanding under the overall sublimit tithe amount available pursuant to the SVB Credit
Agreement. As a result of the May 2012 amendniettgrs of credit and other financial services wasdonger
subject to borrowing base sublimits and did noticedthe amount that could be borrowed under thavieg line
of credit. The July 18, 2013 amendment requirderebf credit to be secured by cash. At Decembg@14 ,
letters of credit in the amount of $ 0 . 7 millimere outstanding.

Following its amendment on July 18, 2013, the S\BdZl Agreement permits the debt financing and
security interests contemplated under our Loan &gent with Fortress (described below) and releeseain
patents and related assets from the collateratsuty) SVB'’s security interest under the SVB Crédjteement.
Additionally, pursuant to the SVB Credit Agreemeadyances under the revolving line now accrue ésteat a
rate equal to SVB’s most recently announced “priate” plus 2.75%. The SVB Credit Agreement alsexet!
our tangible net worth covenant and waived cegaients of default in connection therewith. Certaiporting
requirements under the SVB Credit Agreement werdified while certain reserves with respect to tbertwing
base and the availability of revolving loans wemmoved. On September 30, 2014, the SVB Creditékgent
was amended again to further modify our tangibtearmeth covenant and to extend the maturity dateuf
revolving line under the SVB Credit Agreement t@®enber 29, 2015.

We made no borrowings under the Silicon Valley Bl of credit in the year s ended December 27,
2014 and December 27, 2013 . At December 27, a@8i4December 28, 2013 we had borrowing availalulfity
approximately $ 0.9 million and $ 4.0 million, resgively.

Loan Agreement with Fortress Credit Opportuniti¢sl

Concurrent with our amendment of the SVB Creditefgmnent, on July 18, 2013, we entered into a loan
and security agreement (as amended, the “Loan Agre), with Fortress Credit Opportunities | LPDalaware
limited liability company (“Fortress”), as successmDBD Credit Funding LLC, providing for up td@ million
in term loans and up to $5 million in revolving fisa The term loans are available in an initiah$ilion tranche
(the “Initial Term Loan”) with a second tranchetfre amount of $4 million becoming available upohiaeement
of certain performance milestones relating to lattlal property matters (the “IP Monetization Nilenes” and
such second tranche loan, “IP Milestone Term LaaRie $5 million in revolving loans are availabterartress’s
discretion and subject to customary conditionsgueat. The $6 million Initial Term Loan was futlyawn at
closing on July 18, 2013. Proceeds from the Inifidm Loan were used in part to repay our existimigsolidated
term loan with Silicon Valley Bank. The remaindéisach funds are available to fund our ongoing virayk
capital needs. On February 17, 2015, we amendedodue Agreement to accelerate the availabilityhef term
loan and we borrowed the remaining $4 million inrtéoans.

The loans bear interest at a stated fixed ratd @9 per annum. Until the last business day of sty

2015, the payments on the term loans are interdgtad a cash rate of 7.0% per annum and a payimekitd
deferred cash
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interest rate of 4.0%, which payment-in-kind ingtiig capitalized semi-annually, beginning with Beber 31,
2013. Beginning with the last business day of Batyr 2015, the term loans are amortized with 65%hef
principal amount due in equal monthly installmemter the following seventeen (17) months with ddued
payment equal to 35% of the remaining principal amaf the term loans, plus accrued interest, bpaygble on
July 18, 2016 (the "Maturity Date"). Term loan pants, including the $4 million borrowed on Febyuar,
2015, of approximately $370,000 are due monthlgugh June 18, 2016, with the remaining amount of
approximate ly $4.3 million due on July 18, 2016.

Monetization Letter Agreement

Concurrently with the execution of the Loan Agreaiméhe Company and Drawbridge Special
Opportunities Fund LP (“Drawbridge”) entered intManetization Letter Agreement (as amended, thétére
Agreement”). In connection with the amendmentmltoan Agreement, we also amended the Letter Awgae
on February 17, 2015. The Letter Agreement prayidenong other things, that DBD may be entitleshtare in
certain monetization revenues that we may derivherfuture related to our patent portfolio (thet&ht
Portfolio”). The Patent Portfolio does not incluckrtain patents relating to the NVvault™ prodiret.
Monetization revenues subject to this arrangemettide revenues recognized during the seven yaardkthe
Letter Agreement from amounts (whether charactdrizesettlement payments, license fees, royattéaaages,
or otherwise) actually paid to us or our subsid@gin connection with any assertion of, agreemettmassert, or
license of, the Patent Portfolio (in whole or intpaither (A) in consideration of the grant ofiehse or covenant
not sue, or other immunity with respect to the RaRortfolio, or (B) as a damages award with resfmesuch
assertion of the Patent Portfolio, less certaialléges and expenses (subject to a cap on suchridesxpenses).
Monetization revenues also include the value attable to the Patent Portfolio in any sale of tleen@any during
the seven year term, subject to a maximum amowmhpato Drawbridge. The Letter Agreement alsaires
that the we use commercially reasonable efforfitsue opportunities to monetize the Patent Pastthiring the
term of the Letter Agreement, provided that welaréer no obligation to pursue any such opportunitiat we do
not deem to be in our best interest. Notwithstagdhe foregoing, there can be no assurance thatilee
successful in these efforts, and we may expendiress in pursuit of monetization revenues that matyresult in
any benefit to us.

Sales Agreement with Ascendiant Capital

On November 21, 2011, we entered into a sales emgngewith Ascendiant as sales agent. The sales
agreement with Ascendiant expired on November @132 Prior to its expiration, we were able to éssnd sell
shares of our common stock having an aggregatergffprice of up to $10.0 million. During the tewhthe
agreement, we received net proceeds of approxiynde? million, including approximately $3.9 milicdaised
through the sale of approximately 1,312,669 shdueing the year ended December 29, 2012 and appatdely
$0.2 million through the sale of 240,373 sharesnduthe year ended December 28, 2013.

July 2013 Equity Financing

On July 17, 2013, we entered into a definitive siéies purchase agreement for the sale of comnumokst
and warrant for gross proceeds of $1.0 million negistered public offering securities. The offigrclosed on
July 19, 2013, and we received net proceeds obappately $960,000 after deducting commissions @ffeting
costs. The offering resulted in the issuance @8,902 shares of our common stock and a warrgnirchase up
to an aggregate of 1,098,902 shares of our commook.sThe warrant is exercisable as of the dafesagsuance,
has a term of seven years, and an exercise prise.0 per share. The exercise price and the nuaflearrant
shares issuable upon exercise of warrant is sutgjextjustment in the event of, among other thioggain
transactions our common stock (including withomritation stock splits and stock dividends), andaiar
fundamental transactions (including without limibata merger or other sale-of-company transaction).

February 2014 Public Offering of Common Stock
On February 11, 2014, we completed a registeraddommitment underwritten public offering (the

“2014 Offering”) of shares of our common stock.the 2014 Offering, we issued and sold to Craighttal
Capital Group
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LLC (the “Underwriter”) 8,680,775 shares of comnstack pursuant to an underwriting agreement, daseaf
February 6, 2014, by and between the Company andniderwriter, at a price of $1.2115 per sharduing
1,132,275 shares resulting from the Underwritexisreise in full of its option to purchase additibebares of
common stock to cover over-allotments. The prigeghare to the public in the 2014 Offering was8her
share. The net proceeds from the 2014 Offeringwpproximately $10. 3 million, after deducting enriting
discounts and commissions and estimated offeripgrses.

February 2015 Public Offering of Common Stock

On February 24, 2015, we completed a registereddommitment underwritten public offering of shares
of our common stock (the “2015 Offering”). In thels Offer ing, we issued and sold to the Underwrite
8,846,154 shares of common stock pursuant to aeramiting agreement, dated as of February 19, 26¢ and
between the Company and the Underwriter, at a pii§d.209 per share, including 1,153,846 sharasting
from the Underwriter’s exercise in full of its opti to purchase additional shares of common stockver over-
allotments. The price per share to the public 2815 Offering was $1.30 per share. The net pdsciem the
2015 Offering were approximately $10.4 million,eaftleducting underwriting discounts and commissants
estimated offering expenses.

We have in the past utilized equipment leasingn@eeents to finance certain capital expenditures.
Equipment leases continue to be a financing altethat we expect to pursue in the future.

We believe our existing cash balances (includirgeeds from the 2015 Offering), borrowing
availability under our new bank credit facility, lbowing availability under the SVB Credit Agreememtet of
cash expected to be used in operations, will bigcgrit to meet our anticipated cash needs foeast the next
12 months. Should we need additional capital, wg segk to raise capital through, among other thipgblic
and private equity offerings and debt financingsr fture capital requirements will depend on méagfors,
including our levels of net sales, the timing arteet of expenditures to support research and dpwent
activities, the expansion of manufacturing capalitth domestically and internationally and the gared market
acceptance of our products. Additional funds maybeocavailable on terms acceptable to us, or alf @tlequate
working capital is not available when needed, wg trarequired to significantly modify our busin@ssdel and
operations to reduce spending to a sustainablé leweuld cause us to be unable to execute osiniess plan,
take advantage of future opportunities, or resgorzbmpetitive pressures or customer requireménisay also
cause us to delay, scale back or eliminate sora#l of our research and development programs, oedace or
cease operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements.

We do not have any relationships with unconsold&tstities or financial partnerships, such as iestit
often referred to as structured finance or spguigbose entities, which would have been establiéhethe
purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangaisier other contractually narrow or limited purpssin
addition, we do not have any undisclosed borroworgiebt, and we have not entered into any symthedses.
We are, therefore, not materially exposed to amgrfcing, liquidity, market or credit risk that cdwrise if we
had engaged in such relationships.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Da

The financial statements and supplementary dataregtby this item are included in Part IV, Iltemdf5
this Annual Report.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountés on Accounting and Financial Disclosur e

None.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedure s

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participatiomaf management, including our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, we condadtan evaluation of our disclosure controls andexulares, as
such term is defined in Rule 13a - 15(e) undeilBkehange Act, as of the end of the period coveyetthis report.
Based on this evaluation, our principal executiffeeer and our principal financial officer concludi¢hat our
disclosure controls and procedures were effectiygavide reasonable assurance that informatiominedjto be
disclosed by us in reports we file or submit urttherExchange Act is recorded, processed, summaaized
reported within the time periods specified in th&CS s rules and forms, and is accumulated and aamcated to
our management, including our principal executiffeeer and principal financial officer, as apprage to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Management ’ s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahcia
reporting, as such term is defined in ExchangeRde 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our pifial executive officer and principal financial ic#r, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofrtternal control over financial reporting as ofdeenber 27,
2014 based on the criteria set forth in 1992 Internal Control—Integrated Frameworgsued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comimis8ased on this evaluation, our management aded
that our internal control over financial reportings effective as of December 27, 2014.

This Annual Report does not include an attestagmort of our independent registered public acdognt
firm regarding internal control over financial refing. Management ' s report was not subject tesa¢ttion by our
independent registered public accoun ting firm pans to the rules of the Securities and Exchangar@igsion
that permit us to provide only management ' s rejpothis Annual Report.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control éwancial reporting during the fourth quarter ofl20
that have materially affected, or are reasonakblyito materially affect, our internal control e\faancial
reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Internal Control

A control system, no matter how well conceived apdrated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute
assurance that the objectives of the control systenmet. Further, the benefits of controls mustdresidered
relative to their costs. Because of the inherenitditions in all control systems, no evaluatiorcoftrols can
provide absolute assurance that all control isandsnstances of fraud, if any, have been deteGteese inherent
limitations include the realities that judgmentsiacision making can be faulty, and that breakdosamsoccur
because of simple errors. Additionally, controla ba circumvented by the individual acts of someges, by
collusion of two or more people, or by managememwtiide of the control. The design of any systemanftrols is
also based in part upon certain assumptions abeluikelihood of future events, and there can bassurance
that any design will succeed in achieving its stafeals under all potential future conditions. Besgaof the
inherent limitations in a cost - effective contsgstem, misstatements due to error or fraud mayraoad not be
detected.

In addition, projections of any evaluation of etfeeness to future periods are subject to risks tha
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesdlitions, or the degree of compliance withgbkcies or
procedures may deteriorate.

| tem 9B. Other Informatio n

None .
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PART Il |

Certain information required by this Part Il is itted from this Annual Report as we expect to dile
definitive Proxy Statement for our Annual MeetirfgStockholders pursuant to Regulation 14A of thetl&nge
Act not later than 120 days after the end of thedi year covered by this Annual Report, and aeitdormation
included in the Proxy Statement is incorporatecingoy reference.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporée Governanc e

We incorporate by reference herein the sectiorideghtElection Of Directors,” “Board Of Directors;
Audit Committee Financial Expert,” “Other Informati—Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance” and “Information Concerning our ExeeatOfficers” in our Proxy Statement.

We have adopted a “Code of Business Conduct arid€tihat applies to all employees, including our
executive officers. A copy of the Code of Busin€smduct and Ethics is posted on our Internet site a
www.netlist.com In the event that we make any amendment to,ant@gny waivers of, a provision of the Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to theeip@l executive officer, principal financial oféic, or principal
accounting officer that requires disclosure unggliaable rules promulgated under the Securitietsohc
Exchange Act, we intend to disclose such amendoremtiver and the reasons there for on our Intesitet

Iltem 11. Executive Compensatio n

The information required by this Item is incorpe@herein by reference to the section entitled
“Executive Compensation” and “Directors’ Compensatiin our Proxy Statement.

Iltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficiaDwners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matter s

The information required by this Item is incorpeherein by reference to the section entitled t8gc
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managsditrend “Equity Compensation Plan Information” iaro
Proxy Statement. The information set forth ingketion entitled “Securities Authorized for IsscatUnder
Equity Compensation Plans” included in Part [IntB of this Report is incorporated herein by raiese
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transdmns, and Director Independenc e

The information required by this Item is incorpeherein by reference to the section entitled
“Transactions with Related Persons” in our Proxat&hent.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Service s

The information required by this Item is incorpeherein by reference to the section entitled
“Auditors, Audit Fees and Auditor Independence” &Ddector Independence” in our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule s

(a)(2) Allfinancial statements filed as part bistreport.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfimg
Consolidated Balance She

Consolidated Statements of Operati

Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Fl¢

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem

T
~NO O WN

(@)(2) Exhibits

3.1

3.2

10.1#

10.2#

10.3#

10.4#

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Netlistc.l (incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1 @
registration statement on Form S-1 of the registfidn. 333-136735) filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (tI“SEC”) on October 23, 200t

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Netlist, Inc. (ipooated by reference to exhibit number 3.:
the registrar's Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on December 20, 20:

Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Playettist, Inc. (incorporated by reference
exhibit 10.7 of the registration statement on F&+ of the registrant (No. 33836735) filed witl
the SEC on October 23, 20(

Employment Agreement, dated September 5, 2006ntdyatween Netlist, Inc. and Chun
Hong (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1&efregistration statement on Form S-1 of the
registrant (No. 32-136735) filed with the SEC on September 27, 2(

Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plaetlist, Inc. (incorporated by reference
exhibit 10.1 of the registrant’s Quarterly Repartfeorm 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 12,
2010)

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement issuedypant to the 2006 Equity Incentive Plar
Netlist, Inc. (incorporated by reference to exhilfit2 of the Quarterly Report on Form-Q of
the registrant filed with the SEC on May 17, 20

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of Octobg2@19, by and between Silicon Valley Be
and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated by reference toileitl10.1 of the registrant’s Current Report on
Form &K filed with the SEC on November 2, 20(

Intercompany Subordination Agreement, dated asctdlézr 31, 2009, by and among Silic
Valley Bank, Netlist, Inc., and Netlist Technolog@gxas, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
exhibit 10.2 of the registrant’'s Current Reportrarm 8-K filed with the SEC on November 2,
2009)

Guarantor Security Agreement entered into as obi@rt31, 2009, by and between Silicon Va
Bank and Netlist Technology Texas LP (incorpordtgdeference to exhibit 10.3 of the
registran’s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on November 2, 20(

Intellectual Property Security Agreement entered as of October 31, 2009 by and betw
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated reference to exhibit 10.4 of the registrant’s
Current Report on Forr-K filed with the SEC on November 2, 20(

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into as of Ma#; 2010, by and between Silicon Va
Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated by refererexhibit 10.1 of the registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q filed with the SEC on May 17, 201
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10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17*

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into as of 30n2010, by and between Silicon Val
Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated by refererexhibit 10.2 of the registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q filed with the SEC on August 12, 201

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into as ofedapdr 30, 2010, by and between Sili
Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated by refece to exhibit 10.1 of the registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed with the SEC on November 17, 20:

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into as of May011, by and between Silicon Val
Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated by referermexhibit 10.1 of the registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q filed with the SEC on May 12, 201

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into as of Aug@, 2011, by and between Silic
Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated by refece to exhibit 10.1 of the registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed with the SEC on August 15, 201

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into as of Mgy012, by and between Silicon Val
Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated by referermexhibit 10.1 of the registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q filed with the SEC on May 15, 201

Forbearance to Loan and Security Agreement, dat@ivR27, 2013, by and between Netlist,
and Silicon Valley Bank (incorporated by referetwexhibit 10.32 of the registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended Ddoen?29, 2012 filed with the SEC on

March 29, 2013)

Loan and Security Agreement, dated July 18, Z, by andbetween Netlist, Inc. and DBD Cre:
Funding LLC (incorporated by reference to exhilfitllof the registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q filed with the SEC on November 12, 20:

Monetization Letter Agreement, dated July 18, 2, by andbetween Netlist, Inc. ar
Drawbridge Special Opportunities Fund LP (incorpedaby reference to exhibit 10.2 of the
registran’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed with the SEC on November 12, 20:

Intellectual Property Security Agreement, dateg 18, 2012, by andbetween Netlist, Inc. ar
DBD Credit Funding LLC (incorporated by referenoceekhibit 10.3 of the registrant’'s Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q filed with the SEC on November 12, 20:

Stock Purchase Warrant, issued by Netlist, Includyn 18, 2013 to Drawbridge Spec
Opportunities Fund LP (incorporated by referencexaibit 10.4 of the registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q filed with the SEC on November 12, 20:

Subordination Agreement, dated July 18, 2013, anNetlist, Inc., Netlist Electronics (Suzhc
Co., Ltd., Netlist HK Limited and DBD Credit Fungji.LC (incorporated by reference to exhi
10.5 of the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Fof®a filed with the SEC on November 12,
2013)

Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated July 18, 2b6&8yveen Netlist, Inc. and Silicon Vall
Bank (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.6hefregistrant’s Quarterly Report on FormQO-
filed with the SEC on November 12, 20:

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated July 17, 2&t®&een Netlist, Inc. and the purche

identified therein (incorporated by reference tbibit 10.1 of the registrant’s Current Report on
Form ¢-K filed with the SEC on July 18, 201
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10.23

10.24+

14.1+

211

23+

24.1+

31.1+

31.2+

32+

101.INS+

101.SCH+

101.CAL+

101.LAB+

101.PRE+

101.DEF+

Form of Warrant issued pursuant to the Securitigstiase Agreement, dated July 17, 2
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.1 of thgisgant's Current Report on Formk8filed with
the SEC on July 18, 201

Amendment to Loan Documents, dated September 3@, 2@tween Netlist, Inc. and Silic
Valley Bank

Code of Business Conduct and Ett

Subsidiaries of Netlist, In¢

Consent of KMJ Corbin & Company LL

Power of Attorney (included on the signature pamgthis Part IV of this repor

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13-14(a) or Rule 15-14(a) of the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as adoptesbjpnt to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuantRule 13-14(a) or Rule 15-14(a) of the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as adopteslput to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

Certification by Chief Executive Officer and Chigihancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of tHeaBa-Oxley Act of 200z

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutr
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh

+ Filed herewith

# Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage

*  Confidential treatment has been granted with rdgpguortions of this exhibit pursuant to Rule -2 of the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 and these a@emtial portions have been redacted from the doatime
filed as an exhibit to this report. A complete gap this agreement, including the redacted tetmas,been
separately filed with the SE!

(b) Exhibits

See subsection (a)(2) above.

See subsection (a)(2) above.
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SIGNATURE S

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regidt
has duly caused this report to be signed on italbbl the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 27, 2015

Netlist, Inc.

By: /s/ Chun K. Honc
Chun K. Honc
President, Chief Executive Officer a
Chairman of the Boar

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpw
the following persons on behalf of the registrarmd & the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date
/s/ Chun K. Hong President, Chief Executive Officer a
Chun K. Hong Chairman of the Board (Princip March 27, 201!
Executive Officer,
/s/ Gail Sasak Vice President and Chief Financ
Gail Sasak Officer (Principal Financial Officer an March 27, 201!

Principal Accounting Officer

/s/Charles F. Cargil March 27, 201*

Charles F. Cargil Director
/s/Jun S. Chc Director March 27, 201!
Jun S. Chc
/s/ Thomas F. Lagatt Director March 27, 201!
Thomas F. Lagatt
/s/Vincent Sheera . March 27, 201"
- Director
Vincent Sheera
/s/Blake A. Welchel . March 27, 201!
Director

Blake A. Welchel
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Netlist, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Netlist, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 27, 2014 and Decembe2@83, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flowdlieryears then ended. These consolidated finasteigdments
are the responsibility of the Company’s managent@at.responsibility is to express an opinion ors¢he
consolidated financial statements based on outsaudi

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstas of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards requirentbgtlan and perform the audits to obtain reasenasgurance
about whether the consolidated financial statememtdree of material misstatement. The Compangpis
required to have, nor were we engaged to perfonnaudit on its internal control over financial regng. Our
audits included consideration of internal contrnaebiofinancial reporting as a basis for designinditgprocedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, bufardhe purpose of expressing an opinion on thecsiffeness of
the Company ' s internal control over financialogpng. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. gmit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgdhe amounts and disclosures in the consaitiihancial
statements. An audit also includes assessing ttmuating principles used and significant estimatesle by
management, as well as evaluating the overall diolaged financial statement presentation. We beligaat our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeaferred to above present fairly, in all materia
respects, the consolidated financial position diisteInc. and subsidiaries as of December 274204nd
December 28, 2013 , and the consolidated resuttseafoperations and their cash flows for the gehen ended,
in conformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of America.

/s KMJ Corbin & Company LLP

Costa Mesa, California
March 27,2015

F2



Table of Content
NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheet s

(in thousands, except par value)

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtitdounts 0$61 (2014)
and$72(2013)
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current asse

Property and equipment, r
Other asset
Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued payroll and related liabiliti¢
Accrued expenses and other current liabili
Accrued engineering charg
Current portion of lon-term debt, net of debt discot
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portion and debt disci
Long-term warranty liability
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock$0.001par value- 10,000shares authorizeno shares
issued anwoutstanding
Common stock$0.001par value- 90,000shares authorize41,498(2014)
and31,776(2013) shareissuecandoutstanding
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Total stockholders' equit

Total liabilities and stockholders' equ

December 27

December 2¢

2014 2013
$ 11,040 $ 6,701
700 1,100
1,091 4,866
1,880 2,620
988 823
15,699 16,110
393 1,143
150 422
$ 16242 $ 17,675
$ 3,957 $ 3,795
710 635
420 533
500 500
2,205 -
7,792 5,463
3,632 5,099
99 100
11,523 10,662
41 31
117,546 104,469
(112,868 (97,487
4,719 7,013
$ 16,242 $ 17,675

See accompanying notes to consolidated financisdrsients.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢
2014 2013
Net sales $ 19,195 $ 23,048
Cost of sales(1 15,231 19,943
Gross profit 3,964 3,105
Operating expense
Research and development 4,835 4,568
Intellectual property legal fes 6,138 2,115
Selling, general and administrative 6,796 6,267
Total operating expens 17,769 12,950
Operating los! (13,805 (9,845
Other expense, ne
Interest expense, n (1,574 (932
Other income, ne - 20
Total other expense, n (1,574 (912
Loss before provision for income t (15,379 (10,757
Provision for income taxe 2 9
Net loss $ (15,381 $ (10,766
Net loss per common sha
Basic and dilute $ (0.38 $ (0.35
Weighte-average common shares outstand
Basic and dilute: 40,304 30,881
(1) Amounts include sto-based compensation expense as follc
Cost of sale: $ 56 $ 49
Research and developm 726 588
Selling, general and administrati 1,230 1,032

See accompanying notes to consolidated financisdrsients.
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Balance, December 29, 20
Stocl-based compensatic
Exercise of stock optior
Repurchase of common sta
Issuance of common stock, t
Estimated relative fair value

common stock warran
Net loss

Balance, December 28, 20
Stocl-based compensatic
Exercise of stock optior
Repurchase of common sta
Issuance of common stock, t
Exercise of warrar

Net loss

Balance, December 27, 20

NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders ' Equity

(in thousands)

Series A

Preferred Additional Total
Stock Common Stock Paid-in Accumulated Stockholders

Shares Amount Shares Amount  Capital Deficit Equity
- - 30,348 $ 30 $ 100,403 % (86,721 $ 13,712
- - - - 1,669 - 1,669
- - 118 - 40 - 40
- - (29) - (14) - (14)
- - 1,339 1 1,156 - 1,157
- - 1,215 1,215
- - - - - (10,766 (10,766
- - 31,776 31 104,469 (97,487 7,013
- - - 2,012 - 2,012
- - 303 - 153 - 153
- - (12) - (22) - (22)
- - 8,681 9 10,267 - 10,276
- - 750 1 667 - 668
- - - (15,381 (15,381
- - 41498 $ 41 $ 117546 $ (112,868 $ 4,719

See accompanying notes to consolidated financtsents.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow s

(in thousands)

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢
2014 2013
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net loss $ (15381 $ (10,766
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 882 1,476
Capitalized paymer-in- kind interes’ 251 111
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuances 803 366
Realized loss on sale of equipm 6 26
Provision for bad debr - 25
Stocl-based compensatic 2,012 1,669
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Restricted cas 400 (1,200
Accounts receivabl 3,775 (1,457
Inventories 740 4,760
Prepaid expenses and other current a 32 140
Other asset (44) 358
Accounts payabl 162 428
Accrued payroll and related liabiliti¢ 75 (149
Accrued expenses and other current liabili (114 42
Accrued engineering charg - 50
Net cash used in operating activit (6,401 (4,021
Cash flows from investing activitie
Acquisition of property and equipme (141 (119
Proceeds from sale of equipmi 3 34
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investmentsairketable securitie - 415
Net cash (used in) provided by investing actigi (138 330
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from lor- term loan, net of issuance co - 2,483
Payments on del (197 (1,029
Proceeds from public offering, n 10,276 1,157
Proceeds from exercise of equity awards, net aftagmitted for restricte
stock 799 26
Net cash provided by financing activiti 10,878 2,637
Net change in cash and cash equival 4,339 (1,054
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 6,701 7,755
Cash and cash equivalents at end of - $ 11,040 $ 6,701

See accompanying notes to consolidated financtsents.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT S
December 27, 2014
Note 1—Description of Business

Netlist, Inc. (the “Company” or “Netlist”) desigred manufactures a wide variety of high performance
logic-based memory subsystems for the global datacestorage and high-performance computing and
communications markets. The Company’s memory stbsysconsist of combinations of dynamic random sgce
memory integrated circuits (“DRAM ICs” or “DRAM"WNAND flash memory (“NAND"), application-specific
integrated circuits (“ASICs”) and other componeadsembled on printed circuit boards (“PCBs”). Isétli
primarily markets and sells its products to leadiniginal equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) customers,
hyperscale datacenter operators and storage vefidmCompany’s solutions are targeted at apptinativhere
memory plays a key role in meeting system perfomaaequirements. The Company leverages a porthblio
proprietary technologies and design techniquesydirtg efficient planar design, alternative packagiechniques
and custom semiconductor logic, to deliver memaiysgstems with high memory density, small formdadbigh
signal integrity, attractive thermal characterstieduced power consumption and low cost peiit.

NVvault™ product is the first to offer both DRAM @iNAND in a standard form factor memory subsystem a
persistent DIMM in mission critical applications.

Netlist was incorporated in June 2000 and is headered in Irvine, California. In 2007, the Company
established a manufacturing facility in the PeapRépublic of China (the “PRC"), which became operal in
July 2007 upon the successful qualification ofaierkey customers.

Liquidity

The Company incurred net losses of approximatefy4btnillion and $10.8 million for the years ended
December 27, 2014 and December 28, 2013, resplgctive

On February 11, 2014, the Company completed atezgis firm commitment underwritten public
offering (the “2014 Offering”) of shares of the Cpamy’s common stock. In the 2014 Offering, the Camyp
issued and sold to Craig-Hallum Capital Group LIt (“Underwriter”) 8,680,775 shares of common stock
pursuant to an underwriting agreement, dated &glofuary 6, 2014, by and between the Company and th
Underwriter, at a price of $1.2115 per share, idiclg 1,132,275 shares resulting from the Underwsitexercise
in full of its option to purchase additional shact€Common Stock to cover over-allotments. Thegper share to
the public in the 2014 Offering was $1.30 per shahe net proceeds from the 2014 Offering were @pprately
$10.3 million, after deducting underwriting discésiand commissions and estimated offering expenses.

On February 3, 2014, the Company issued 750,00@slod common stock upon exercise of warrants at
a purchase price of $0.89 per share, resultingangeds to the Company of $667,500.

On February 24, 2015, the Company completed ateggis firm commitment underwritten public
offering (the “2015 Offering”) of shares of the Cpamy’s common stock. In the 2015 Offering, the Camp
issued and sold to the Underwriter 8,846,154 shafreemmon stock pursuant to an underwriting agesgm
dated as of February 19, 2015, by and between dhgp@ny and the Underwriter, at a price of $1.20%pare,
including 1,153,846 shares resulting from the Undliger's exercise in full of its option to purchaaeditional
shares of Common Stock to cover over-allotments. difice per share to the public in the 2015 Offgrims
$1.30 per share. The net proceeds from the 201&i@gf were approximately $10.4 million, after detitug
underwriting discounts and commissions and estithatfering expenses.

If adequate working capital is not available wheeded, the Company may be required to significantly
modify its business model and operations to redpesading to a sustainable level. Insufficient wogkcapital
could cause the Company to be unable to execubeisiaess plan, take advantage of future opporésnior
respond to competitive
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pressures or customer requirements. It may alssectne Company to delay, scale back or eliminateesar all of
its research and development programs, or to rediucease operations. While there is no assuréatehte
Company can meet its revenue forecasts, managemecipates that it can continue operations fdeast the
next twelve months.

Reclassifications

Intellectual property legal fees for the year enBedember 28, 2013 are now reported under their own
caption, separate from research and developmernsgg, in the accompanying consolidated statenfient o
operations for the year ended December 28, 20Xk@dier to conform to the current period presentatio

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemeang been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United Stafesmerica (“U.S.”).

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to@ants of Netlist, Inc. and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and tratimas have been eliminated in consolidation.

Fiscal Year

The Company operates undef a., Aveek fiscal year ending on the Saturday closeBieiember 31.
The 2014 and 2013 fiscal years ended on Decemh@024 and December 28, 2013, respectively. Figeals
2014 and 2013 each consisted of 52 weeks.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia
U.S. requires management to make estimates anthpsnos that affect the reported amounts of assels
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets léatallities at the date of the consolidated finahstatements, and
the reported amounts of net sales and expensegydhe reporting period. By their nature, thesarests and
assumptions are subject to an inherent degreecefrtainty. Significant estimates made by manageimetude,
among others, provisions for uncollectible recelgaland sales returns, warranty liabilities, vadrabf
inventories, fair value of financial instrumentscoverability of long-lived assets, stock-basedgaations and
realization of deferred tax assets. The Compangdis estimates on historical experience, knovdexfgcurrent
conditions and the Company’s belief of what coutdw in the future considering available informatidrhe
Company reviews its estimates on an on-going b@kis.actual results experienced by the Companydiiteyr
materially and adversely from its estimates. Toekient there are material differences betweerstienates and
the actual results, future results of operatiorikhei affected.

Revenue Recognition

The Company’s revenues primarily consist of prodiadés of high performance memory subsystems to
original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”).

The Company recognizes revenues in accordancehvétRinancial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASCTppic 605. Accordingly, the Company recognizes
revenues when there is persuasive evidence tharamgement exists, product delivery and acceptaace
occurred, the sales price is fixed or determinadohe, collectability of the resulting receivableéasonably
assured.
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The Company generally uses customer purchase addfsr contracts as evidence of an arrangement.
Delivery occurs when goods are shipped for custemwith shipping point terms and upon receipt fastomers
with destination terms, at which time title andkrid loss transfer to the customer. Shipping doqumare used to
verify delivery and customer acceptance. The Compasesses whether the sales price is fixed omdigizble
based on the payment terms associated with thgattion and whether the sales price is subjeaftomd.
Customers are generally allowed limited rightsetfirn for up to 30 days, except for sales of exceagponent
inventories, which contain no right-of-return pkages. Estimated returns are provided for at the bf sale based
on historical experience or specific identificatioinan event necessitating a reserve. The Compiens @
standard product warranty to our customers anchbaher post-shipment obligations. The Compangsses
collectability based on the creditworthiness of¢hstomer as determined by credit checks and en@hsaas
well as the customer’s payment history.

All amounts billed to customers related to shippamgl handling are classified as revenues, whilecsils
incurred by the Company for shipping and handlirgcdassified as cost of sales.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash andtehnortinvestments with original maturities of three
months or less, other than short-term investmensgcurities that lack an active market.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash of $0.7 million, as of December2®a4, consists of cash to secure three standigydet
of credit. On January 13, 2015, the Company e#ettian additional $0.9 million to secure a borsbasted with
a lawsuit.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company'’s financial instruments consist priattipof cash and cash equivalents, investments in
marketable securities, accounts receivable, acsqayable, accrued expenses and debt instrumérgair
value of our cash equivalents and investments ifketable securities is determined based on quatedspin
active markets for identical assets or Level 1 fapi’he Company recognizes transfers between & dvédrough
3 of the fair value hierarchy at the beginninghef teporting period. The Company believes that#reying
values of all other financial instruments approxientteir current fair values due to their naturd eespective
durations.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company evaluates the collectability of acceuwateivable based on a combination of factors. In
cases where the Company is aware of circumstahaestay impair a specific customer’s ability to iee
financial obligations subsequent to the origin& séne Company will record an allowance againsbamts due,
and thereby reduce the net recognized receivalthetamount the Company reasonably believes witidiected.
For all other customers, the Company records alhoes for doubtful accounts based primarily on émgth of
time the receivables are past due based on the t#rthe originating transaction, the current besin
environment and its historical experience. Uncailde accounts are charged against the allowarceédabtful
accounts when all cost effective commercial medrekection have been exhausted. Generally, thegany’s
credit losses have been within expectations angrtésions established. However, the Company danno
guarantee that it will continue to experience drkxdis rates similar to those experienced in ttgt. pa

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject@wmpany to significant concentrations of credik ris
consist principally of cash and cash equivalemid,accounts receivable.

The Company invests its cash equivalents primarilmoney market mutual funds. Cash equivalents are
maintained with high quality institutions, the coosfiion and maturities of which are regularly mored by
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management. At times, deposits held with finanaistitutions may exceed the amount of insuranceigeal by
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and #oei8ies Investor Protection Corporation.

The Company'’s trade accounts receivable are prynderived from sales to OEMs in the computer
industry. The Company performs credit evaluatidhngsccustomers’ financial condition and limits tamount of
credit extended when deemed necessary, but ggnezgllires no collateral. The Company believes ttat
concentration of credit risk in its trade receiwabis moderated by its credit evaluation procedatively short
collection terms, the high level of credit worthiseof its customers (see Note 10), foreign creditriance and
letters of credit issued in its favor. Reservesragintained for potential credit losses, and $os$es historically
have not been significant and have been within mament’s expectations.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of actual t@gurchase or manufacture the inventory or the net
realizable value of the inventory. Cost is deterdion an average cost basis which approximatealaist on a
first-in, first-out basis and includes raw matesjdhbor and manufacturing overhead. At each balaheet date,
the Company evaluates its ending inventory quastitn hand and on order and records a provisioexfess
guantities and obsolescence. Among other factoesCbmpany considers historical demand and foredast
demand in relation to the inventory on hand, coitipehess of product offerings, market conditionsl @roduct
life cycles when determining obsolescence andesdizable value. In addition, the Company considaenges in
the market value of components in determining tter@alizable value of its inventory. Once estéiglts lower of
cost or market write-downs are considered permaamjnstments to the cost basis of the excess aletbs
inventories.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost anedafed on a straight-line basis over their ediha
useful lives, which generally range from threedwen years. Leasehold improvements are recordasuzsaand
amortized on a straight-line basis over the sharfténeir estimated useful lives or the remainiegse term.

Deferred Financing Costs, Debt Discount and Detddtdd®ebt-Related Warrants

Costs incurred to issue debt are deferred anddedlin debt issuance costs in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet. The Company amortetgsskuance costs over the expected term of tiededebt
using the effective interest method. Debt discouelsted to the relative fair value of any warraessied in
conjunction with the debt are recorded as a redndt the debt balance and accreted over the eeghémtm of
the debt to interest expense using the effectiterést method.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverability of theygay value of long-lived assets held and usedhey t
Company for impairment on at least an annual asighenever events or changes in circumstancesatadithat
their carrying value may not be recoverable. Wherhdactors and circumstances exist, the Compampages
the projected undiscounted future net cash flows@ated with the related asset or group of assetstheir
estimated useful lives against their respectiveyogag amount. If the carrying value is determined to be
recoverable from future operating cash flows, thsetis deemed impaired and an impairment logcagnized to
the extent the carrying value exceeds the estinfatedalue of the asset. The fair value of theetiss asset group
is based on market value when available, or whavaitable, on discounted expected cash flows. Tdragany’s
management believes there is no impairment of lorgh assets as of December 27, 2014. There cao be
assurance, however, that market conditions willamainge or demand for the Company’s products wiitiaue,
which could result in future impairment of longéiy assets.
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Warranty Reserve

The Company offers product warranties generallgiramfrom one to three years, depending on the
product and negotiated terms of any purchase agmsrwith customers. Such warranties require thep2my to
repair or replace defective product returned toGbmpany during such warranty periotireo cost to the
customer. Warranties are not offered on sales ecdsxcomponent inventory. The Company recordstanats

for warranty-related costs at the time of sale based on iteriiat and estimated product return rates and

expected repair or replacement costs (see No&u8h costs have historically been within management
expectations and the provisions established, utggehanges in failure rates could have a matadietrse
impact on the Company, requiring additional waryaeserves, and could adversely affect the Comgagngss
profit and gross margins.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for equity issuances to nguiesmes in accordance with ASC Topic 505. All
transactions in which goods or services are theideration received for the issuance of equityrimaents are
accounted for based on the fair value of the cematébn received or the fair value of the equitstinoment issued,
whichever is more reliably measurable. The measentéaiate used to determine the fair value of théteq
instrument issued is the earlier of the date orclwltie third-party performance is complete or the n which it
is probable that performance will occur.

In accordance with ASC Topic 718, employee andcttirestock-based compensation expense recognized
during the period is based on the value of theigrodf stock-based payment awards that is ultigagpected to
vest during the period. Given that stock-basedpmmation expense recognized in the consolidaé¢ehsents of
operations is based on awards ultimately expecteédt, it has been reduced for estimated foriestuASC Topic
718 requires forfeitures to be estimated at the tifngrant and revised, if necessary, in subseqerads if
actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Twmpany’s estimated average forfeiture rates asedon
historical forfeiture experience and estimated reifiorfeitures.

The estimated fair value of common stock optionra®do employees and directors is calculated using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Bladk&es model requires subjective assumptions regard
future stock price volatility and expected timestercise, along with assumptions about the risg-inéerest rate
and expected dividends, all of which affect thénegted fair values of the Company’s common stodioop
awards. The expected term of options grantedi¢sileded as the average of the weighted vestinggeand the
contractual expiration date of the option. Thikgkation is based on the safe harbor method ptrdiity the
SEC in instances where the vesting and exercisestef options granted meet certain conditions ahelre/
limited historical exercise data is available. Bxpected volatility is based on the historicaktitity of the
Company’s common stock. The risk-free rate setetdevalue any particular grant is based on the Ur&asury
rate that corresponds to the expected term of ituet @ffective as of the date of the grant. Thesetgd dividend
assumption is based on the Company’s history anmthgement’s expectation regarding dividend payotuise
Company evaluates the assumptions used to valirectilemon stock awards on a quarterly basis. dffoies
change and the Company employs different assungytitock-based compensation may differ signifigaindm
what has been recorded in prior periods. Compiamsakxpense for common stock option awards witllega
vesting schedules is recognized on a straightdass over the requisite service period for thedaparately
vesting portion of the award, provided that theuacglated cost recognized as of any date at leasti®the value
of the vested portion of the award.

The Company recognizes the estimated fair valuesificted stock awards issued to employees and
outside directors as stock-based compensation sgpena straight-line basis over the vesting pedoothe last
separately vesting portion of the awards. Estimégdsalue is determined as the difference betwherclosing
price of our common stock on the grant date angbtinehase price of the restricted stock awardyyf aeduced
by expected forfeitures.

If there are any modifications or cancellationshaf underlying vested or unvested stock-based ayard
the Company may be required to accelerate, incraasgncel any remaining unearned stock-based ausagien
expense, or record additional expense for vestedkdiased awards. Future stock-based compensagmmnse
and unearned

F-11



Table of Content
stock- based compensation may increase to thetakgrthe Company grants additional common stqations or
other stock-based awards.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogniaeéflect the estimated future tax effects, calted at
currently effective tax rates, of future deductibtedaxable amounts attributable to events thae Heeen
recognized on a cumulative basis in the consoliifitancial statements. A valuation allowance edab a net
deferred tax asset is recorded when it is mordylittean not that some portion of the deferred tsseawill not be
realized.

ASC Topic 740 prescribes a recognition thresholiimeasurement requirement for the financial
statement recognition of a tax position that hanldaken or is expected to be taken on a tax returalso
provides guidance on de-recognition, classificatioterest and penalties, accounting in interimaquks,
disclosure, and transition. Under ASC Topic 740Goenpany may only recognize or continue to recogtax
positions that meet a “more likely than not” threlsh

The application of tax laws and regulations is sabjo legal and factual interpretation, judgmenrt a
uncertainty. Tax laws and regulations themselvesabject to change as a result of changes irl fistiay,
changes in legislation, the evolution of regulagi@md court rulings. Therefore, the actual liapiiar U.S. or
foreign taxes may be materially different from @empany’s estimates, which could result in the rneeecord
additional tax liabilities or potentially reverseepiously recorded tax liabilities.

Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenditures are expengedperiod incurred.
Risks and Uncertainties

The Company is subject to certain risks and unicgiga including its ability to obtain profitable
operations due to the Company’s history of losseseecumulated deficits, the Company’s dependenaefew
customers for a significant portion of revenueskgirelated to intellectual property matters, madexelopment
of and demand for the Company’s products, andehegth of the sales cycle. Such risks could havaterial
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated fighposition, results of operations or cash flows.

The Company invested a significant portion of @seaarch and development budget into the design of
ASIC and hybrid devices, including the HyperCloud®mory subsystem and NVvault family of productseSén
designs and the products they are incorporatecargtsubject to increased risks as compared tGahgpany’s
legacy products. The Company may be unable to eeltiestomer or market acceptance of its products, o
achieve such acceptance in a timely manner. Thep@oynexperienced a longer qualification cycle than
anticipated with its HyperCloud® memory subsysteams] has experienced supply chain disruption and a
shortage of DRAM and flash required to create thpddCloud® memory subsystem and NVvault produéts.
of December 27, 2014, Hypercloud has not genesatgiificant revenue relative to the Company’s itwemnt in
the product.

The Company’s operations in the PRC are subjecatious political, geographical and economic risks
and uncertainties inherent to conducting busine#isd PRC. These include, but are not limitedijgdtential
changes in economic conditions in the regionnfi@naging a local workforce that may subject the Gamy to
uncertainties or certain regulatory policies, @iiJanges in other policies of the Chinese goveritahand
regulatory agencies, and (iv) changes in the lawispmlicies of the U.S. government regarding thedcat of
business in foreign countries, generally, or inRiRC, in particular. Additionally, the Chinese goweaent
controls the procedures by which its local curretiog Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”), is converted inther
currencies and by which dividends may be declarezapital distributed for the purpose of repatdatof
earnings and investments. If restrictions in theveosion of RMB or in the repatriation of earniragsd
investments through dividend and capital distritnutiestrictions are instituted, the Company’s ofi@na and
operating results may be negatively impacted. ®islities of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRCeeded
its assets as of December 27, 2014 and Decemb2028,
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Foreign Currency Remeasurement

The functional currency of the Company’s foreigbsidiary is the U.S. dollar. Local currency finaaici
statements are remeasured into U.S. dollars &xtigange rate in effect as of the balance sheetffdatmonetary
assets and liabilities and the historical exchaagtgfor nonmonetary assets and liabilities. Experase
remeasured using the average exchange rate fpetheel, except items related to nonmonetary assets
liabilities, which are remeasured using historeathange rates. All remeasurement gains and lasséscluded
in determining net loss. Transaction gains ansdesvere not significant in 2014 and 2013.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividiegloss by the weighted-average common shares
outstanding during the year, excluding unvestedeshiasued pursuant to restricted share awards timele
Company’s share-based compensation plans. Dihgetbss per share is calculated by dividing thdoss by
the weighted-average shares and dilutive poterti@dmon shares outstanding during the year. Dilyivential
shares consist of dilutive shares issuable upomtbeecise or vesting of outstanding stock optiard r@stricted
stock awards, respectively, computed using thetmgastock method. In periods of losses, basicdilnted loss
per share are the same, as the effect of stocrepéind unvested restricted share awards on loshaee is anti-
dilutive.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standargddte (“ASU”) No. 2014-09Revenue from
Contracts with CustomefsASU 2014-09”). ASU 2014-09 supersedes the reveraegnition requirements in
FASB Topic 605Revenue RecognitiorThe ASU implements a five-step process for custorontract revenue
recognition that focuses on transfer of controlppgosed to transfer of risk and rewards. The ament also
requires enhanced disclosures regarding the natmmeint, timing and uncertainty of revenues antl fasvs
from contracts with customers. Other major provisionclude the capitalization and amortization ertain
contract costs, ensuring the time value of monepisidered in the transaction price, and alloveisggmates of
variable consideration to be recognized beforeiogatcies are resolved in certain circumstances. Th
amendments in this ASU are effective for reporpiegiods beginning after December 15, 2016, ang @aldption
is prohibited. Entities can transition to the staoldeither retrospectively or as a cumulative-e¢fégtjustment as of
the date of adoption. Management has not yet selectransition method and is currently assessi@gnpact the
adoption of ASU 2014-09 will have on the Comparggssolidated financial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014Afsentation of Financial Statements - Going
Concern.The amendments in this update provide guidancedaumting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America about management’s redpititiss to evaluate whether there is substard@ibt about
an entity’s ability to continue as a going concana to provide related footnote disclosures. Thimeovision of
the amendments are for an entity’s managemengrinexction with the preparation of financial statatagto
evaluate whether there are conditions or eventssidered in the aggregate, that raise substamtiditchbout the
entity’s ability to continue as a going concernhiitone year after the date that the financiakstants are issued.
Management’s evaluation should be based on releamditions and events that are known or reasonably
knowable at the date the consolidated financiaéstants are issued. When management identifiestarslor
events that raise substantial doubt about an &n#tyjlity to continue as a going concern, thatershould
disclose information that enables users of the @ateted financial statements to understand atheffollowing:
(1) principal conditions or events that raised satsal doubt about the entity’s ability to continas a going
concern (before consideration of management’s plé2smanagement’s evaluation of the significaotthose
conditions or events in relation to the entity’sligbto meet its obligations; and (3) managemeptans that
alleviated substantial doubt about the entity’digitio continue as a going concern or managemegidss that are
intended to mitigate the conditions or events thite substantial doubt about the entity’s abtlitgontinue as a
going concern. The amendments in this update &etivie for interim and annual reporting periodeaf
December 15, 2016 and early application is perthifitle Company is currently assessing this guidéorceiture
implementation.
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Note 3—Supplemental Financial Information

Inventories

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands)

December 27 December 2¢

2014 2013
Raw material $ 984 $ 1,737
Work in proces: 23 67
Finished good 873 816

$ 1,880 $ 2,620

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the followingll@ds in thousands):

Estimated

Useful December 27  December 2¢

Lives 2014 2013
Machinery and equipme 3-7yrs. $ 8,956 $ 8,956
Leasehold improvemen * 1,915 1,873
Furniture and fixture 5yrs. 367 368
Computer equipment and softw 3-7yrs. 3,490 3,580
14,728 14,777
Less accumulated depreciation and amortizz (14,335 (13,634
$ 393 $ 1,143

* Estimated useful life is generally 7 years,log temaining lease term, whichever is shorter.

Warranty Liability

The following table summarizes the activity relatedhe warranty liability (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 27 December 28
2014 2013
Beginning balanc $ 249 % 235
Estimated cost of warranty claims charged to cbsates 116 122
Cost of actual warranty clain (119 (108
Ending balanc 246 249
Less current portio (147 (149
Long-term warranty liability $ 29 $ 100

The allowance for warranty liabilities expected®incurred within one year is included as a corepbn
of accrued expenses and other current liabilitiehé accompanying consolidated balance sheets.alldwance
for warranty liabilities expected to be incurreteafone year is classified as long-term warraralilities and in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Computation of Net Loss Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation aéic and diluted net loss per share, including the
reconciliation of the numerator and denominatodusehe calculation of basic and diluted net lpssshare (in
thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢
2014 2013
Basic and diluted net loss per share
Numerator: Net los $ (15381 $ (10,766
Denominator: Weighte-average common shar
outstanding, basic and dilut 40,304 30,881
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (038 $ (0.35

The following table sets forth potentially dilutieemmon share equivalents, consisting of sharesalids
upon the exercise or vesting of outstanding stgtlons and restricted stock awards, respectivelg,the exercise
of warrants, computed using the treasury stock atetiThese potential common shares have been extfuoim
the diluted net loss per share calculations abewbeir effect would be anti-dilutive for the ye#inen ended (in
thousands):

Year Ended
Decembe
December 27 28,
2014 2013

Common share equivaler 277 219

The above common share equivalents would haveibekrled in the calculation of diluted earnings per
share had the Company reported net income forahesythen ended.

Cash Flow Information

The following table sets forth supplemental disates of cash flow information and non-cash invegtin
and financing activities (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢&
2014 2013
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Cash paid during the year f
Interest $ 479 $ 484
Income taxe: $ 4 3 7
Supplemental disclosure of r-cash investing and financing activitit
Debt financing of directors and officers insura $ 198 §$ 240
Debt issuance costs associated with July 18, 28h8fthancinc $ - $ 323
Debt discount related to the relative fair valuelefachable warrants issu $ - 1,215
Paydown of SVB term loan directly with proceedsyirduly 18, 2013 det
financing $ - 8 2,731
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Note 4—Credit Agreements

Silicon Valley Credit Agreement

On October 31, 2009, the Company entered intodita@greement with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”),
which was most recently amended on July 18, 204 &uf@ended, the “SVB Credit Agreement”). Currertthg,
SVB Credit Agreement provides that the Companyhlmamow up to the lesser of (i) 80% of eligible agnts
receivable, or (i) $5.0 million.

Pursuant to the September 2010 amendment to theC3¥dt Agreement, SVB extended a $1.5 million
term loan, bearing interest at a rate of prime glG§% . The Company was required to make monttihcipal
payments of $41,666 over the 36 month term ofdhr, or $0.5 million annually. In May 2011, SVBtended
an additional $3.0 million term loan, bearing fet& at a rate of prime plus 2.75% . The Comparg/ nequired to
make monthly principal payments of $125,000 overah month term of the loan, or $1.5 million aalhu In
May 2012, SVB consolidated both term loans andredad additional credit, resulting in a combinedabak of
$3.5 million as of May 2012 (the “Consolidated fedroan”). The Consolidated Term Loan was payabl@6in
installments of $97,222 , beginning December 20d® interest at a rate of prime plus 2.50% . lestwas
payable monthly from the date of funding througtafipayoff of the loan. On July 18, 2013, as part
amendment to the SVB Credit Agreement enteredvifitto SVB and following the Company'’s receipt of
additional loan financing from Fortress Credit Ogipoities | LP, an affiliate of Fortress Investm&@roup, LLC
(“Fortress”) and successor to DBD Credit FundingClLthe Consolidated Term Loan and outstanding éste
was paid in full.

On July 18, 2013, the Company and SVB entereddrntan amendment (“SVB Amendment”) to the
Company’s loan and security agreement with SVBrs&ant to the SVB Amendment, SVB allowed for the
financing and security interests contemplated utttefoan agreement entered into with Fortressaleased
certain patents and related assets relating tB'theult™ product line from the collateral subjest3VB's
security interest under the SVB Credit Agreemekdditionally, pursuant to the SVB Amendment, adwesc
under the revolving line now accrue interest ata equal to SVB’s most recently announced “priate”rplus
2.75% . The SVB Amendment also relaxed the Conipdaggible net worth covenant under the SVB Credit
Agreement and waived certain events of defaulbimection therewith. Certain reporting requirersemtder the
SVB Credit Agreement were modified while certaina®es with respect to the borrowing base and the
availability of revolving loans were removed punsut the SVB Amendment. Under the terms of the S3/Bdit
Agreement, the Company may draw revolving advaircas aggregate outstanding principal amount dbute
lesser of $5 million or the available borrowing &asubject to reserve amounts. The Company’s Wargobase
under the SVB Credit Agreement is subject to cerggjustments and up to the lesser of 80% of édigibcounts
receivable.

SVB Amendment requires letters of credit to be settby cash, which is classified as restricted @ash
the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. A¢keer 27, 2014, letters of credit in the amour®¥
million were outstanding.

The following tables present details of interegiense related to borrowings on the line of credit w
SVB, along with availability under our credit liméth SVB (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢
2014 2013
Interest expens $ 79 $ 139
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The following table presents details of the Compmoytstanding borrowings and availability under ou
line of credit with SVB:

December 27 December 2¢
2014 2013

Availability under the revolving line of crec $ 882 $ 4,042

All obligations under the SVB Credit Agreement aeeured by a first priority lien on the Company’s
tangible and intangible assets, other than itdléual property, which is subject to a first piip lien held by
Fortress. The SVB Credit Agreement subjects the @my to certain affirmative and negative covenants,
including financial covenants with respect to trenpany’s liquidity and tangible net worth and riesions on
the payment of dividends. As of December 27, 2€8i& Company was in compliance with its debt coveian

Fortress Credit Opportunities | LP Loan and Secuwrih\greement and Related Agreements

On July 18, 2013, the Company, entered into a fmarement (“Loan Agreement”) with Fortress, an
affiliate of Fortress Investment Group LLC and ®ssor to DBD Credit Funding, LLC, providing for tgp$10
million in term loans and up to $5 million in revoig loans. The term loans are available in atain$6 million
tranche (the “Initial Term Loan”) with a secondrtche in the amount of $4 million becoming availalgen
achievement of certain performance milestonesinglab intellectual property matters (the “IP Mamation
Milestones” and such second tranche loan, “IP Nbiles Term Loan”). The $5 million in revolving loaase
available at Fortress’s discretion and subjectgiamary conditions precedent. The $6 millioni&hiTerm Loan
was fully drawn at closing on July 18, 2013. Prassfeom the Initial Term Loan were used in pantepay the
Company’s existing Consolidated Term Loan with SW¥Be remainder of such funds will be used to fure t
Company'’s ongoing working capital needs. On Felyrad, 2015, subsequent to the Company'’s fiscal ggd,
the Loan Agreement was amended to accelerate #iklality of the term loan and the Company borrdwiee
remaining $4 million in term loans.

The loans bear interest at a stated fixed rate @R per annum. Until the last business day oflrsaly
2015, the payments on the term loans are interdgtad a cash rate of 7.0% per annum and a paymeditd
deferred cash interest rate of 4.0% , which paysirehkind interest is capitalized semi-annually, ioeing with
December 31, 2013. Beginning with the last busimasy of February 2015, the term loans are amartidth
65% of the principal amount due in equal monthitatiments over the following seventeen (17) momilk a
balloon payment equal to 35% of the remaining ppaicamount of the term loans, plus accrued intelesng
payable on July 18, 2016 (the "Maturity Date").riiidoan payments, including the $4 million borrowsd
February 17, 2015, of approximately $370,000 aesrdonthly through June 18, 2016, with the remairimgpunt
of approximately $4.3 million due on July 18, 2016.

The Company’s obligations under the Loan Agreemeatsecured by a first-priority security interest i
the Company’s intellectual property assets (othan tcertain patents and related assets relatitig to
NVvault™ product line) pursuant to an intellectpabperty security agreement with (the “IP Security
Agreement”) and a second-priority security interestubstantially all of the Company’s other assets

In connection with the Loan Agreement, the Compaeid certain facility, due diligence and legal feés
Fortress on the closing date and is obligated yoapzonditional facility fee upon satisfaction b&tIP
Monetization Milestones. If the Company repaygmpays all or a portion of the term loans priomaturity, the
Company is obligated to pay Fortress a prepaynsanbésed on a percentage of the then outstandiraipa
balance being prepaid, equal to 2.0% if the premagraccurs between July 18, 2015, or 0.0% if tlepayment
occurs after July 18, 2015.

The Loan Agreement contains customary representatigarranties and indemnification provisions. The
Loan Agreement also contains affirmative and negatovenants that, among other things restricatilgy of
the Company to:

« incur additional indebtedness or guarant
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« incur liens;
« make investments, loans and acquisitic
» consolidate or merg:
« sell or exclusively license assets, including atock of subsidiarie:
« alter the business of the Compa
« engage in transactions with affiliates; ¢
« pay dividends or make distributior

The Loan Agreement also includes events of defaudhiding, among other things, payment defaults,
breaches of representations, warranties or covenegrtain bankruptcy events, the failure to maintae
Company’s listing on a nationally recognized sd@siexchange or alternatively for its shares touified for
trading on the OTC Bulletin Board and certain matexdverse changes, including an impairment opéréection
or priority of the lender’s lien. Upon the occurcerof an event of default and following any apieacure
periods, a default interest rate of an addition@¥®per annum may be applied to the outstanding badéances,
and Fortress may declare all outstanding obligatiormediately due and payable and take such ottiena as
set forth in the Loan Agreement.

Concurrently with the execution of the Loan Agreamée Company and Drawbridge Special
Opportunities Fund LP (“Drawbridge”) entered intManetization Letter Agreement (as amended, thdtére
Agreement”). In connection with the amendmentimltoan Agreement, the Company also amended therLet
Agreement on February 17, 2015. The Letter Agregmpevides, among other things, that DBD may kéled
to share in certain monetization revenues that &g derive in the future related to our patent mdidf(the
“Patent Portfolio”). The Patent Portfolio does matlude certain patents relating to the NVvaul@itbduct line.
Monetization revenues subject to this arrangenrettide revenues recognized during the seven yeardkthe
Letter Agreement from amounts (whether charactdraesettiement payments, license fees, royattseaages,
or otherwise) actually paid to the Company or ilsssdiaries in connection with any assertion ofgagient not to
assert, or license of, the Patent Portfolio (in lehay in part) either (A) in consideration of theagt of a license or
covenant not sue, or other immunity with respe¢h&oPatent Portfolio, or (B) as a damages awatiul iespect to
such assertion of the Patent Portfolio, less cefégjal fees and expenses (subject to a cap onfsestand
expenses). Monetization revenues also includedhee attributable to the Patent Portfolio in aalef the
Company during the seven year term, subject toxamen amount payable to Drawbridge. The Letter
Agreement also requires that the Company use coomtigreasonable efforts to pursue opportunites t
monetize the Patent Portfolio during the term efltletter Agreement, provided the Company are under
obligation to pursue any such opportunities thdbihot deem to be in its best interest. Notwéhding the
foregoing, there can be no assurance that the Gonypwill be successful in these efforts, and iyreapend
resources in pursuit of monetization revenuesriat not result in any benefit to the Company.

Concurrently with the execution of the Loan Agreamée Company issued to an affiliate of DBD a
seven-year warrant (the “Warrant”) to purchasegaregate of 1,648,351 shares of the Company’s canstazk
at an exercise price of $1.00 per share, of altavas are exercisable, as amended, immediatedyoarsh or
cashless basis in whole or in part. In connectiah the amendment to the Loan Agreement on Febrliarg015,
the Company cancelled the Warrant and issued avzvant in substantially the same form. The Warveas
issued in a private placement transaction thataxampt from registration under Section 4(2) of Sleeurities Act
of 1933 (the “Securities Act”).

The Company accounted for the warrants as a detduaint and has valued them based on the relaiive fa

value at approximately $1,215,000 , to be amortezt the term of the debt instrument, or threegjassing the
effective interest method. For the years endece®éer 27, 2014 and December 28, 2013, the Company
amortized approximately $487,000 and $203,000 i@y, as interest expense in the consolidatatéstents of
operations.

F-18



Table of Content

Concurrently with the execution of the Loan Agreamée Company issued to an affiliate of DBD a
seven-year warrant (the “Warrant”) to purchasegaregate of 1,648,351 shares of the Company’s canmstuzk
at an exercise price of $1.00 per share, of altavds are exercisable, as amended, immediatedyoaish or
cashless basis in whole or in part. The Warrantisgaged in a private placement transaction thatexaspt from
registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities & 1933 (the “Securities Act”).

The Company accounted for the warrants as a detdwait and has valued them based on the relafive fa
value at approximately $1,215,000, to be amortizesr the term of the debt instrument, or three gjeasing the
effective interest method. For the years endedeBwer 27, 2014 and December 28, 2013, the Company
amortized approximately $487,000 and $203,000 @iy, as interest expense in the consolidatetéstents of
operations.

Also in connection with the Loan Agreement, the @any agreed to pay to a consultant a consulting fee
equal to (i) $300,000 to the consultant in conmectvith the Company’s receipt of the Initial Terman and (ii)
5% of any additional principal amount loaned to @@npany as an IP Milestone Term Loan. The initial
$300,000 has been recorded as debt issuance dmsaroortized over the term of the debt instrumanthree
years, using the effective interest method.

In connection with the amendment to the Loan Agresinon February 17, 2015, the Company modified
their agreement with a consultant and agreed t@pansulting fee of 3.5% of the $4,000,000 of todal
principal loaned the Company.

During the years ended December 27, 2014 and Dexred®) 2013, the Company amortized
approximately $316,000 and $135,000 respectivalyni@rest expense in the consolidated stateménts o
operations.

Note 5—Debt

Debt consists of the following (in thousands):

December 27 December 2¢

2014 2013
Term Loan, Fortress, net of debt discoun$524and$1,012 5,837 5,099
Less current portion (including discou (2,205

$ 3,632 $ 5,099

As of December 27, 2014, maturities of long-terrbtdeere as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Yeal

2015 $ 2,600
2016 3,761
Total payments on loi-term debt 6,361
Debt discoun (524,
Long-term deb: $ 5,837

Interest expense related to the Company’s long-tet is presented in the following table (in
thousands):

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢
2014 2013
Interest expens $ 1,495 $ 796
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Note 6 —Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettemporary differences between the carrying anmunt

of assets and liabilities for financial reportingrposes and the amounts used for income tax pwspSamificant
components of the Company’s deferred tax assetiabilities are as follows (in thousands):

December 27 December 28

2014 2013
Deferred tax asset

Reserves and allowanc $ 1542 % 1,460
State taxes, net of federal income tax bel 2 2
Depreciation and amortizatic 570 505
Other accrual 534 447
Compensatory stock options and rig 2,364 2,024
Other 24 15
Tax credit carryforward 3,034 3,048
Operating loss carryforwal 23,664 19,157
Foreign operating loss carryforwe 1,604 1,866
Total deferred tax asse 33,338 28,524

Deferred tax liabilities
Prepaid expenst (96) (379
Basis difference in warrant vali (200 (90)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (296 (469
Subtotal 33,042 28,055
Valuation allowanct (33,042 (28,055
$ - $ =

The Company evaluates whether a valuation allowahoald be established against its deferred tax
assets based on the consideration of all avaiabtience using a “more likely than not” standardmiaking such
judgments, significant weight is given to evidetizat can be objectively verified. As of Decemb@r 2014 and
December 28, 2013, a valuation allowance of $38illion and $28.1 million, respectively, has bgeaovided
based on the Company’s assessment that it is fiketg than not, that sufficient taxable income witit be
generated to realize the tax benefits of the teamgatifferences. The valuation allowance incredsed
approximately $4.9 million and $2.5 million duritiye years ended December 27, 2014 and Decemb20238,
respectively, primarily related to the increas¢hia net operating loss carryforward.

At December 27, 2014, the Company had approxim&&36 million of federal net operating loss
(“NOL") carryforwards which begin to expire in ye2029 , and approximately $37.7 million of staté ne
operating loss carryforwards which begin to expirgear 2017 , and federal and state tax crediy/frawvards of
approximately $1.5 million and $1.6 million, resgively at December 27, 2014. Federal tax credit
carryforwards begin to expire in 2026 and statectaxlits carry forward indefinitely. In additiathhe Company
has approximately $6.4 million of operating losegfarwards in the PRC and Taiwan and had $2.0ionilbf net
operating losses expire at the end of the curreat.y

The deferred tax asset at December 27, 2014 daésahode approximately $1.6 million and $1.8
million of excess tax benefits from employee stopkion exercises that are a component of the fédachstate
net operating loss carryover, respectively. The gamy’s stockholders’ equity balance will be incezh# and
when such excess tax benefits are ultimately reliz

F- 20



Table of Content

For financial reporting purposes, loss before giovi for income taxes includes the following
components (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢
2014 2013
United State: $ (14,187 $ (9,229
Foreign (1,192 (1,528

$ (15379 $ (10,757

The Company’s income tax provision consists offtlewing (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 27 December 28
2014 2013
Current:
Federa $ - % -
State 2 9
Total curren 2 9
Deferred:
Federa 4,477 (2,849
State (771 1,071
Foreign 262 (672,
Change in valuation allowan: 4,986 2,450
Total deferrec - -
Income tax provisiol $ 2 $ 9

A reconciliation of income taxes computed by apmdyihe statutory U.S. income tax rate to the
Company’s loss before income taxes to the incomeravision is as follows:

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢
2014 2013

U.S. federal statutory te 35% 35%

Valuation allowanct (30) (27)

Loss from foreign subsidial 3) (5)

Other (2) (3)

%
Effective income tax provision ra 0 0%

The Company files tax returns with federal, staiteé foreign jurisdictions. The Company is no longer

subject to IRS or state examinations for periodtsrppo 2009 although certain carryforward attritsutieat were
generated prior to 2009 may still be adjusted leylRS.

The Company follows the policy to classify accrirgrest and penalties as part of the accrued tax
liability in the provision for income taxes. Foethears ended December 27, 2014 and December B, th@
Company did not recognize any interest or penalétzded to unrecognized tax benefits.

The Company’s continuing practice is to recognigeriest and/or penalties related to income taxarsatt
in income tax expense. As of December 27, 2014Dwaember 28, 2013, the Company had no accruecgtter
and penalties related to uncertain tax matters.
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As of December 27, 2014, the Company had no uringga positions that would be reduced as a result
of a lapse of the applicable statute of limitations

Note 7—Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The Company leases certain of its facilities andggent under nor cancelable operating leases that

expire at various dates through 2017. Rental experet of amortization of deferred gain and suldéasome, is
presented in the following table (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢
2014 2013
Rental expense, n $ 604 $ 774

A summary of future minimum payments under opegpliiase commitments as of December 27, 2014 is
as follows (in thousands):

Operating
Fiscal Year Leases
2015 $ 338
2016 308
2017 35
Total minimum lease paymer $ 681

Litigation and Patent Reexaminations

The Company owns numerous patents and continugrddoge and strengthen its patent portfolios, which
cover different aspects of the Company’s technolaoggvations with various claim scopes. The Compalans
to generate revenue by selling or licensing ithnetogy, and intends to vigorously enforce its pateghts
against infringers of such rights. The Company cegeis substantial resources in protecting itslédelal
property, including its efforts to defend its pageagainst challenges made by way of reexamingtioceedings
at the United States Patent and Trademark Offld&PTQO”). These activities are likely to continue tioe
foreseeable future, without any guarantee thatoagping or future patent protection and litigatamtivities will
be successful. The Company is also subject t@tithg claims that it has infringed on the intelledtproperty of
others, against which the Company intends to deféggatously.

Litigation, whether or not eventually decided ie tBhompany’s favor or settled, is costly and time-
consuming and could divert management’s attentimhrasources. Because of the nature and inherent
uncertainties of litigation, should the outcomean¥ of such actions be unfavorable, the Companysiness,
financial condition, results of operations or cfelvs could be materially and adversely affectedditionally,
the outcome of pending litigation, and the relgiatent reexaminations, as well as any delay i tesplution,
could affect the Company’s ability to license igeilectual property in the future or to protecamgt competition
in the current and expected markets for its praduct

Google Litigation
In May 2008, the Company initiated discussions v@thogle, Inc. (“Google”) based on information and
belief that Google had infringed on a U.S. patemied by the Company, U.S. Patent No. 7,289,38& (‘386

patent”), which relates generally to technolog@snplement rank multiplication in memory modules.
Preemptively, Google filed a

F-22



Table of Content

declaratory judgment lawsuit against the ComparthénU.S. District Court for the Northern Distraft California
(the “Northern District Court”), seeking a declamatthat Google did not infringe the ‘386 patentl dnat the ‘386
patent was invalid. The Company filed a countenclfor infringement of the ‘386 patent by GoogleaiGi
construction proceedings were held in November 2808 the Company prevailed on every disputed claim
construction issue. In June 2010, the Company fitetions for summary judgment of patent infringeitreamd
dismissal of Google’s affirmative defenses. In N0, Google requested and was later grantédtanPartes
Reexamination of the ‘386 patent by the USPTO. fBexamination proceedings are described below. The
Northern District Court granted Google's requesitay the litigation pending result of the reexaation, and
therefore has not ruled on the Company’s motionsdionmary judgment.

In December 2009, the Company filed a patent igéiment lawsuit against Google in the Northern
District Court, seeking damages and injunctiveefddiased on Google’s infringement of U.S. PatentN§19,912
(“the ‘912 patent”), which is related to the ‘38&tent and relates generally to technologies toémpht rank
multiplication. In February 2010, Google answettsel Company’s complaint and asserted counterclajamst
the Company seeking a declaration that the padenvalid and not infringed, and claiming that @empany
committed fraud, negligent misrepresentation amédn of contract based on the Company’s activiti¢ise
JEDEC standard-setting organization. The countienct@eks unspecified compensatory damages. Acdnasks
not been recorded for loss contingencies relat&biogle’s counterclaim because it is not probdide & loss has
been incurred and the amount of any such loss td@nie@asonably estimated. In October 2010, Gaegjeested
and was later granted &mter PartesReexamination of the ‘912 patent by the USPTO. rElexamination
proceedings are described below. In connection tithreexamination request, the Northern Distrimtin®
granted the Company and Google’s joint requestatp the ‘912 patent infringement lawsuit againsb@e until
the completion of the reexamination proceedings.

Inphi Litigation

In September 2009, the Company filed a patentigéinent lawsuit against Inphi Corporation (“Inphi”)
in the U.S. District Court for the Central Distrift California (the “Central District Court”). Theomplaint, as
amended, alleges that Inphi is contributorily in§ing and actively inducing the infringement of Up&tents
owned by the Company, including the ‘912 paten§.Watent No. 7,532,537 (“the ‘537 patent”), whielates
generally to memory modules with load isolation ameimory domain translation capabilities, and U &eRt
No. 7,636,274 (“the ‘274 patent”), which is relatedhe ‘537 patent and relates generally to Isathtion and
memory domain translation technologies. The Compasgeking damages and injunctive relief basekhpii's
use of the Company’s patented technology. Inphiegdeimfringement and claimed that the three patargs
invalid. In April 2010, Inphi requested but waselatleniednter PartesReexaminations of the ‘912, ‘537 and
‘274 patents by the USPTO. In June 2010, Inphi stibchnew requests and was later gratiteer Partes
Reexaminations of the ‘912, ‘537 and ‘274 pategtthe USPTO. The reexamination proceedings arerittesc
below. In connection with the reexamination regsieisiphi filed a motion to stay the patent infringgnt lawsuit
with the Central District Court, which was grant&tie Central District Court has requested thaGbmpany
notify it within one week of any action taken byt SPTO in connection with the reexamination prdoess, at
which time the Central District Court may decidenaintain or lift the stay.

SanDisk, Smart Modular, Smart Worldwide, and Didbt@ations

In September 2012, Smart Modular, Inc. (“Smart Madifiled a patent infringement lawsuit against
the Company in the U.S. District Court for the EastDistrict of California (the “Eastern DistricoGrt”). The
complaint alleges that the Company willfully infgies and actively induces the infringement of s&irak of a
U.S. patent newly issued to Smart Modular, U.Setatlo. 8,250,295 (“the ‘295 patent”), and seeksalzes and
injunctive relief. Smart Modular also filed a matiéor preliminary injunction and a memorandum ipsort of
the motion on the same day of the complaint. Thea@my promptly filed a request for reexaminatiohef ‘295
patent with the USPTO setting forth six differeabtbinations of prior art that would render the asserted
claims of the ‘295 patent unpatentable. The Compdsy filed an answer to Smart Modular's complaiith the
Eastern District Court in October 2012 to denyiimfement of the ‘295 patent, assert that the ‘288 is
invalid and unenforceable, and bring a set of cenafdims against Smart. Smart Modular filed variowgions on
the pleadings on November 1, 2012, which were oggbby the Company in its briefs filed in late
November 2012.
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In December 2012, the USPTO granted the Compaayisast for the reexamination of the ‘295 patent,
and issued an Office Action rejecting all of the asserted claims over the six different combimetiof prior art
set forth by the Company in its request. The Comaomptly moved to stay litigation pending resafit
reexamination. On February 19, 2013, a few days &ftnart Modular filed replies in support of itstinas, the
Eastern District Court issued a Minute Order, inchitthe court on its own motion took the preliminar
injunction; the motion to dismiss and the motiorstay under submission without oral argument amnatesl the
hearing dates.

On February 7, 2013, Smart Modular filed a respdogke Office Action in the reexamination of the
‘295 patent. Thereafter, the Company and Smart Mwodnade various filings to address certain apgatefects
contained in Smart Modular's response. On Marci2033, the USPTO issued a Notice of Defective Raper
which the USPTO found Smart Modular’s responset thee initial filing and a supplemental filing, be
improper, and both responses were expunged fromettoed. The USPTO gave Smart Modular 15 dayshmgu
another response, which Smart Modular submitteMarch 26, 2013. The Company timely filed its comitsesn
Smart Modular’s corrected response on April 25,20he USPTO ultimately accepted Smart Modular’s
corrected response on July 17, 2013. On Apri2d4, the USPTO issued an Action Closing Prosecutio
(“ACP™), confirming some claims and rejecting otheiSmart Modular filed a response to the ACP oy 3
2014, and Netlist filed comments related to SmastiMar’s response on June 30, 2014. Thus, thenesieation
of the ‘295 patent remains pending and will corgimuaccordance with established procedures foaremation
proceedings.

On May 30, 2013, the Eastern District Court issaearder granting Netlist's motion to stay pending
results of the reexamination of the ‘295 patent @mdied Smart Modular's motion for preliminary ingtion.

On July 1, 2013, Netlist filed a complaint agaiigtart Modular in the Santa Ana Division of the U.S.
District Court for the Central District of Califain(“Central District Court”), seeking, among othkings, relief
under federal antitrust laws for Smart Modular'slation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, and dareagel other
equitable relief under California statutory and coom law for Smart Modular’'s unfair competition, dptive
trade practices and fraud.

On August 23, 2013, Netlist filed an amended compfar patent infringement, antitrust violationsca
trade secret misappropriation against Smart Mod8larart Storage Systems (“Smart Storage”), SmartdWale
Holdings (“Smart Worldwide”) and Diablo Technologi€Diablo”) in the Central District Court. Smarto8age
was acquired by SanDisk Corporation (“SanDisk”amust 22, 2013. Netlist's amended complaint &teg
infringement of five Netlist patents by the defenidabased on the manufacture and sale of the UDLM##
memory module. Netlist's complaint also allegestarst violations by Smart Modular and Smart Woridey
contending that Smart Modular procured a paters (Batent No. 8,250,295) with blatant inequitaloleduict at
the USPTO, withheld the patent application leadmthe patent from relevant JEDEC committees forenthan
eight years, sought to improperly enforce that maagainst Netlist's JEDEC-compliant HyperCloud®ghuct by
seeking a preliminary injunction against Netliss&a on the patent, which was denied by the EaBlistrict
Court, and made deceptive statements to the palbdiat its lawsuit against Netlist. Netlist's comptalso
alleges trade secret misappropriation and trademfrtkgement against Diablo, claiming that Diabhisused
Netlist trade secrets to create the ULLtraDIMM prodfor Smart Storage (now SanDisk), and that Dialsed
Netlist's HyperCloud® technology to create compgfmoducts.

On the same day Netlist filed its amended compl&ntart Modular and Diablo each filed a complaint i
the San Francisco Division of the U.S. District @dVorthern District of California (“Northern Distt Court”),
seeking declaratory judgment of non-infringement gavalidity of the patents asserted in the Neédiamended
complaint. On September 9, 2013, Netlist filed aibloto Dismiss or Transfer these declaratory judgm
complaints to the Central District Court. This nootiwas denied by the Northern District Court ondber 10,
2013.

In the Central District Court, Smart Modular andénhWorldwide filed motions on September 13, 2013,
to dismiss or sever various counts related to 288 patent. On September 26, 2013, Diablo filedb&ian to
dismiss Netlist’s claims for trade secret misappedjon, breach of contract, and unfair competitiom
October 29, 2013, Smart Modular and Diablo filedioms to dismiss or transfer the patent claimsteel&o the
ULLtraDIMM memory module. On November 26, 2013, ©entral District Court: (i) severed and transfdrige
claims related to the ‘295 patent to the EastestrBt Court, which were stayed by the Easternrizgis€ourt on
March 7, 2014, along with the other ‘295 relatemirak pending results of the ‘295 reexamination;s@ivered and
transferred to the Northern District Court the patdaims related to the ULLtraDIMM memory module;

(iii) issued an order to show cause why the
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remaining claims should not also be transferrettiédNorthern District Court; and (iv) held in abega Diablo’s
pending motion to dismiss and motion for judgmenttee pleadings. The parties filed briefs in reggoto the
order to show cause, and then on December 23, #td Eentral District Court ordered the remainifajmas to be
transferred to the Northern District Court. Alltbe claims from the amended complaint filed on Aid8, 2013,
in the Central District Court have now been tranisié to either the Northern District Court or thaskern District
Court.

As reported in its Form 8-K filed on December 1312, Netlist received a whistleblower letter
postmarked from Canada (where Diablo is based)@rehber 13, 2013, and obviously written by a curogn
former Diablo employee. The letter begins by blustating that Diablo stole Netlist's architectared design,
and goes on to explain that Diablo used NetlisypétCloudrm product to create the ULLtraDIMM product,
which it then used in demonstrations to major austis including IBM and Hewlett-Packard. The leftether
states that Diablo’s management conspired to hidetheft by instructing its employees not to spea&ustomers
about the fact that Netlist’'s product was incorpedanto ULLtraDIMM. The letter includes diagrantsosving
how Diablo implemented the theft of Netlist's tragkerets, as well as the names of former Diabld&yaps,
customers and suppliers who can verify the thdfe Form 8-K included as an exhibit a partially tdd copy of
the whistleblower letter. On December 13, 2013pidiled an ex parte application in the Northeristbct Court
requesting that the Court issue an order to shasecavhy Netlist should not be sanctioned for attagthe
redacted copy of the whistleblower letter to thenfr8-K. The Northern District Court heard the pesti
arguments on December 16, 2013, and on Januafi3, Bsued an order denying Diablo’s applicatimn f
sanctions, finding that Diablo had not establisadxasis for finding the information in the Form &HKd its
attachments “confidential” and therefore had nawvahwhy it should be granted the relief sought.

On January 21, 2014, Netlist filed a motion fovke#o file a second amended answer and counterlaim
in the Northern District Court to assert two aduiil patents, bringing the total to seven patesgerded against
the ULLtraDIMM. Diablo did not oppose Netlist's nmiot, and the parties filed a joint stipulation grdposed
order on February 3, 2014, requesting an additimmalmonths be added to the case schedule to acfmithe
additional patents. On February 5, 2014, the Nontigstrict Court granted Netlist's motion to adettwo
patents and entered a new case schedule. On Ret@)@2014, the Northern District Court grantee garties’
joint stipulation dismissing Smart Modular withqarejudice. On April 7, 2014, the Northern Distr@burt
granted Netlist’'s motion for leave to file a Sec#xmdended Complaint in the patent case.

On March 21, 2014, Netlist filed a Second Amendeth@laint against Diablo in the Northern District
Court, Case No. 4:13-CV-05962 (the “trade secre¢Qaalleging, among other things, that in stephitetlist’s
proprietary HyperCloud® and DxD and LRD technolagiBiablo breached its contracts with Netlist, cdtred
trademark violations, and misappropriated Netlistsle secrets. Also on March 21, 2014, Netlistess Diablo
with its Amended Trade Secret Disclosure, detaitipgroximately 60 trade secrets Netlist taughtighb® in
connection with the contracted and confidentialkvam the HyperCloud® project. On April 9, 2014 abio filed
a motion to dismiss Netlist's Second Amended Ti&deret Complaint, as well as a motion for judgnuenthe
pleadings. That motion was heard by the Northastriot Court on May 13, 2014, and on Septemb&044,
denied the motion with respect to all grounds ekoape, which Netlist did not contest.

On April 1, 2014, the Northern District Court deshiBiablo’s motion to strike Netlist’s infringement
contentions, finding that Netlist’'s contentions tideed satisfy the relevant requirements and, jnil &, 2014,
granted Netlist’'s motion to compel defendants tadpce certain discovery materials related to the
ULLtraDIMM. Diablo filed a motion for relief fronthese two rulings, which was denied on April 8,20Also
on April 7, 2014, the Northern District Court gradtNetlist's motion for issuance of Letters Roggatiorthe
Canadian courts requesting that summons be issuédd former Diablo employees living in Canada aadhed
in the whistleblower letter to produce documents tanbe deposed. These depositions occurreddarhiagust
2014.

On April 8, 2014, the Northern District Court gradtNetlist's motion to consolidate the patent esat
cases (Case Nos. 4:13-CV-05889-YGR and 4:13-CV-D3XIBR) and to coordinate discovery with the trade
secret case (4:13-CV-05962-YGR), and denied Diabiwotion to further consolidate the patent andetisetret
cases. On April 15, 2014, the Northern Districu@granted the parties’ joint stipulation dismigsiSmart
Worldwide without prejudice. On April 30, 2014 ¢etNorthern District Court denied Diablo’s requémsttt
Netlist's Amended Trade Secret

F- 25



Table of Content
Disclosure and exhibits thereto be re-designaté@asfidential” from the current designation of ‘gily
Confidential — Attorneys’ Eyes Only”.

Between June 18 and June 24, 2014, SanDisk filgtiopes in the USPTO requestitigter Partes
Review (“IPR”) of the five Netlist patents assertedhe August 23, 2013 amended complaint. Diabialarly
filed petitions requesting IPR of the two Netlistt@nts added in the second amended answer filddrarary 21,
2014. Netlist filed patent owner preliminary respes to all of the petitions associated with theseasserted
Netlist patents. The USPTO issued decisions opdiitions in December, 2014, denying the petitiontheir
entirety as to three patents (U.S. Patent Nos6818Y; 8,301,833; 8,516,185), granting a partisiitation on one
patent (U.S. Patent No. 8,001,434), and institutimgview of all claims in three patents (U.SeRaNos.
7,881,150; 8,081,536; 8,359,501). Reviews wilt¢tiere proceed related to four Netlist patents (B&ent Nos.
8,001,434; 7,881,150; 8,081,536; 8,359,501) in atantce with established procedures.

On August 23, 2014, Smart Modular also filed petisi in the USPTO requesting IPR of the five Netlist
patents asserted in the August 23, 2013 amendeglaimm Netlist filed patent owner preliminary pesmses to all
of the Smart Modular petitions in December, 200h March 13, 2015, the USPTO issued decisions @isthart
Modular petitions, denying the petitions in theitieety as to the same three patents that sunthivegetitions
filed by SanDisk in June, 2014 (U.S. Patent No518,187; 8,301,833; 8,516,185), and instituted tauitil
reviews of the two other patents already underesg\{lJ.S. Patent No. 8,001,434, 8,359,501) thatpridceed in
accordance with established procedures.

SanDisk filed a motion on June 24, 2014, to stayNbrthern District patent cases pending compleatfon
the IPRs (Diablo later joined this motion). Naditfiged its opposition to the motion to stay onydaD, 2014. The
Northern District Court heard oral arguments onrtfwgion to stay in early August 2014, and issuedraler on
August 21, 2014, denying the motion without pregedi SanDisk renewed its motion to stay on Jan2@yp015,
which is currently being briefed by the parties.

On October 6, 2014, Netlist filed a Motion for Pm@hary Injunction in the Northern District Courtitie
secret suit, asking that Diablo and its partneiDisinbe immediately enjoined from any further mautifire or
sale of the ULLtraDIMM module. The Court grantedpart Netlist's motion on January 6, 2015, ancet a
preliminary injunction halting the manufacture, usale, or distribution of the Diablo Rush and Blips and any
ULLtraDIMM module containing those chips, and adwedh the trial date to March 9, 2015 on the tradeete
misappropriation, breach of contract, and otheateel claims (4:13-CV-05962-YGR). The trial comneghon
schedule and continued for two weeks, with clogsirguments on March 23, 2015. Two days later thegame
back with a verdict finding for the defendant oe tireach of contract, misappropriation of tradeeteand
inventorship counts, while finding for Netlist dmettrademark and false advertising counts. Afenterdict, the
court ordered briefing to determine the effecth&f jury verdict on the preliminary injunction ergéron July 6,
2015, and set a tentative date of April 10, 20@Sdar oral arguments on this issue. Remainingvmsict
motions are to be filed within a month of the jurdict.

SanDisk and Diablo filed motions with the U.S. GafrAppeals for the Federal Circuit appealing the
January 6, 2015, preliminary injunction and asKorgexpedited briefing and a stay of the prelimjniajunction
during the pendency of the appeals. The FederaliCdenied both requests for expedited briefaepnied
Diablo’s request for a stay, but granted SanDisksower request for a stay of the preliminary figion as to
SanDisk’s existing inventory of enjoined producg&anDisk’s and Diablo’s appeals of the preliminajynction
are proceeding in accordance with established duoes. Diablo filed additional papers following tlury
verdict in the trade secret case asking the Fe@aralit to transfer jurisdiction over the prelimaity injunction
back to the trial court in conjunction with thedding ordered by the trial court on the issue oatwffect the jury
verdict will have on the preliminary injunction.h& Federal Circuit has not yet responded to tljaest.

On March 25, 2015, a jury returned an unfavoraklelict in the Northern District Court trade semeit.
As a result, Netlist may forfeit the $900,000 bgudted earlier in the litigation.
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‘386 Patent Reexamination

As noted above, in May 2010, Google requested agllater granted dnter PartesReexamination of
the ‘386 patent by the USPTO. In October 2010, $Madular requested and was later grantethter Partes
Reexamination of the ‘386 patent. The reexaminatieguested by Google and Smart Modular were mdrged
the USPTO into a single proceeding. In April 204 Non-Final Action was issued by the USPTO, refjectill
claims in the patent. In July 2011, the Companpoaded by amending or canceling some of the clahaiding
new claims, and making arguments as to the valafithe rejected claims in view of cited referendgsth
Google and Smart Modular filed their comments ®@ompany’s response in October 2011. In Octob&? 2he
USPTO issued an ACP rejecting all 60 claims. Then@any filed a response to the ACP on December .20
On June 21, 2013, the USPTO issued a Right of Appetice (“RAN") in which the examiner maintainedsh
rejection of the claims. Netlist filed a noticeagpeal on July 19, 2013. Google filed a noticerogs-appeal on
August 2, 2013, and a cross-appeal brief on Octbp2013. The Company filed an appeal brief and an
amendment canceling some of the remaining clain®anber 2, 2013 to further focus the issues oralp®On
February 24, 2014, the examiner entered the amertdraaceling claims, withdrew the rejections redatethose
claims, but otherwise maintained the positions jogsly set forth in the RAN. On September 24, 20hé
USPTO set a hearing date of November 19, 2014er Alfe hearing, on February 25, 2015, the PTABedsu
decision affirming the Examiner’s rejections of flending claims. The Company has until March 28,520
request for rehearing of the PTAB’s decision amil tbe&reafter appeal to the Court of Appeals forRbderal
Circuit. Thus, the reexamination of the ‘386 patemains pending and will continue in accordania w
established procedures for merged reexaminatioreprings and judicial appeals therefrom.

‘912 Patent Reexamination

As noted above, in April 2010, Inphi requestedwas later denied dnter PartesReexamination of the
‘912 patent by the USPTO. In June 2010, Inphi stiiehia new request and was later grantebhten Partes
Reexamination of the ‘912 patent by the USPTO.dpt&mber 2010, the USPTO confirmed the patentaloiit
all fifty-one claims of the ‘912 patent. In Octol#010, Google and Smart Modular each filed and Jetes
granted requests for reexamination of the ‘912rgata February 2011, the USPTO merged the Inpbodgke and
Smart Modular ‘912 reexaminations into a singleceealing. In an April 2011 Non-Final Action in theerged
reexamination proceeding, the USPTO rejected cla®8 and 22-51 and confirmed the patentabilitglaim 21
of the ‘912 patent. In July 2011, the Company resled by amending or canceling some of the clainding
new claims, and making arguments as to the val@ithe rejected claims. Inphi, Google, and SmavtMar
filed their comments on the Company’s responsetigust 2011. In October 2011, the USPTO mailed arskc
Non-Final Action confirming the patentability of énty claims of the ‘912 patent, including claimatttvere
added in the reexamination process. In January,28&Zompany responded by amending or cancelimg s
the claims, adding new claims, and making argumasite the validity of the rejected claims. Googtehi and
Smart Modular filed their comments to the Compamgsponse in February 2012. The USPTO determirad th
Smart Modular's comments were defective, and issuedtice to Smart Modular to rectify and resubitsit
comments. Smart Modular filed corrected commentsaapetition for the USPTO to withdraw the notigoe i
March 2012. The USPTO issued a non-final Officeidxtbn November 13, 2012 maintaining the pateritstwf
many key claims while rejecting some claims thaten@eviously determined to be patentable. The Gmyp
filed a response to the Office Action on January2B13. The requesters filed their comments onuelprl3,
2013. On March 21, 2014, the USPTO issued an AG/jrming the patentability of 92 claims and maintng
the rejection of 11 other claims. On June 18, 2618 USPTO issued a RAN, maintaining the substanti
positions taken by the examiner in the ACP. Smtardular, Inphi and Google filed notices of appealaly 16,
July 18 and July 18, 2014, respectively. Netiistifa notice of cross-appeal on July 30, 2014.ai$m
Modular, Inphi and Google filed their respectivgegl briefs on September 16, September 30 andi8bete30,
2014. Netlist filed its cross-appeal brief on ®epber 30, 2014. On January 14, 2015, the examiagttained
his positions previously set forth in the RAN. Tpeaties filed respective rebuttal briefs in Feloyu2015. The
reexamination of the ‘912 patent remains pendirdwifi continue in accordance with established prhaes for
merged reexamination proceedings.

‘627 Patent Reexamination

In September 2011, Smart Modular filed a requeastdexamination of U.S. Patent No. 7,864,627 (“the
‘627 patent”) issued to the Company on Januar¥412The ‘627 patent is related to the ‘912 patient.
November 2011, the USPTO granted Smart Modulagaest for reexamination of the ‘627 patent and
concurrently issued a Non-Final
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Action confirming the patentability of three clainis February 2012, the Company responded by amgradi
canceling some of the claims, adding new claimd,raaking arguments as to the validity of the rejdatlaims.
Smart Modular filed its comments to the Compangsponse in March 2012. The USPTO determined thattSm
Modular's comments were defective and issued aadti April 2012 to Smart Modular to rectify anduémit its
comments. Smart Modular filed corrected commentsaapetition for the USPTO to withdraw the notioe i
April 2012. The USPTO posted an Office Action orcBeber 19, 2012, confirming one claim and rejectimg
rest of the claims in the ‘627 patent. The Compileyl a response to the Office Action on March 2013. Smart
Modular filed its comments on the Office Action April 24, 2013. The USPTO issued another Non-Fdidice
Action on September 26, 2013, withdrawing certajecations while adopting new rejections for cerfithe
pending claims. The Company responded to the NoatEffice Action on November 26, 2013, by amending
some of the claims and making arguments as toalaity of the rejected claims. On March 27, 20t USPTO
issued an ACP, maintaining the claim rejections. JOne 27, 2014, the USPTO issued a RAN, mainghithie
substantive positions taken by the examiner inNG®. Netlist filed a notice of appeal on July 2814. On
October 14, 2014, the Company filed its appeaflane, on November 13, 2014, Smart Modular filed it
respondent’s brief. The reexamination of the ‘6a%pt remains pending and will continue in accocdanith
establishednter PartesReexamination procedures.

‘537 Patent Reexamination

As noted above, in April 2010, Inphi requested waag later denied dmter PartesReexamination of the
‘5637 patent by the USPTO. In June 2010, Inphi stiiechia new request and was later grantekhten Partes
Reexamination of the ‘537 patent by the USPTO.dpt8mber 2010, the USPTO issued a Non-Final Action
confirming the patentability of four claims. In @ber 2010, the Company responded by amending celiag
some of the claims, adding new claims, and makiggraents as to the validity of the rejected claimphi filed
its comments on the Company’s response in Janudry. 2n June 2011, the USPTO issued an ACP, which
reconfirmed the patentability of the four claimsAugust 2010, the Company responded by amendmg b
the claims and making arguments as to the valddithe rejected claims. Inphi filed its commentshe
Company'’s response in September 2011. The USPT@dss Right of Appeal Notice in February 2012, hick
the claim rejections were withdrawn, thus confirgithe patentability of all sixty (60) claims in weof all the
previously submitted comments by both Inphi andGbenpany. Inphi filed a notice of appeal in Mar¢ii.2
followed by an appeal brief in May 2012. In respgribe USPTO issued a Notice of Defective Appe@fBr
Inphi filed a corrective appeal brief in late May12, and the Company filed its reply brief to tloerected Inphi
appeal brief in early July 2012. The examiner resled to Inphi's corrected appeal brief as wellh@s@ompany’s
reply brief by Examiner’s Answer on April 16, 2018 which he maintained his position confirming siltty
(60) claims. Inphi filed a rebuttal brief on May,Z®13. Netlist filed a request for oral hearingJome 14, 2013.
The Company and the examiner jointly defended3B8& patent in a hearing on November 20, 2013 béfare
Patent Trial and Appeal Board (“PTAB") at the USRPT January 16, 2014, the PTAB issued a decision
upholding the validity of all 60 claims, dismissiagery single validity challenge raised by Inphdaifirming the
examiner’s decision to allow the claims. On Augl&t2014, the PTAB denied Inphi's request for reinggand
made its decision final for judicial review to Coof Appeals for the Federal Circuit (“CAFC”). @rctober 15,
2014, Inphi filed a Notice of Appeal to the CAFOn February 3, 2015, Inphi filed an appellant'sbmn its
appeal to the CAFC. The reexamination of the ‘b&%nt remains pending and will continue in accocdawith
established procedures foter PartesReexamination and judicial appeals therefrom.

‘274 Patent Reexamination

As noted above, in April 2010, Inphi requested wag later denied dnter PartesReexamination of the
‘274 patent by the USPTO. In June 2010, Inphi stiiehia new request and was later grantebhten Partes
Reexamination of the ‘274 patent by the USPTO.dpt8mber 2011, the USPTO issued a Non-Final Action,
confirming the patentability of six claims. The Coamy has responded by amending or canceling sortie of
claims, adding new claims, and making arguments #se validity of the rejected claims. Inphi filéd
comments on the Company’s response in November. ZBELUSPTO issued an ACP in March 2012, which
confirmed the patentability of one hundred and fol04 ) claims in view of all the previously sulited
comments by both Inphi and the Company. The USRilBeqjuently issued a RAN in June 2012. This RAN
triggered Inphi’s right as the losing party to fileotice of appeal and corresponding appeal bvigt;h Inphi
filed when due. The Company responded to Inphifgeapbrief by filing a reply brief in October 201Ithe
examiner responded to Inphi's appeal brief and¢ipéy brief by Examiner's Answer on April 16, 2018,which
he maintained his position confirming the one heddxnd four (104) claims. Inphi
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filed a rebuttal brief on May 16, 2013. Netlisefil a request for oral hearing on June 14, 2013 Cidmepany and
the USPTO examiner jointly defended the ‘274 paiteat hearing on November 20, 2013 before the PTAB,
accordance with established proceduredritar PartesReexamination. On January 16, 2014, the PTAB issued
decision affirming the examiner in part, but reuggghe examiner on new grounds and rejecting treehaundred
and four (104) claims. On March 28, 2014, Nefllstl a Patent Owner's Response Requesting to Reope
Prosecution along with certain claim amendmentsaagdments. On June 26, 2014, the PTAB issuediaide
granting-in-part Inphi’s request to modify the Jaryl16, 2014, decision as to two of the rejectaihtd. The
reexamination of the ‘274 patent remains pendirdjwifi continue in accordance with established prhaes for
Inter PartesReexamination.

Other Contingent Obligations

During its normal course of business, the Compasyrhade certain indemnities, commitments and
guarantees pursuant to which it may be requiredake payments in relation to certain transacti®dhsse
include (i) intellectual property indemnities tetlCompany’s customers and licensees in conneciibrtive use,
sales and/or license of Company products; (i) imaigies to vendors and service providers pertaitongaims
based on the Company’s negligence or willful migtan; (i) indemnities involving the accuracy of
representations and warranties in certain contréejsndemnities to directors and officers of tBempany to the
maximum extent permitted under the laws of theeStdDelaware; (v) indemnities to Fortress Credit
Opportunities | IP, successor to DBD Credit Fundibg, and SVB pertaining to all obligations, demand
claims, and liabilities claimed or asserted by ather party in connection with transactions contieegl by the
loan documents; and (vi) certain real estate leaseter which the Company may be required to indgmn
property owners for environmental and other lidileli, and other claims arising from the Compang's of the
applicable premises. The duration of these indéemitommitments and guarantees varies and, iaicerases,
may be indefinite. The majority of these indemsitieommitments and guarantees do not provide fpr an
limitation of the maximum potential for future pagnis the Company could be obligated to make. Hesthy,
the Company has not been obligated to make signifijpayments for these obligations, and no liaedihave
been recorded for these indemnities, commitmerdggaarantees in the accompanying consolidated txalan
sheets.

Note 8 —Stockholders’ Equity
Serial Preferred Stock

The Company’s authorized capital includes 10,00D )tares of Serial Preferred Stock, with a paresalu
of $0.001 per share. No shares were outstandibgember 27, 2014 or December 28, 2013.

Common Stock

In November 2011, the Company entered into a sajesement with Ascendiant Capital Markets, LLC
(“Ascendiant”), whereby shares with a total valéep to $10.0 million may be released for saléh®public at
the discretion of management at a price equald@tirent market price in an “at-the-market” offigras defined
in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933. Dgi2013, the Company received net proceeds of appately
$0.2 million raised through the sale of 240,378rsh of common stock. The sales agreement withnilémet
expired on November 21, 2013.

On July 17, 2013, the Company entered into a dafinsecurities purchase agreement for the sale of
common stock and warrants in a registered pubferiofy (“2013 Offering”) of its securities for greproceeds of
$1.0 million. The 2013 Offering closed on July 2013, and the Company received net proceeds df,$96
after deducting commissions and offering costse 2013 Offering resulted in the issuance 1,098%@es of
the Company’s common stock and a warrant to puechpgo an aggregate of 1,098,902 shares of thep@ayts
common stock. The warrant is exercisable as oflétte of its issuance, has a term of seven yealsamexercise
price of $1.00 per share. The exercise price hachtimber of warrant shares issuable upon exestisarrant is
subject to adjustment in the event of, among dtfiegs, certain transactions affecting the Compaisgmmon
stock (including without limitation stock splits&stock dividends), and certain fundamental tratises
(including without limitation a merger or other saf-company transaction). On February 3, 201& Gbmpany
issued 750,000 shares of common stock upon exert@ech warrants at a purchase price of $0.8%Ipare,
resulting in proceeds to the Company of $667,500 .
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Sale of Common Stock Pursuant to Securities Purchasgreement s

On February 11, 2014, the Company completed thd @ifering of shares of the Company’s common
stock. In the 2014 Offering, the Company issuedsaid to Underwriter 8,680,775 shares of commooksto
pursuant to an underwriting agreement, dated &glofuary 6, 2014, by and between the Company and th
Underwriter, at a price of $1.2115 per share, idiclg 1,132,275 shares resulting from the Underwsitexercise
in full of its option to purchase additional shact€Common Stock to cover over-allotments. Thegper share to
the public in the 2014 Offering was $1.30 per shahe net proceeds from the 2014 Offering were @pprately
$10.3 million, after deducting underwriting disodsiand commissions and estimated offering expenses

On February 24, 2015, the Company completed th& @lfering of shares of the Company’s common
stock. In the 2015 Offering, the Company issuedsauid to the Underwriter 8,846,154 shares of comsiook
pursuant to an underwriting agreement, dated &glfuary 19, 2015, by and between the Companytend t
Underwriter, at a price of $1.209 per share,udirlg 1,153,846 shares resulting from the Undeenstexercise
in full of its option to purchase additional shacé€Common Stock to cover over-allotments. Thegper share to
the public in the 2015 Offering was $1.30 per shahe net proceeds from the 2015 Offering were @pprately
$10.4 million, after deducting underwriting disotsiand commissions and estimated offering expenses

Cancellation of Shares of Common Stock

During the fiscal years ended December 27, 2014swémber 28, 2013, the Company cancelled 10,015
and 19,575 shares of common stock, respectivelyedaat approximately $21,000 and $14,000 , respdgt in
connection with its obligation to holders of restied stock to withhold the number of shares requioesatisfy the
holders’ tax liabilities in connection with the Vieg of such shares.

The Company is incorporated in the state of Delapand as such, is subject to various state lavichwh
may restrict the payment of dividends or purchddesasury shares.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has stock-based compensation awargtsieding pursuant to the Amended and Restated
2000 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2000 Plan”) and Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Pien (
“2006 Plan”), under which a variety of option aricedt stock-based awards may be granted to emscyed
nonemployees of the Company. Further grants umge2®00 Plan were suspended upon the adoptior @D6
Plan. In addition to awards made pursuant to tig$ Zlan, the Company periodically issues inducergerits
outside the 2006 Plan to certain new hires.

Subject to certain adjustments, as of Decembe?@l4, the Company was authorized to issue a
maximum of 7,805,566 shares of common stock putdoaawards under the 2006 Plan. That maximum numbe
will automatically increase on the first day of batibsequent calendar year by the lesser of (% @f the
number of shares of common stock that are issugddatstanding as of the first day of the calendsryand (ii)
1,200,000 shares of common stock, subject to adgrstfor certain corporate actions. At December2924, the
Company had 244,698 shares available for grantrithde2006 Plan. Options granted under the 2080 &hd
the 2006 Plan equity incentive plans primarily \etsa rate of at least 25% per year over four yaadsexpire 10
years from the date of grant. Restricted stockrdsvaest in eight equal increments at intervalapgroximately
six months from the date of grant.

A summary of the Company’s common stock optionvétgtis presented below (shares in thousands):

Options Outstanding
Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Contractual Intrinsic
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Options outstandin- December 29, 201
Options grante
Options exercise
Options cancelle

Options outstandin- December 28, 201
Options grante
Options exercise
Options cancelle

Options outstandin- December 27, 201

Options exercisabl- December 27, 201

Options exercisable and expected to - Decembe

27,2014

Shares Exercise Life Value
(inthousands  Price  (in years) (in thousands
4752 $ 3.22
2,080 0.77
(118 0.34
(877, 2.05
5,837 2.58
2,115 1.46
(303 0.51
415 1.57
7,234 $ 240 6.3 $ 81
4353 $ 3.03 48 $ 73
6,802 $ 247 48 $ 80

The following table summarizes information abowatcktoptions outstanding and exercisable at

December 27, 2014:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted

Average Average
Remaining Weighted Remaining Weighted
Number of Contractual Average Number of  Contractual Average
shares Life Exercise shares Life Exercise

Exercise Price Rangi (in thousands  (in years) Price (in thousands  (in years) Price

$0.20- $1.00 2,328 82 $ 0.74 836 72 $ 0.67
$1.01- $3.00 3,171 6.2 $ 2.00 2,015 48 $ 211
$3.01- $5.00 840 6.7 $ 357 607 65 $ 355
$5.01- $8.45 895 16 $ 7.01 895 18 $ 7.01
7,234 63 $ 240 4,353 48 $ 3.03

A summary of the Company’s restricted stock aw@&gsesented below (shares in thousands):

Balance outstanding at December 29, 2
Restricted stock grante
Restricted stock veste
Restricted stock forfeite

Balance outstanding at December 28, 2
Restricted stock grante
Restricted stock veste
Restricted stock forfeite

Balance outstanding at December 27, 2

Restricted Stock Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Grant-Date

Number of Fair Value

Shares per Share
158 $ 3.32
(95) 3.39
(9) 3.49
54 % 3.17
(50) 3.30
(2) 1.51
2 9 1.51
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The following table presents details of the assionptused to calculate the weighted-average getet d
fair value of common stock options granted by tlen@any:

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢&
2014 2013

Expected term (in year 6.3 6.4
Expected volatility 124% 119%
Risk-free interest rat 1.86% 1.38%
Expected dividend - -
Weighter-average grant date fair value per st $ 129 $ 0.68
Grant date fair value of options ves $ 1,842 $ 1,355
Intrinsic value of options exercised (in thousar $ 410 $ 46

At December 27, 2014, the amount of unearned dbasked compensation currently estimated to be
expensed from 201 5 through 201 7 related to uedestmmon stock options and restricted stock awards
approximately $2. 8 million, net of estimated fatdees. The weighted-average period over whichuthearned
stock-based compensation is expected to be re@djisiapproximately 2. 5 years. If there are mogifications
or cancellations of the underlying unvested awatdsCompany may be required to accelerate, inereasancel
any remaining unearned stock-based compensatianesgmr calculate and record additional expensturé
stock-based compensation expense and unearnedbsteel compensation will increase to the extenttltea
Company grants additional common stock optionglersstock-based awards.

Concurrently with the execution of the Loan Agreeainsee Note 4), the Company issued to Fortress as
successor to an affiliate of DBD, a seven-year aarthe “Warrant”) to purchase an aggregate of8,%61
shares of the Company’s common stock at an exguoice of $1.00 per share, of which all warrants ar
exercisable, as amended, on a cash or cashlessrbagiole or in part. The Warrant was issued fimieate
placement transaction that was exempt from registrainder Section 4(2) of the Securities Act 083 $the
“Securities Act”). In connection with the amendrhnthe Loan Agreement on February 17, 2015, weelted
the Warrant and issued a new warrant in substintied same form. The Company accounted for theamés as
a debt discount and has valued them based onl#iedair value of approximately $1,215,000 bwamortized
over the term of the debt instrument, or three yjaasing the effective interest method. For theeyended
December 27, 2014 and December 28, 2013, the Congmaartized approximately $487,000 and $203,000
respectively, as interest expense in the conselidstatements of operations.

A summary of the warrant activity is presented belo

Weighted-
Number of Average
Shares Exercise

(in thousands’ Price
Warrants outstandin- December 29, 201 2,275 $ 0.89
Warrant grante: 2,748 1.00
Warrants exercise = =
Warrants outstandin- December 28, 201 5023 % 0.95
Warrant grante: - -
Warrants exercise (750 0.89
Warrants outstandin- December 27, 201 4273 ¢ 0.96

Note 9 —401(k) Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contribyilan. Employees are eligible to participate in this
plan provided they are employed full-time and heesched 21 years of age. Participants may makgapre
contributions to
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the plan subject to a statutorily prescribed antinad. Each participant is fully vested in his loer contributions
and investment earnings. The Company may make mgtcbntributions on the contributions of a pagasit on
a discretionary basis. In fiscal 2012, the Compaahypted a limited matching contribution policy andde
approximately $ 0 .08 and $0.07 million in cootrions to participants in this plan in the yeanded December
27, 2014 and December 28, 2013, respectively.

Note 1 0 —Major Customers and Suppliers

The Company’s product sales have historically besrtentrated in a small number of customers. The
following table sets forth sales to customers casimy 10% or more of the Company’s net sales dsvil:

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢
2014 2013
Customer A 20% 45%
Customer E 14% 15%
Customer C 19% *0p

* less than 10% of total net sales

Sales of the Company’s NVvault™ products represkate% and 39 % of net sales in 201 4 and 2013 .

The Company’s accounts receivable are concentvatedhree customer s at December 27, 2014
representing approximately 13 %, 49% and 11%ggfegate gross receivables. At December 28, 2@t
customer represented approximately 73 % of aggeegrass receivables. A significant reduction iresab, or the
inability to collect receivables from, a signifitarustomer could have a material adverse impatt®n
Company. The Company mitigates risk with foreigoaivables by purchasing comprehensive foreigntcred
insurance.

The Company’s purchases have historically beenesdrated in a small number of suppliers. The
following table sets forth purchases from supplemprising 10% or more of the Company’s total pases as
follows:

Year Ended
December 27 December 2¢
2014 2013
Supplier A *% 12%
Supplier B *% 13%
Supplier C 10% *

* less than 10% of total purchases

While the Company believes alternative suppliexdade utilized, any inability to obtain componeats
products in the amounts needed on a timely basis @mmercially reasonable prices could resuligifays in
product introductions, interruption in product shignts or increases in product costs, which couwe lamaterial
adverse effect on the Company.

Note 11 —Segment and Geographic Information

The Company operates in one reportable segmendetsign and manufacture of high-performance
memory subsystems for the server, high-performanoguting and communications markets. The Company
evaluates financial performance on a company-widsb

To date, a majority of the Company’s internatiogelkes relate to shipments of products to its U.S.
customers’ international manufacturing sites ardthiparty hubs. Net sales derived from shipments to

international destinations, primarily to Hong Kafiigcluding foreign subsidiaries of customers that a
headquartered in the U.S.), represented approxiyn2®e% and 58 % of the Company’s net sales in2@hd 201
3, respectively. All of the Company’s net salegléte have been denominated in U.S. dollars.
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As of December 27, 2014 and December 28, 2013pajpately $0. 2 million and $ 0.6 million,
respectively, of the Company’s long-lived assets,af depreciation and amortization, were locatgtdide the
U.S., primarily in the PRC. Substantially all otheng-lived assets were located in the U.S.

Note 1 2 —Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events thtloeigiling date of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K and determined that no subsequent events hawgredahat would require recognition in the cordatéed
financial statements or disclosures in the notegetb other than as discussed in the accompangieg.n

On February 24, 2015, the Company completed ateggis firm commitment underwritten public
offering of shares of the Company’s common stéithe 2015 Offering, the Company issued and sottié¢
Underwriter 8,846,154 shares of common stock pumtsieean underwriting agreement, dated as of Fehri@,
2015, by and between the Company and the Underyaite price of $1.209 per share, including 3,286
shares resulting from the Underwriter’s exercistilhof its option to purchase additional sharé€ommon
Stock to cover over-allotments. The price per skatbe public in the 2015 Offering was $1.30 gware. The net
proceeds from the 2015 Offering were approxima$al§.4 million, after deducting underwriting disctsiand
commissions and estimated offering expenses.

On February 17, 2015, the Loan Agreement with EegtiCredit Opportunities | LP, was amended to
accelerate the availability of the term loan arel@ompany borrowed the remaining $4 million in téoans (see
note 4).

Note 13—Quarterly Summary (Unaudited, in thousandexcept per share data)

Three Months Ended
December 27 September 27 June 28 March 29,

2014 2014 2014 2014
Net sales $ 2516 $ 4,791 $ 4,887 $ 7,001
Cost of sale 2,629 3,678 3,908 5,016
Gross profit (loss (113; 1,113 979 1,985
Operating expense
Research and developm 1,280 1,445 1,232 878
Intellectual property legal fee 2,419 1,552 1,070 1,097
Selling, general and administrati 1,611 1,782 1,781 1,622
Total operating expens 5,310 4,779 4,083 3,597
Operating los! (5,423 (3,666 (3,104 (1,612
Other expense, ne
Interest expense, n (393 (393 (393 (395
Other income (expense), r 5 - 6 (11)
Total other expense, n (388 (393 (387 (406’
Loss before provision for income tax (5,811 (4,059 (3,491 (2,018
Provision for income taxe - - 2 -
Net loss $ (5,811 $ (4,059 $(3,493 $ (2,018
Net loss per common sha
Basic and dilute: $ 014 $ (0.10 $ (0.08 $ (0.05
Weighte-average common shares outstand
Basic and dilute( 41,483 41,472 41,472 36,881
Three Months Ended
Decembe
28, September 2&  June 29 March 30,
2013 2013 2013 2013
Net sales $ 7,730 $ 4,289 $ 5065 $ 5,964
Cost of sale: 5,831 3,896 4,818 5,398
Gross profil 1,899 393 247 566

Operating expense
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1,119 1,070 1,441
522 387 402
1554 1,571 1,755

3,195 3,028 3,598

(2,802 (2,781 (3,032

(324 (88) (130
8) 7 )

(332 (81) (137

(3,134 (2,862 (3,169
7 1 1

(3,141 $(2,863 $ (3,170

(0.10$ (0.09$ (0.10

Research and developm 938
Intellectual property legal fet 804
Selling, general and administrati 1,387
Total operating expens 3,129
Operating los! (1,230
Other expense, ne
Interest expense, n (390
Other income (expense), r 28
Total other expense, n (362
Loss before provision for income tax (1,592
Provision for income taxe =
Net loss $ (15923
Net loss per common sha
Basic and dilute: $ (0.05'$
Weighte-average common shares outstand
Basic and dilute 31,752

31,268 30,320 30,205

Each of the Company’s quarters in fiscal 2014 at3ds comprised of 13 weeks.

Quarterly and year-to-date computations of peresharounts are made independently. Therefore, theo§per
share amounts for the quarters may not agree hatipér share amounts for the year.
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Exhibit 10.24
A MENDMENT TO LOAN DOCUMENTS

THIS AMENDMENT TO LOAN DOCUMENTS (this “Amendment”) is entered into as of September
30, 2014, by and between SILICON VALLEY BANK (“Bahlor “Silicon”) and NETLIST, INC., a Delaware
corporation (“Borrower”). Borrower’s chief exeouti office is located at 175 Technology Drive, Sulfg0,
Irvine, CA 92618.

R ECITALS

A. Bank and Borrower are parties to that certain Laad Security Agreement with an Effec
Date of October 31, 2009 (as amended, modifiedplsupented or restated, the “Loan Agreemeim”effec
between Bank and Borrowe

B. Bank has extended credit to Borrower for the pugpgeermitted in the Loan Agreeme

C. Bank has agreed to so amend the Loan Agreemernnhuto the extent, in accordance with
terms, subject to the conditions and in reliancenuipe representations and warranties set forthwb:

AGREEMENT

Now, Therefore,in consideration of the foregoing recitals and otieod and valuable consideration, the
receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowlédged intending to be legally bound, the parte®to agree
as follows:

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Adment shall have the meani
given to them in the Loan Agreeme

2. Amendments to Loan Documents The Loan Agreement is amended as follows, effeativ
the date hereof (except where a different effeami is specified below

2.1 Modified Anniversary Fee. Section 2.4(g) of the Loan Agreement is hereby aled
in its entirety to read as follov

(9) Anniversary Fee [Omitted].

2.2 Modified Tangible Net Worth Financial Covenant. Section 6.9(b) of the Loz
Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to esafibllows:

(b) Tangible Net Worth. A Tangible Net Worth of at least $
3,000,000 (“Minimum Tangible Net Worth”) plus (i) 50% of all
consideration received after the date hereof fouiteqsecurities and
subordinated debt of the Borrower, plus (ii) 50%tef Borrower’s net income
in each fiscal quarter ending after the date herkufreases in the Minimum
Tangible Net Worth based on consideration recefeecquity securities and
subordinated debt of the Borrower shall be effectis of the end of the month
in which such consideration is received, and stwltinue effective thereafter.
Increases in the Minimum Tangible Net Worth basedet income shall be
effective on the last day of the fiscal quarterwhich said net income is
realized, and shall continue effective thereafteno event shall the Minimum
Tangible Net Worth be decreased.




2.3 Modified Termination Fee. Section 12.1 of the Loan Agreement is hereby antm
its entirety to read as follow

121 Termination Prior to Revolving Line Maturity Date. On the
Revolving Line Maturity Date or on any earlier effige date of termination,
Borrower shall pay and perform in full all Obligattis, whether evidenced by
installment notes or otherwise, and whether or aibtor any part of such
Obligations are otherwise then due and payableés Rgreement may be
terminated prior to the Revolving Line Maturity Baby Borrower, effective
three (3) Business Days after written notice ofmieation is given to
Bank. Notwithstanding any such termination, Bariéa and security interest
in the Collateral and all of Bank’s rights and refies under this A g reement
shall continue until Borrower fully satisfies its biations . If such
termination is at Borrower’'s election, or at Banleétection due to the
occurrence and continuance of an Event of Def&dtrower shall pay to
Bank, in addition to the payment of any other exgesnor fees then-owing, a
termination fee in an amount equal to 1.0% of thexihum Revolver
Amount; provided that no termination fee shall barged if the credit facility
hereunder is replaced with a new facility from #eotdivision of Silicon
Valley Bank.

2.4 Modified Definition of Revolving Line Maturity Date . The definition of Revolvin
Line Maturity Date set forth in Section 13.1 of thean Agreement is hereby amended in its entiretsetd &
follows:

“ Revolving Line Maturity Date ” September 29, 2015.

2.5 Modified Exhibit B. Exhibit B to the Loan Agreement is hereby amendedts
entirety to read as set forth in Exhibit B attachedeto.

3. Limitation of Amendments.

3.1 The amendments set forth Section 2, above, are effective for the purposes set
herein and shall be limited precisely as writted ahall not be deemed to (a) be a consent to amndmen
waiver or modification of any other term or conalitiof any Loan Document, or (b) otherwise prejudiog righ
or remedy which Bank may now have or may haveeérfdiure under or in connection with any Loan Doeuir

3.2 This Amendment shall be construed in connectiorh veind as part of the Lo
Documents and all terms, conditions, representatiaarranties, covenants and agreements set fottieiLoal
Documents (as amended by this Amendment, as aplajcare hereby ratified and confirmed and shaliai ir
full force and effect

4, Representations and Warranties. To induce Bank to enter into this Amendment, Baet
hereby represents and warrants to Bank as foll

4.1 Immediately after giving effect to this Amendmenrig) the representations ¢
warranties contained in the Loan Documents are &ceurate and complete in all material respects #se dat
hereof (except to the extent such representatiodsvarranties relate to an earlier date, in whizbecthey are tri
and correct as of such date, or except as othempveséously disclosed in writing by Borrower to Bananc
(b) no Event of Default has occurred and is coriigyL

4.2 Borrower has the power and authority to execute daiyer this Amendment and
perform its obligations under the Loan Documendsamended by this Amendme



4.3 The organizational documents of Borrower deliver@Bank on the Effective De
remain true, accurate and complete and have naot @berwise amended, supplemented or restated ranahi
continue to be in full force and effe:

4.4 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amerent and the performance
Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Docunseras amended by this Amendment, have been
authorized

45 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amerent and the performance
Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Docunsergs amended by this Amendment, do not and wt
contravene (a) any law or regulation binding omaffecting Borrower, (b) any contractual restrictioith a Perso
binding on Borrower, (c) any order, judgment or réecof any court or other governmental or publichbol
authority, or subdivision thereof, binding on Bawer, or (d) the organizational documents of Borm\

4.6 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amerent and the performance
Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Docurseats amended by this Amendment, do not requireoedsr
consent, approval, license, authorization or vélideof, or filing, recording or registration withy exemption b
any governmental or public body or authority, obdiuision thereof, binding on either Borrower, epte:
already has been obtained or made;

4.7 This Amendment has been duly executed and deliveye@brrower and is the bindi
obligation of Borrower, enforceable against Borroweaccordance with its terms, except as suchree#dbility
may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorgatitm, liquidation, moratorium or other similar lawf gener:
application and equitable principles relating tafiecting creditor rights.

5. Release by Borrowel. Borrower hereby agree as follov

5.1 FOR GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION , Borrower hereby forev
relieves, releases, and discharges Bank and itsemreor former employees, officers, directors, &
representatives, attorneys, and each of them, foynand all claims, debts, liabilities, demanddjgaltions
promises, acts, agreements, costs and expensémsaeind causes of action, of every type, kindune
description or character whatsoever, whether knawnunknown, suspected or unsuspected, absolt
contingent, arising out of or in any manner whatsoeonnected with or related to facts, circumstanéssue
controversies or claims existing or arising frora tieginning of time through and including the dzftexecutiol
of this Amendment (collectively Released Claims). Without limiting the foregoing, the Released Claishsl
include any and all liabilities or claims arisingt®f or in any manner whatsoever connected wittetated to th
Loan Documents, the Recitals hereto, any instrumegreements or documents executed in connecttbrany
of the foregoing or the origination, negotiatiordnanistration, servicing and/or enforcement of afythe
foregoing.

5.2 In furtherance of this release, Borrower expreasknowledges and waives any an
rights under Section 1542 of the California Civdde, which provides as follow

“A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICH
THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR EXPECT TO EXIST IN HI S
OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE,
WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER MUST HAVE MATERIALLY
AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DEBTOR.” (Emphasis added.)

5.3 By entering into this release, Borrower recognitteg no facts or representations
ever absolutely certain and it may hereafter discd&cts in addition to or different from those walhit presentl
knows or believes to be true, but that it is therntion of Borrower hereby to fully, finally andriver settle ar
release all matters, disputes and differences, kramunknown,



suspected or unsuspected; accordingly, if Borresheuld subsequently discover that any fact thatfied upon in
entering into this release was untrue, or that amgerstanding of the facts was incorrect, Borrostall not be
entitled to set aside this release by reason themegardless of any claim of mistake of fact ow lar any other
circumstances whatsoever. Borrower acknowledges ithis not relying upon and has not relied upory an
representation or statement made by Bank with otdpehe facts underlying this release or witharelgto any of
such party’s rights or asserted rights.

5.4 This release may be pleaded as a full and comgéftnse and/or as a cr-complain
or counterclaim against any action, suit, or otherceeding that may be instituted, prosecuted tergited i
breach of this release. Borrower acknowledgesttieatelease contained herein constitutes a matedatemer
to Bank to enter into this Amendment, and that Baokld not have done so but for Basiléxpectation that su
release is valid and enforceable in all eve

55 Borrower hereby represents and warrants to Bandt, Bank is relying thereon,
follows:

€) Except as expressly stated in this Amendment, eelank nor any age
employee or representative of Bank has made argnstmt or representation to Borrower regarding fauy
relied upon by Borrower in entering into this Amemeht.

(b) Borrower has made such investigation of the faatstamming to thi
Amendment and all of the matters appertaining tbess it deems necesse

(c) The terms of this Amendment are contractual ancanmoere recital

(d) This Amendment has been carefully read by Borrotier contents hereof ¢

known and understood by Borrower, and this Amendnsesigned freely, and without duress, by Borraw

(e) Borrower represents and warrants that it is the sold lawful owner of ¢
right, title and interest in and to every claim angery other matter which it releases herein, duadl it has nc
heretofore assigned or transferred, or purportealsgign or transfer, to any person, firm or ergity claims ¢
other matters herein released. Borrower shall indignBank, defend and hold it harmless from andirgfaal
claims based upon or arising in connection witlompassignments or purported assignments or transfean
claims or matters released her¢

6. Bank Expenses.Borrower shall pay to Bank, when due, Bank Expenses (includi
reasonable attorne' fees and expenses), when due, incurred in conmegith or pursuant to this Amendme.

7. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number ahtewparts and all
such counterparts taken together shall be deemezhsiitute one and the same instrum

8. Effectiveness. This Amendment shall be deemed effective upgntie due execution a
delivery to Bank of this Amendment by each partsetee and (b) Borrowes' payment of an amendment fee il
amount equal to $25,000. The abawentioned fee shall be fully earned and payablecwwantly with th
execution and delivery of this Amendment and sb@lhonrefundable and in addition to all interest and pfke:
payable to Bank under the Loan Documents. Baaktisorized to charge such fees to Borrc's loan account

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; sigmatpage immediately follows.]



In Witness Whereof, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment tlulyeexecuted and delivered as of
date first written above.

BANK BORROWER

Silicon Valley Bank Netlist, Inc.

By: /s/ Brian Lowry By: /s/ Gail M. Sasak
Name:Brian Lowry Name:Gail Sasak

Title: Vice Presiden Title: CFO, Vice Presider




EXHIBIT B
COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

TO: SILICON VALLEY BANK Date:
FROM: NETLIST, INC

The undersigned authorized officer of NETLIST, INCBorrower”) certifies that under the terms and
conditions of the Loan and Security Agreement betwBorrower and Bank (the “Agreement”), (1) Borrovgein
complete compliance for the period ending with all required covenants except as nb&ddw,

(2) there are no Events of Default, (3) all repnéaions and warranties in the Agreement are truecarrect in

all material respects on this date except as nmtémlv; provided, however, that such materialityldjies shall not

be applicable to any representations and warrathtgésalready are qualified or modified by matatyaih the text
thereof; and provided, further that those repred@mts and warranties expressly referring to aifipetate shall

be true, accurate and complete in all materialeetspas of such date , (4) Borrower, and eacts @ubsidiaries,
has timely filed all required tax returns and répoand Borrower has timely paid all foreign, fedestate and
local taxes, assessments, deposits and contrisubiaed by Borrower except as otherwise permittagyant to
the terms of Section 5.9 of the Agreement, anch¢bliens have been levied or claims made againspier or
any of its Subsidiaries relating to unpaid emplopegroll or benefits of which Borrower has not poesly
provided written notification to Bank. Attachedeathe required documents supporting the certificatiThe
undersigned certifies that these are prepareddordance with GAAP consistently applied from ondqgakto the
next except as explained in an accompanying leitefootnotes. The undersigned acknowledges that no
borrowings may be requested at any time or datietefrmination that Borrower is not in compliancétmany of
the terms of the Agreement, and that compliancedegermined not just at the date this certificate is
delivered. Capitalized terms used but not othervdsfined herein shall have the meanings given timethe
Agreement.

Please indicate compliance status by circling YesfNunder “Complies” column.

Reporting Covenant Required Complies

Monthly financial statements wi Monthly within 30 days Yes No
Compliance Certificat
Annual financial statement (CPA Audite] Concurrently with Form 1-K Yes No
10-0Q, 10-K and &K Within 5 days after filing with SE( Yes No
Annual Projection: Within 30 days of start of FY Yes No
A/R & A/P Agings; Deferred Revent Monthly within 20 days Yes No
Report
Transaction Repor (i) if no Credit Extensions outstanding, mont Yes No

('within twenty (20) days after the end of each

month ) and at the time of each request for an

Advance; and (ii) if Credit Extensions outstanding,

weekly and at the time of each request for an

Advance

The following intellectual property was registeidter the Effective Date (if no registrations, et*None”)

Financial Covenant Required Actual Complies

Maintain on a Monthly Basis
Minimum Adjusted Quick Ratit | 1.00 : 1.0C :1.00] Yes No
Minimum Tangible Net Wortl | $3,000,000 plus (i) 50% of new equity and: | $ Yes No
debt plus (ii) 50% of quarterly net incon




The following financial covenant analysis and imfiation set forth in Schedule 1 attached heret¢raesand
accurate as of the date of this Certificate.

The following are the exceptions with respect @ ¢krtification above: (If no exceptions exisatst‘No
exceptions to note.”)

NETLIST, INC. BANK USE ONLY
Received by
By: authorized signi
Name: Date:
Title:
Verified:
authorized signi
Date:

Compliance Status: Yes Nc



Schedule 1 to Compliance Certificate

Financial Covenants of Borrower

In the event of a conflict between this Scheduld thie Loan Agreement, the terms of the Loan Agreersieall
govern.

Dated:

l. Adjusted Quick Ratio (Section 6.9(a))
Required: 1.00:1.00

Actual:

A. Borrowers cash and Cash Equivalents that are unencumieteept for Ban's
security interest) and unrestrict

$

Aggregate net amount of Borrov's Eligible Account: $
Sum of line A plus line $_

$

Current Liabilities

m o o ®

Adjusted Quick Ratio (line C divided by line |
1.00

Is line F equal to or greater than 1.00 : 1.(

No, not in complianc Yes, in complianc

[continued on next page]



Il. Minimum Tangible Net Worth (Section 6.9(b))

Required Amount: $3,000,000 plus (i) 50% of consitlen for equity securities and subordinated
debt plus (i) 50% of Borrower’s quarterly net imee.

Actual:
A. Aggregate value of total assets of Borrower an&itssidiarie: $
B. Aggregate value of goodwill of Borrower and its Sialaries $
C. Aggregate value of intangible assets of Borrower imSubsidiarie $
D. Aggregate value of investments of Borrower andiibsidiaries consisting
minority investments in companies which investmem&snot publicl-traded $
E. Aggregate value of any reserves not already deddicden asset $
F. Aggregate value of liabilities of Borrower and 8absidiaries (including a
Indebtedness) and current portion of Subordinatelok Permitted by Bank to be paid
by Borrower (but no other Subordinated De
G. Aggregate value of Indebtedness of Borrower subatdd to Borrowe¢' s
Indebtedness to Bar $
H. Tangible Net Worth (line A minus line B minus li@eminus line D minus line
minus line F plus line G $

Is line H equal to or greater than Required Amol

No, not in complianc Yes, in complianc



Exhibit 14.1

NETLIST'S CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT & ETHICS FOR EMP LOYEES, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
& DIRECTORS

Introduction

Netlist strives to apply high ethical, moral anddeprinciples in every aspect of its business aohdrhis Code
of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”) is idgtfor each of the Company’s employees, executifieers,
and directors to follow in meeting these principlestlist is firmly committed to complying with itegal and
ethical obligations under all state and federaklafs a result, we expect all employees, at evergllwithin the
company, to comply strictly with all legal and etli obligations. Our philosophy can be implemerely if our
employees recognize their responsibility to tre@rgone in an honest and fair manner. Accordingtyemployee
who fails to fulfill his or her responsibilities dar this Code, including by engaging in conduct #ubversely
affects or is otherwise detrimental to the inteyedtthe Company, other employees, or customelishevsubject
to disciplinary action, up to and including immedigermination of employment.

This Code describes certain ethical principles Nettist has established for the conduct of itsress and
outlines certain key legal requirements of whidreaiployees must be generally aware and with waith
employees must comply. While this Code does nogrcevery issue that may arise, it sets out bagiciptes to
guide employees in the course of performing thefred and responsibilities to Netlist.

This Code is effective immediately and shall reniaiaffect unless and until further amended, medifind/or
restated

This Code is designed to deter wrongdoing and pterthe following:

« Honest and ethical conduct, including the ethiealdiing of actual or apparent conflicts of intefestweer
personal and professional relationsh

« Complete, fair, accurate, timely and understanddisidosure in reports and documents that Netles fvith,
or submits to, the Securities and Exchange Comamisand in other public communications made by St

- Compliance with applicable governmental laws, raled regulations

« Prompt internal reporting to an appropriate pei@opersons identified herein of violations of tBiede; anc
« Accountability for adherence to this Cor

If an employee is concerned about a possible dtbiddegal situation or any violation of this Cedr is not sure
whether specific conduct meets applicable Nettemtdards, he or she should discuss the situatitimani
immediate supervisor or contact Netlist's Chief &xése Officer. Employees who are executive officer

members of Netlist's board of directors (the “Bdashould discuss the situation with the Board aoenmittee
of the Board. Any employee who violates the statisl@ontained in this



Code will be subject to disciplinary action, whitlay include termination. Netlist will treat as cileitial, to the
extent possible, all information received from ampéyee with respect to a possible ethical or dlesituation and
will not take any retributive or retaliatory actiby reason of such disclosure against any emplayeediscloses
such information in good faith.

1. Conflicts of Interest

A “conflict of interest” exists when an employegidvate interest interferes in any way or appeaitisterfere with
the interests of Netlist. A conflict of interesincarise when an employee acts in a matter, omteests, that may
make it difficult for him or her to objectively argdfectively perform his or her work for Netlisto@flicts of
interest also can arise when an employee, or mendbéiis or her family, receives improper persdraiefits
because of his or her position in Netlist.

Unless approved by the Board or an appropriate dieerof the Board, no employee or any member ®bhiner
immediate family can acquire a financial interestdr accept employment with, any entity doing bass with
Netlist if the interest or employment could cortflidth his or her duties to Netlist and the perfarmoe of such
duties. It is usually a conflict of interest for amployee to work simultaneously, even on a paretor temporary
basis, for a competitor, customer or supplier ofliste An employee cannot work for a competitosasemployee,
consultant, contractor or board member. In additanemployee and his or her immediate family membannot
accept material gifts or favors that could crehteappearance that such employee’s business judgmdd be
affected by the receipt of such gifts or favors.enployee and members of his or her immediate facaih
accept gifts of nominal value from existing sourqgaespective sources and persons, firms or corapanith
whom Netlist does or might do business. The purpbseisiness entertainment and gifts in a commieseiing

is to create good will and sound working relatidpshnot to gain unfair advantage with customemplbyees
cannot offer gifts or favors to any employee obapetitor, supplier or customer of Netlist, or amher of such
employee’s immediate family, if the gifts or favarsght place the recipient under any obligatioma tdetlist
employee or to Netlist.

Conflicts of interest are prohibited as a mattecahpany policy. Conflicts of interest may not aywéoe
apparent, so if an employee has a question regpvdtiether a particular situation is a conflict mteirest, he or
she should consult with his or her immediate supenor contact Netlist's Chief Executive Offic&xecutive
officers or members of the Board should consulhtie Board or a committee of the Board. An empdayeist
bring any conflict of interest or potential conflif interest to the attention of his or her imnaeisupervisor or
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, or followetprocedures described in Section 14 herein.

2. Corporate Opportunities

An employee cannot personally take for himself ensklf business opportunities discovered usingidtetl
property, information or position for personal gdiris the duty and responsibility of each empkye advance
Netlist's legitimate interests when the opportunitydo so arises.

3. Confidentiality

An employee must maintain the confidentiality dfcnfidential and non-public information entrustechim or
her by Netlist and its customers and suppliersgpixerthen disclosure is authorized by an execultifieen of
Netlist or required by applicable laws or regulatioConfidential information includes all infornmatithat, if
disclosed, might be of use to competitors of Nietlisharmful to Netlist or its customers or suprdidt also
includes information that Netlist's customers amgipdiers have entrusted to Netlist. For examplefidential
information includes customer lists, financial domnts, pricing, manufacturer and vendor informatamporate
development materials, the cost of goods, persdileg] manuals and procedures, proprietary infdiona(as
discussed below), computer software, design doctsneideos and internal reports and memorandarrirdtion
that Netlist has made public, such as informati@sented in press releases, advertisements or éotsifiled
with governmental regulatory authorities, is natfigential information. The obligation to preser@nfidential
information extends beyond the term of employmeitit vor service to, Netlist.



4 .  Fair Dealing

Netlist seeks to outperform its competition faialyd honestly through superior performance andhmotigh
unethical or illegal business practices. Employaast endeavor to deal fairly with their colleagaas
customers, suppliers and competitors of Netlistplbyees cannot steal proprietary information, pss$ede
secret information obtained without the owner’ssant or induce such disclosures by past or preseployees
of other companies. No employee may take unfaiaathge of anyone through manipulation, concealnadnise
of confidential information, misrepresentation dditerial facts or any other unfair-dealing practitiee knowing
or deliberate falsification of any documents oraday an employee may be the basis for immediathdige and
may subject the employee to civil and/or criminahalties.

Fair competition laws, including the U.S. antitruges, limit what Netlist can do with another cang and what
Netlist can do on its own. Generally, such lawesdesigned to prohibit agreements or actions #thiae
competition and harm consumers. You may not énteragreements or discussions with competitorsttage
the effect of fixing or controlling prices, dividirand allocating markets or territories, or boyiegtsuppliers or
customers. U.S. and foreign antitrust laws algmyaio imports and exports.

5. Privacy and Data Protection Compliance

Several countries (including Canada, Argentinaadaplong Kong and Australia) and the European Uhiore
strict rules with respect to collection of Persadmébrmation about individuals, which apply to coamges that
collect information about their employees. Persémfarmation may include information that would bmutinely
gathered in the U.S. such as home address, canfiachation, and personnel information. Many oddhk rules
prohibit transmission of Personal Information akbiodividuals from outside the U.S. into the U.Slass certain
safeguards are provided with respect to the Pefrstioamation transmitted into the U.S. All empkmss outside
the U.S. should use care with respect to collecstorage and transmission of any Personal Infoomad ensure
compliance with applicable privacy and data pradectaws and regulations. All employees insideths.
should use care with respect to receiving or obtgiany Personal Information from locations outgtue

U.S. All employees in any location should raisg gnestions about appropriate treatment of Perdaf@imation
with the Chief Executive Officer.

6. Protection and Proper Use of Company Assets

Employees must endeavor to protect Netlist's assedproperty and ensure their efficient use. Thaftelessness
and waste have a direct impact on Netlist's prbfitly. Employees must report any suspected indidéfraud or
theft immediately for investigation to their immaté supervisor or Netlist's Chief Executive OfficExecutive
officers or members of the Board must report suabd or theft to the Board or a committee of tharflo
Employees must use all assets and property ofdil&dli legitimate business purposes only.

The obligation of an employee to protect Netlistssets includes protecting its proprietary infofamat
Proprietary information includes intellectual prayesuch as trade secrets, patents, patent apptisatrademarks
and copyrights, as well as business, marketingsandce plans, engineering and manufacturing id#esigns,
databases, customer information, records, persamrsalary information and any unpublished finahd&a and
reports. Unauthorized use or distribution of thifeimation violates company policy and may subguployees
to civil and/or criminal penalties.

7. Compliance with Laws, Rules and Regulations
All employees must respect and obey the laws, anesregulations of the cities, states and couninigvhich

Netlist operates. Employees must contact NetlStigef Executive Officer with any questions as te th
applicability of any law, rule or regulation or tappropriate manner of compliance therewith.



8. Insider Trading

Employees who have access to confidential informnatannot use or share such information for staading
purposes or for any other purpose except the pgpatuct of Netlist's business. All employees argject to
Netlist's policy on insider trading then in effégtlist will deal firmly with all instances of indér trading. If an
employee has any questions regarding non-publicrimdition and the use of such information or Négligblicy
on insider trading then in effect, he or she shaolatact Netlist's Chief Executive Officer.

9. Discrimination and Harassment

Netlist requires strict adherence to its policied applicable laws regarding equal employment dppdres and
discrimination in the workplace. Netlist will nadlerate any illegal discrimination or harassmerdmyf kind.
Relationships with colleagues and business relstigs with competitors, suppliers and customersgdwnust be
conducted free of any discrimination, based on,realer, creed, religion, age, sex, sexual prefezenational
origin, marital status, veteran status, handicegability, or any other characteristic protecteddy. Examples of
illegal discrimination or harassment include detogacomments based on any of the preceding claistits
and unwelcome sexual advances. Please refer timthpany’s policy against harassment containedién th
Employee Guidelines.

10. Health and Safety

Netlist strives to provide each employee with & safd healthful work environment. Each employeesponsible
for maintaining a safe and healthy workplace faiirticolleagues by following safety and health raed practices
and reporting accidents, injuries and unsafe eqeipinpractices or conditions. Netlist will not tate violence or
threatening behavior in the workplace. Employeesequired to report to work in condition to penfotheir
duties, free from the influence of illegal drugsatcohol. Netlist will not tolerate the use of diobor illegal drugs
in the workplace or on any company property.

10. Record-Keeping

Netlist requires honest and accurate recording-@parting of information in order to make respofesiiusiness
decisions. Employees must document and record aedyiall business expense accounts they use.dfrgtoyee
is unsure whether a certain expense is legitinllageemployee should ask his or her immediate sigmeror
Netlist's Chief Executive Officer. Executive offiseor members of the Board should confer with tbarl or a
committee of the Board. Rules and guidelines reggrdusiness expenses are available from Nethst®unting
department.

All of Netlist's books, records, accounts and ficiah statements must be maintained in reasonaléd daust
appropriately reflect Netlist's transactions andstreonform both to applicable legal requirements tarNetlist's
system of internal controls. Unrecorded or “off beoks” funds or assets cannot be maintained uplessitted
by applicable laws or regulations. All employees subject to Netlist’'s document retention policgde this
policy to the Employee Guidelines. Please reféedist’'s Record Retention Policy (Ref. QF0015 cBel
Retention Table in Netlist's on-line Document LityraAny questions concerning Netlist's documenémngibn
policy should be directed to the company’s Chieéé&trive Officer.

Employees must avoid exaggeration, derogatory fesnguesswork or inappropriate characterizationzeople
and companies in business records and communisaiitis prohibition applies equally to e-mail, imal memos
and formal reports.

11. Payments to Government Personnel or Candidates f@dffice

All employees must comply with the Foreign CorrBpactices Act, which prohibits giving anything aflve,
directly or indirectly, to officials of foreign gevnments or foreign political parties or candidatesbtain or
retain business and prohibits making payments wemguonent officials of any country. No employee ngaye to,
or receive from, any government official Kielcks, bribes, rebates or other illegal considematll
employees dealing with government agencies muaiMaee of, and comply with, any agency rules lingjtor
prohibiting gifts or other favors. In some courdtria very limited category of small payments talitate or
expedite routine nondiscretionary governmentabastimay be permitted



as exceptions to antibribery laws, including th& WForeign Corrupt Practices A“FCPA”). The requirement
pertaining to such payments are complex. Netligtleyees engaged in international business aetivitiust
obtain prior approval of the Chief Executive Offiteefore making any such payment. These “fadititat
payments” to non-U.S. governmental officials agtidguished from payments made to influence a éiorary
decision or to cause violation of, or an act infGonwith, the interests of an individual’'s emplay which are
strictly prohibited.

Netlist cannot contribute, directly or indirectty, any political campaign or party. Employees camse expense
accounts to pay for any personal political contiiins or seek any other form of reimbursement fidetiist for
such contributions. Employees can engage in paliéictivity using their own resources on their awme and not
on company premises.

12. Waivers of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Any waiver of this Code for executive officers dredtors requires the approval of the Board andtrnes
disclosed promptly as required by applicable lales or regulations.

13. Reporting any lllegal or Unethical Behavior

Employees are encouraged to talk to Human Resquris#ser immediate supervisor or Netlist's ChigkEutive
Officer about observed illegal or unethical behavien unsure about the best course of actiorkitaa
particular situation. Executive officers or membefshe Board should discuss such behavior wittBtbard or a
committee of the Board. In addition, employees mejgort violations of laws, rules, regulationsttstCode to
immediate supervisors or Netlist's Chief Execuf®déicer. Executive officers or members of the Boardst
report such matters to the Board or a committeabeBoard. Netlist prohibits retaliation for repodf ethical
misconduct made by employees in good faith. It@asion requires the identity of an employee reépgrany such
misconduct not be disclosed, Netlist will protdat atnonymity of such employee to the extent legadlysible.
Netlist will not permit retaliation of any kind aigat any reporting employee for reporting, in gdaith, any
ethical violations.

14. Compliance Procedures

This Code broadly describes the ethical standardghich Netlist conducts its business. If an empkois
uncertain as to the applicability of any of thetsandards to a particular situation or the propradtany
contemplated course of action, Netlist encouragel employee to discuss the potential situatioh Wi¢ or her
immediate supervisor or Netlist's Chief Executivii€2r. Executive officers or members of the Boahduld
discuss the potential situation with the Board oommittee of the Board. In any case where an eyepléeels
that it is not appropriate to discuss an issue aitimmediate supervisor, or where he or she doeteal
comfortable approaching an immediate supervisdr wiguestion, the employee is encouraged to dishass
guestion with Netlist's Chief Executive Officer mport the matter directly to the Board or a conteritof the
Board.

15. Amendments

This Code may be amended by the Board. Netlist magirt promptly any amendments pertaining to etreeu
officers or senior financial officers as requirgdapplicable laws, rules or regulations.



EXHIBIT 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES

Each of the following is a wholly owned direct sigdisry of Netlist, Inc.:

Entity
Name Jurisdiction of Organization
Netlist Electronics (Suzhou) Co., L Peopl€e’ s Republic of Chini

Netlist HK Limited Hong Kong



EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniReion Statements Nos. 333-139435, 333-146141,
333-151644, 333-161832, 333-161 834, 333-164263;185916, 333-168330, 333-173646, 333-179776, and
333-193862 on Form S-8 and 333-164290 and 333-Br@th Form S-3 of our report dated March 27 , 201
relating to the consolidated financial statemeffdetlist, Inc. and subsidiaries, appearing in thisual Report
on Form 10-K of Netlist, Inc. for the year endedcBmber 27, 2014 .

/sl KMJ CORBIN & COMPANY LLP

Costa Mesa, California
March 27,2015



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A - 14 OF THE SECU RITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Chun K. Hong, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form- K for the fiscalyear endeiDecember 27
20140f Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation (I Registran” );

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comajnuntrue statement of a material fac
omit to state a material fact necessary to makstitements made, in light of the circumstancesuwtiich sucl
statements were made, not misleading with respetbetperiod covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$oéimer financial information included
this report, fairly present in all material respgettte financial condition, results of operationd aash flows of the
Registrant as of, and for, the periods presentéisrreport;

4, The Registran’ s other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintainir
disclosure controls and procedures (as definecahn&nge Act Rules 13a - 15(e) and 15d - 15(e))ictednal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Bange Act Rules 13a - 15(f) and 15d - 15(f)) f& Registrant
and have

a) D esigned such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure contr
and procedures to be designed under our superyisi@msure that material information relatingte t
Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiarigsnade known to us by others within those exjti
particularly during the period in which this reptrteing preparet

b) D esigned such internal control over financial reppgrtor caused such internal cont
over financial reporting to be designed under apesvision, to provide reasonable assurance raggrdi
the reliability of financial reporting and the pegption of financial statements for external pugsas
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptas;

c) E valuated the effectiveness of the Regist’ s disclosure controls and procedures
presented in this report our conclusions aboueffestiveness of the disclosure controls and proces)
as of the end of the period covered by this relpased on such evaluation; ¢

d) D isclosed in this report any change in the Regi$’ s internal control over financi
reporting that occurred during the Registrant 'astirecent quarter (the Registrant ’ s fourth agrant
the case of an annual report) that has materifidgtad, or is reasonably likely to materially affethe
Registran’ s internal control over financial reporti.

5. The Registran’ s other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdzhon our most rece
evaluation of internal control over financial refpog, to the Registrant’ s auditors and the acdihmittee of the
Registran’ s board of directors (or persons performing thevedent functions)

a) A |l significant deficiencies and material weaknedsdbe design or operation
internal control over financial reporting which aeasonably likely to adversely affect the Regidtia
ability to record, process, summarize and repoédrfcial information; an

b) A ny fraud, whether or not material, that involvesniagement or other employees v
have a significant role in the Registr’ s internal control over financial reportir

March 27, 201! /s/ Chun K. Hong
Chun K. Honc
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairmal
the Board (Principal Executive Office




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A - 14 OF THE SECU RITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Galil Sasaki , certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form- K for thefiscal year endeiDecember 27, 20:
of Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation (* Registran” );

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comajnuntrue statement of a material fac
omit to state a material fact necessary to makstitements made, in light of the circumstancesuwtiich sucl
statements were made, not misleading with respetbetperiod covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$oéimer financial information included
this report, fairly present in all material respgettte financial condition, results of operationd aash flows of the
Registrant as of, and for, the periods presentéisrreport;

4, The Registran’ s other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintainir
disclosure controls and procedures (as definecahn&nge Act Rules 13a - 15(e) and 15d - 15(e))ictednal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Bange Act Rules 13a - 15(f) and 15d - 15(f)) f& Registrant
and have

a) D esigned such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure contr
and procedures to be designed under our superyisi@msure that material information relatingte t
Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiarigsnade known to us by others within those exjti
particularly during the period in which this reptrteing preparet

b) D esigned such internal control over financial reppgrtor caused such internal cont
over financial reporting to be designed under apesvision, to provide reasonable assurance raggrdi
the reliability of financial reporting and the pegption of financial statements for external pugsas
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptas;

c) E valuated the effectiveness of the Regist’ s disclosure controls and procedures
presented in this report our conclusions aboueffestiveness of the disclosure controls and proces)
as of the end of the period covered by this relpased on such evaluation; ¢

d) D isclosed in this report any change in the Regi$’ s internal control over financi
reporting that occurred during the Registrant 'astirecent quarter (the Registrant ’ s fourth agrant
the case of an annual report) that has materifidgtad, or is reasonably likely to materially affethe
Registran’ s internal control over financial reporti.

5. The Registran’ s other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdzhon our most rece
evaluation of internal control over financial refpog, to the Registrant’ s auditors and the acdihmittee of the
Registran’ s board of directors (or persons performing thevedent functions)

a) A |l significant deficiencies and material weaknedsdbe design or operation
internal control over financial reporting which aeasonably likely to adversely affect the Regidtia
ability to record, process, summarize and repoédrfcial informationand

b) A ny fraud, whether or not material, that involvesniagement or other employees v
have a significant role in the Registr’ s internal control over financial reportir

March 27, 201! /s/ Gail Sasak
Gail Sasak
Vice President and Chief Financial Offic
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10 efiNetlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation ( “ Nstli
") for the fiscal year ended December 27, 2044 filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimiissin
March 27 , 201 5 (the “ Report ” ), Chun K. Hongegident, chief executive officer and chairmanhef board of
Netlist, and Gail Sasaki , vice president and chiiefncial officer of Netlist, each hereby certifjgpursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Se2fi6rof the Sarbane€xley Act of 2002, that, to his or her

knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftion 13(a) or 15(d) of t
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; ¢

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly mnets, in all material respects, 1
financial condition and results of operations oflide

March 27, 201! /s/ Chun K. Honc

Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairmau
the Board (Principal Executive Office

March 27, 201! /s/ Gail Sasak
Gail Sasak
Vice President and Chief Financial Offic
(Principal Financial Officer)




